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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT of
1934
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O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT of 1934

Commission File No. 1-11859
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(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or or ganization)
(IRS Employer Identification No. 04-2787865)
101 Main Street
Cambridge, MA 0214:-1590
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(617) 374-9600

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tiie Act:
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c0b#turities Act of 1933.  Ye§]
No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®8ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék) filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordiech shorter period that the Registrant was reduadile such reports) and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastl@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsto Rule 405 of Regulation Seuring the preceding 12 months (or for such srgrerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yes[O No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the Registrant’s knowdedy definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KI

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited’, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filel] Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer J Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yes[ No

The aggregate market value of the Registrant’'s comstock held by noaffiliates of the Registrant based on the closingep(as reporte
by NASDAQ) of such common stock on the last busirdssy of the Registrant’s most recently completsmbrd fiscal quarter (June 30, 2009)
was approximately $383 million.

There were 36,818,677 shares of the Registranitsyaan stock, $0.01 par value per share, outstarahingebruary 9, 2010.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Registre’s definitive proxy statement for the annual meetihgtockholders to be held June 4, 2010 are iraratpd by
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PART I

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incogtes forward-looking statements within the mearmhgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SeéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookitefements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projecéibost the industry and markets in which we opesatemanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. In addition, other written or oratestgents that constitute forward-looking statememay be made by us or on our behalf. Words
such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “may,” “target,” “@ject,” or variations of such words and
similar expressions are intended to identify swariwérd-looking statements. These statements arguasantees of future performance and
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumpgtibiat are difficult to predict. We have identifiegrtain risk factors included in ltem 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K that we believeldatause our actual results to differ materialtynfirthe forward-looking statements we
make. We do not intend to update publicly any fodMaoking statements, whether as a result of mdarination, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 1. Business

Pegasystems Inc. was incorporated in Massachiisét®83. Our stock is traded on the NASDAQ GlobaleSt Market under the symbol
PEGA. Our Website address is www.pega.com. We @trenluding the information contained on our Weédsis part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-Kldds the context otherwise requires, referencdssmnnual Report on Form 10-K to “the
Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Pegasystetme. and its subsidiaries.

Our Company

We develop, market, license, and support softwaeitomate complex, changing business processesof@iware enables organizations
to build, deploy, and change enterprise applicatigasily and quickly by directly capturing businebgctives, automating programming, and
automating work. It also allows organizations toidvthe time and expense required to create lergdligy manuals and system specifications
by unifying business rules with business processése software and automating the creation ofespsiocumentation. Our software is
standards-based and can leverage existing technwlegstments to reduce implementation time. Ogtamers use our software and services
to improve their customer service, manage new lessinand facilitate case management.

Our PegaRULES Process Commander (“PRPC") softvedtgei primary component of our SmartBPM  Suite, Wlisccomplemented by
software solutions that we refer to as frameworkese frameworks provide purpose or industry-sgeftihctionality that allows our
customers to quickly implement our software.

We provide implementation, consulting, trainingddachnical support services to help our custonmersimize the business value they
obtain from the use of our software. We also maing#liances with systems integrators and technpolmnsulting firms that also provide
consulting services to our customers.

Our business strategy

We lead the Business Process Management (“BPMtjvaoé market by leveraging our patented technotbgy unifies business
processes and business rules. We focus our sé&bets &fn accounts within target customer organizestj which are typically large
organizations that are among the leaders in thdirstry. We frequently sell initial licenses toghdarget accounts that are focused on a sp
purpose or area of operations, rather than sdbirge enterprise licenses. A primary objectivehid strategy is to have our customers quickly
realize business value from our software. Oncestoooer has realized this initial value, we
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work with that customer to identify opportunities follow-on sales. The sales process for followsates is often shorter as a result of our
established relationship with the customer. We shvesources in professional services, customgrastigand customer and partner enablement
to help our customers achieve success.

Strategic partnerships with consultants and systaetagrators are important to our sales effortsabige they influence buying decisions,
help us to identify engagements, and complemensaofiware with their domain expertise and servigsabilities. These partners may deliver
strategic business planning, consulting, projeatagament, and implementation services to our custwnCurrently, our partners include
Accenture Ltd., Capgemini SA, Computer Sciencep@ation (“CSC”), Cognizant Technology Solutions.lnnfosys Technologies Limited,
International Business Machines Corporation (“IBlvEind Wipro Ltd.

Our products

We provide a comprehensive ruleased BPM suite intended to help our customers plaitd, and manage business process manage
solutions.

PegaRULES Process Commander

PRPC provides capabilities designed to model, éreauonitor, and analyze results. PRPC includespgfication profiler that allows a
business process application to be defined basédisiness goals and objectives, with simplified fifi the blank” forms. The product also
simplifies process modeling, allowing business sisemgraphically describe and test an intendednlegsi process within the system itself. The
software uses the results of the application mofihd the process modeling to create the new éssisolution, including the user interface
executable business models. PRPC also providesasér-based graphical development environment,utigcengine, and management
dashboard for rapid business application and swiudevelopment. This product helps solve a widgeastf BPM problems, including acquiri
new business, providing customer service, creaiagrvicing backbone for enterprise-wide processing managing risk, fraud and
compliance with regulatory requirements. PRPC alkiws our customers to leverage previous technologestments by integrating software
applications across a common platform.

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite and Solution Frameworks

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite adds process analysigsg simulation, enterprise integration, poritgration, content management,
and case management to the PRPC capabilities.

Pegasystems also offers purpose- or industry -Bpsolution frameworks built on the capabilitiesour PRPC software. These
frameworks allow organizations to quickly implemeetv customer-facing practices and processes, hengofferings to market, and provide
customized or specialized processing to meet thdsef different customers, departments, geograpdrtieegulatory requirements. Some of
these frameworks include:

e Customer Process Manag

* Product Configuratiol

» Financial Services Industry Foundation Framew
» Financial Crimes Manageme

* Healthcare Industry Framewo

* Insurance Industry Framewo



Table of Contents

We also offer other frameworks that address exoaptimanagement — transactions that are not autcetigtprocessed by existing
systems. By automating not only research and aecisiaking, but also the business processes negdesaecute the decisions, our
exceptions management frameworks can reduce the @od risks associated with manual processindeviproving quality and efficiency.
Some of these frameworks include:

* Smart Dispute

* Smart Investigate for Paymer

* Smart Investigate for Securiti

e Smart Adjust

» Healthcare Claims Automation Su

Pegasystems SmartPa&S

SmartPaasS is Pegasystems’ platform-as-a serviedrgffthat allows customers to create PRPC appitausing an internet-based
infrastructure. This offering enables Pegasystemstomers to immediately build their applicationgisecure environment while minimizing
their infrastructure and hardware costs.

Our services and support

We offer services and support through our profesgiservices group, customer support group, andraining services group. We also
utilize third party contractors to assist us inyiding services.

Professional services

Our professional services group helps companiepartders implement our software. This enable® ggiide our customers through
deployment of our software. Many of our customérsase to engage our professional services groagpand their use of our software to
additional business or product lines or automathtmhal processes within existing solutions. Imliéidn, systems integrators and consulting
firms, with which we have alliances, help our caséos deploy our products.

Customer support

Our customer support group is responsible for sttpgfaour software deployed at customer sites wtwesiomer support has been
purchased. Support services include automated gotracking, prioritization and escalation procedyiperiodic preventive maintenance,
documentation updates, new software releases egudarly scheduled meetings with our staff.

Training services

The success of our sales strategy for multipl@¥elbn sales to target customers depends on our atailitain a larger number of partn
and customers to implement our technology. We dfééning for our staff, customers, and partnersifiing is offered at our regional training
facilities in Cambridge, Massachusetts, London,l&md, Hyderabad, India, Sydney, Australia, at tipadty facilities in numerous other
locations, or at customer sites. Courses are dedignmeet the specific requirements of procedsitaats, system architects, and system
administrators.

Our markets and representative customers

The market for BPM software is driven by busineshas seek to close the execution gaps that may b&tween their business objecti
and their existing business processes. Our tatgbmers are large, industry-leading organizatfaned with managing transaction intensive,
complex and changing processes that seek the
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agility needed for growth, productivity, custometention, and compliance. Our customers are tylgitaige companies in the financial
services, healthcare and insurance markets. WithR®e are also able to offer solutions to a broealege of companies as well as a broader
range of industries, such as life sciences, comaations, travel and entertainment, and government.

Financial services

Financial services organizations require softwarenprove the quality, accuracy, and efficiencyco§tomer interactions and transactions
processing. Pegasystems’ customer process andtextemanagement products allow customers to lporssve to changing business
requirements. Representative financial servicemoomers of ours include: BBVA Bancomer S.A., BNPiBas, Citigroup Inc., HSBC Holdings
Plc, ING Bank, MasterCard Worldwide, National Aaditt Bank Limited, and RBC Financial Group.

Healthcare

Healthcare organizations seek products that integheir front and back office initiatives and hdhive customer service, efficiency, and
productivity. Representative healthcare customewus include: Aetna Inc., Blue Cross Blue Shigldiassachusetts, Blue Cross Blue Shield
of Minnesota, CSC, Group Health Cooperative, H&&dtl New York Inc., United Healthcare Services, Jrand ViPS/WebMD.

Insurance

Insurance companies, whether competing globallyationally for customers and channels, need soéw@automate the key activities
policy rating, quoting, customization, underwritjramd servicing as well as products that improwstamer service and the overall customer
experience. Representative insurance industry mes®of ours include: American National Insuranceup, CARDIF, Farmers Insurance
Group of Companies, John Hancock Life Insurance Ranulife Financial Corporation, and Zurich NoAmerica.

Other industries

PRPC offers solutions to a broad range of compamesndustries. We sell rules-based BPM technotogyustomers in
telecommunications, government, life sciences, rfeturing, and travel services. Customers inclédbianced Micro Devices, Inc. (“AMD);
Novartis International AG, Starwood Hotels & Resdiforldwide Inc., The British Airport Authority, driThe ServiceMaster Compar

Competition

The BPM software market is intensely competitiagidly changing, and highly fragmented, as curcempetitors expand their product
offerings and new companies enter the market. Ctitopevary in size and in the scope and breadth@froducts and services offered. We
encounter competition from:

» Service-Oriented Architecture” SOA") middleware vendors including IBM, Oracle CorporatiSoftware AG, and Tibco Softwa
Inc.;

» BPM vendors such as Appian Corporation, Global3®€,the Lombardi Software division of IBM, MetastoInc., and the Savvic
division of Progress Softwar

» Business Rules Engine vendors such as Corticonnbéaffies Inc., Fair Isaac Corporation, and the IL@@sion of IBM;

» Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”) applicat@ndors including Chordiant Software, the Micifog&ynamics CRM
division of Microsoft, Salesforce.com, and the ®iddiivision of Oracle

» Enterprise Content Managem-based vendors such as the Documentum division o EMrporation, and the FileNet division
IBM’s Information Management GroL
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« Companies that provide application specific sofeMar the financial services, healthcare, insuraaraother specific markets s
as Norkom Group Plc, SmartStream Technologies BuihGard, and The TriZetto Group, Inc.;

» Current custome’ information technology departments, which may deekodify existing systems or develop proprietarstems
We are the leading company in the overall BPM safenmarket, and have a strong presence in thecimlaservices, insurance and

healthcare markets. We have been most successfyating for customers whose businesses are charactdy a high degree of change,
complexity and size. We believe that the principahpetitive factors within our market include:

* Product adaptability, scalability, functionalityycgaperformance

» Proven success in delivering ¢-savings and efficiency improvemen

» Eastof-use for developers, business units, anc-users;

» Timely development and introduction of new produwastsl product enhancemer

» Establishment of a significant base of referencgtaers

« Ability to integrate with other products and teclogies;

» Customer service and suppc

e Product price

* Vendor reputation; an

* Relationships with systems integratc

We believe we compete favorably with our competiton the basis of most of these competitive facersur Build for Change

technology includes a comprehensive set of busingas that are unified with business processespealeveloped quickly by both client
business and IT staff, and incorporates a singkeh¥ased user interface. We believe we also configebeably due to our expertise in our
target industries and our long-standing customatiomships. We believe we compete less favorahlyhe basis of some of these factors with
respect to our larger competitors, many of whichehgreater sales, marketing and financial resoumese extensive geographical presence

and greater name recognition than we do. In additi@ may be at a disadvantage with respect t@bility to provide expertise outside our
target industries.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tigioa direct sales force. Strategic partnershipls @ohsultants and systems integrators
are important to our sales efforts because thdyente buying decisions, help us to identify engaggs, and complement our software with
their domain expertise and services capabilities.

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broadea@f marketing programs, including targeted sofutampaigns, industry trade
shows, industry seminars, meetings with industialysts, and other direct and indirect marketingre$f Our consulting staff, business
partners, and other third parties also generaés $aads.

Sales by geography

In 2009, 2008, and 2007, sales to customers bagsitle of the United States of America (“U.S.”) regented approximately 34%, 38%,
and 35%, respectively, of our total revenue. Weeanily operate in one operating segment — ruleed&PM software. We derive
substantially all of our operating revenue from the
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sale and support of one group of similar produnts services. Substantially all of our assets acatkd within the U.S. See Note 16
“Geographic Information and Major Customers” inaddn the notes to the accompanying consolidatexhfiial statements for further detail.

Research and development

Our development organization is responsible fodpob architecture, core technology developmentiyecbtesting, and quality assurar
Our product development priority is to continue &xging the capabilities of our rules-based BPMnebttgy. We intend to maintain and
extend the support of our existing solution framekgpand we may choose to invest in additional &arks which incorporate the latest
business innovations. We also intend to maintatheattend the support of popular hardware platfoopgrating systems, databases, and
connectivity options to facilitate easy and rapégpldyment in diverse information technology infrastures. Our goal with all of our products
is to enhance product capabilities, ease of impigat®n, long-term flexibility, and the ability frovide improved customer service.

During 2009, 2008, and 2007, research and developexpenses were approximately $38.9 million, $3iilon, and $26.2 million,
respectively. We expect that we will continue toncoit significant resources to our product researth development in the future to maintain
our leadership position.

Employees

As of January 31, 2010, we had 1,076 employeesdwidk, of which 740 were based in the U.S., 185avrxsed in Europe, 96 were
based in India, 32 were based in Canada, 15 wesedlia Australia and 8 were based in Asia. Oul tetadcount includes 425 consulting and
customer support employees, 274 sales and markatipdpyees, 228 research and development emplogeed,49 administrative employees.
In addition, we supplemented our research and dpuent and professional services employees withchbA&actors.

Backlog of license, maintenance, and professionarsices

As of December 31, 2009, we had software licensént®mnance, and professional services agreemetitcustomers expected to result
in approximately $192 million of future revenue,vafiich we expect approximately $128 million to leeagnized in 2010. As of December 31,
2008, we had backlog of software license, mainte@aand professional services agreements with mestoof approximately $172 million.
Under some of these agreements, we must fulfitag@conditions prior to recognizing revenue, amel¢ can be no assurance when, if evel
will be able to satisfy all such conditions in edcstance. Business conditions could change aedefitre, backlog may not be a reliable
indicator of future financial performance.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our Websitw.pegasystems.coour Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and aimemts to these reports, as soon as reasonabticplde after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish such material t@ Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). TBE $&aintains a Website that contains
reports, proxy, and information statements andrdtifermation regarding issuers that file electaatly with the SEC at www.sec.goWe
make available on our Website reports filed by executive officers and Directors on Forms 3, 4, amegarding their ownership of our
securities. Our Code of Conduct, and any amendnteratsr Code of Conduct, is also available on oabdite.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors could cause oumatbusiness and financial results to differ matirifrom those contained in forward-
looking statements made in this Annual Report omTb0-K or elsewhere by management from time tetim

Factors relating to our revenues

The number of our license arrangements has beenr@asing, and we may not be able to sustain thisvgtto unless we can provide
sufficient high quality professional services, tr@ng, and maintenance resources to enable our cuséus to realize significant busine:
value from our softwareOur customers typically request professional sess/end training to assist them in implementingmyoducts. Our
customers also purchase maintenance on our produghsost all cases. As a result, an increaské@mtumber of license arrangements is likely
to increase demand for professional services,itgjrmnd maintenance relating to our products. Giat the number of our license
arrangements has been increasing, we will needotdde our customers with more professional sesjitining, and maintenance to enable
our customers to realize significant business vilum our software. Accordingly, we have been Igradditional personnel in these areas and
improving our “on-boarding” process to ramp up rnEvsonnel in a shorter period of time. We have hésn increasingly enabling our
partners and our customers through training andrdgtion of “centers of excellence” to create gpa@ded universe of people that are skilled
in the implementation of our products. Howeveryd are unable to provide sufficient high qualitgfesssional services, training, or
maintenance resources to our customers, our custamegy not realize sufficient business value framproducts to justify follow-on sales,
which could impact our future financial performankeaddition, the growth required to meet the @ased demand for our professional sen
could strain our ability to deliver our serviceggagements at desired levels of profitability, therempacting our overall profitability and
financial results.

We frequently enter into limited scope initial lioses with new customers, which could adversely etffeur financial performance if wi
are not successful in obtaining follow-on businesm these customerdVe frequently enter into initial licenses with cew customers that
are focused on a specific purpose or area of dpamtrather than selling large enterprise licenseallow these new customers to realize
business value from our software quickly and fémdted initial investment. Once a customer hadized this initial value, we work with the
customer to identify opportunities for follow-onles However, we may not be successful in demaiggréhis initial value to some customers,
for reasons relating to the performance of our pet&l the quality of the services and support veeide for our products, or external reasons.
For these customers, we may not obtain follow-dessar the follow-on sales may be delayed, andioeinse revenue will be limited to the
smaller initial sale. This could lower average saation size and adversely affect our financialgrarance.

Our professional services revenue is dependent sigaificant extent on closing new license transexts with customersWe derive a
substantial portion of our professional servicegneie from implementation of new software licensih our customers. Accordingly, it is
imperative that we close more license transactigtisour customers if we are to maintain or grow services revenue.

If we are unable to maintain vendor specific objea evidence (“VSOE") of fair value of our professnal services arrangements, we
may be required to delay a portion of our revenueftiture periods. We have established VSOE of fair value of our pssilenal services in ¢
geographic areas, except for in Australia and amefiean country, based on the price charged whese thervices are sold separately. The
weakened economy and significant competition within industry have created pricing pressure ongsibnal services provided by
technology companies. If we elect to discount aofgssional services pricing or otherwise introduagability in our professional services
arrangements to attract or retain customers, thitddead to an insufficient number of consistemtipg examples for us to measure and
maintain VSOE. If we do not have VSOE of fair vabfeour professional services, we may be requioeétognize all revenue for these
professional services arrangements, including afated license, maintenance, and other servicenuevif the professional services are
bundled in an arrangement, ratably over the lonfiéne software maintenance period or the serviz@g.

9
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Factors relating to fluctuations in our financial results

The timing of our license revenue is difficult torgdict accurately, which may cause our quarterlyeypting results to vary
considerably A change in the number or size of high value lieemsangements, or a change in the mix betweerepeaipand term licenses,
can cause our revenues to fluctuate materially foarter to quarter. Our decision to enter intmtécenses that require the term license
revenue to be recognized over the license termaasients become due or earlier if prepaid may adlyeedfect our profitability in any period
due to sales commissions being paid at the tinsggoiing and the corresponding revenue being rezedrover time. We plan selling and
marketing expenses, product development, and ettpnses based on anticipated future revenuee Hrtting or amount of revenue fails to
meet our expectations in any given quarter, owrfaial performance is likely to be adversely a#fedbecause only small portions of expenses
vary with revenue. As a result, periodgeriod comparisons of operating results are no¢searily meaningful and should not be relied umxc
predict future performance.

Our financial results may be adversely affectednié are required to change certain estimates, judgitseand positions relative to our
income taxeslin the ordinary course of conducting a global besienterprise, there are many transactions acdai#bns undertaken whose
ultimate tax outcome cannot be certain. Some afehmcertainties arise as a consequence of pasitierhave taken regarding valuation of
deferred tax assets, transfer pricing for traneastiwith our subsidiaries, and potential challerigasexus and tax credit estimates. We estil
our exposure to unfavorable outcomes related teethacertainties and estimate the probability ichsoutcomes. Although we believe our
estimates are reasonable, no assurance can betigatehe final tax outcome of these matters oraamrent estimates regarding these matters
will not be different from what is reflected in ohistorical income tax provisions, returns, andraats. Such differences, or changes in
estimates relating to potential differences, cddde a material impact, unfavorable or favorabhepor income tax provisions, require us to
change the recorded value of deferred tax asselsadversely affect our financial results.

We are investing heavily in sales and marketing gobfessional services in anticipation of a contiad increase in license
arrangements, and we may experience decreased tataifity or losses if we are unsuccessful in incs#ag the value of our license
arrangements in the futureWe have been increasing our investment in salesreileting to meet increasing demand by hiring tétl
sales and marketing personnel. We anticipate teavilV need to provide our customers with more pssfonal services, training, and
maintenance as a result of this increase in demaarttlhave been hiring additional personnel in tlaesas. These investments have resulted in
increased fixed costs that do not vary with thelef revenue. If the increased demand for our petgidoes not continue, we could experience
decreased profitability or losses as a result e§¢hincreased fixed costs.

Factors relating to our products and markets

The adverse changes in the global capital marketsl @conomy may negatively impact our sales to, #melcollection of receivables
from, our financial services and insurance custonseand possibly our customers in other industriThe recent financial crisis in the global
capital markets and the current negative globahecoc trends could impact the ability and willingseof our financial services and insurance
customers, and possibly our customers in othersitndis, to make investments in technology, whicly aelay or reduce the amount of
purchases of our software and professional servidesse factors could also impact the ability aflingness of these customers to pay their
trade obligations and honor their contractual cotmmants under their non-cancellable term licensbss& customers may also become subject
to increasingly restrictive regulatory requirememthich could limit or delay their ability to proeeé with new technology purchases. Our
financial services and insurance customers aswgpgepresent a significant amount of our revenuesraceivables. Accordingly, their
potential financial instability could negatively jiact our business, operating results, and finaoiadlition.

We will need to acquire or develop new productleg existing ones, and adapt to technology changechnical developments,
customer requirements, programming languages,rahubiry standards change

10
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frequently in our markets. As a result, succesaliment markets and new markets will depend uparability to enhance current products, to
acquire or develop and introduce new productsrtiestt customer needs, keep pace with technologygelsanespond to competitive products,
and achieve market acceptance. Product developeguires substantial investments for researcmeefent, and testing. There can be no
assurance that we will have sufficient resourcasadée necessary product development investmentsnilyeexperience difficulties that will
delay or prevent the successful development, incthdn, or implementation of new or enhanced présluoability to introduce or implement
new or enhanced products in a timely manner wodietesely affect future financial performance.

The market for our offerings is increasingly and tensely competitive, rapidly changing, and highlkafimented.The market for BPM
software and related implementation, consulting, taaining services is intensely competitive, réphanging and highly fragmented. We
currently encounter significant competition fronteimal information systems departments of potetigxisting customers that develop
custom software. We also compete with large tedgyotompanies such as IBM, Oracle and SAP, compdhé target the customer
interaction and workflow markets, companies focusedbusiness rules engines or enterprise applicatiegration, “pure play” BPM
companies, and professional service organizatiwatsdevelop custom software in conjunction withdenng consulting services. Competition
for market share and pressure to reduce pricesnahe sales concessions are likely to increase. Mampetitors have far greater resources
and may be able to respond more quickly and effttieco new or emerging technologies, programmangglages or standards or to changes in
customer requirements or preferences. Competitagsaiso be able to devote greater managerial aaddial resources to develop, promote,
and distribute products and provide related coimgulind training services. There has been recerstatidlation in the BPM market whereby
larger companies such as IBM, Oracle, SAP and BssgBoftware have acquired companies that provikléd 8oftware, which we expect will
further increase competition. There can be no asserthat we will be able to compete successfgjairest current or future competitors or that
the competitive pressures faced by us will not miatg adversely affect our business, operatingitssand financial condition.

We have historically sold to the financial servigéssurance and healthcare markets, and rapid chasgor consolidation in these
markets could affect the level of demand for ourgolucts.We have historically derived a significant porti@ihour revenue from customers in
the financial services, insurance, and healthcankets, and sales to these markets are importantfduture growth. Competitive pressures,
industry consolidation, decreasing operating magiagulatory changes, and privacy concerns afffiectinancial condition of our customers
and their willingness to buy. In addition, custosigrurchasing patterns in these industries forddaeghnology projects are somewhat
discretionary. The financial services and insuranegkets are undergoing intense domestic and @tierral consolidation and financial
turmoil, and consolidation has been occurring ehkalthcare market. Consolidation may interrupiad buying behaviors and increase the
volatility of our operating results. In recent ygaseveral of our customers have been merged gplidated, and we expect this to continue in
the near future. Future mergers or consolidatioag cause a decline in revenues and adversely affedtiture financial performance. All of
these factors affect the level of demand for oodpcts from customers in these industries, anddcadversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

We rely on certain third-party relationship&Ve have a number of relationships with third partleat are significant to sales, marketing
and support activities, and product developmemtresf We rely on software and hardware vendorgelalystem integrators, and technology
consulting firms to provide marketing and salesarpmities for the direct sales force and to sttkeg our products through the use of
industry-standard tools and utilities. We also halationships with third parties that distributer @roducts. There can be no assurance that
these companies, most of which have significantater financial and marketing resources, willéd@telop or market products that compete
with ours in the future or will not otherwise endlimit their relationships with us.

We face risks from operations and customers basetside of the U.SSales to customers headquartered outside of therép&sented
approximately 34% of our total revenue in 2009, 38%008 and 35% in 2007.
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We, in part through our wholly-owned subsidiari@séxd in the United Kingdom, Germany, Spain, thédiénds, Switzerland, Canada, and
Australia, market products and render consultirg)tasining services to customers based in CanhddJhited Kingdom, France, Germany,
Spain, the Netherlands, Belgium, Switzerland, Aastreland, Sweden, Mexico, Australia, Hong Koagd Singapore. We have established
offices in Canada, Europe, Asia and Australia. \Wkele that growth will necessitate expanded irdBamal operations, requiring a diversion
of managerial attention and increased costs. Wieipate hiring additional personnel to accommodiaternational growth, and we may also
enter into agreements with local distributors, espntatives, or resellers. If we are unable tordoay more of these things in a timely manner,
our growth, if any, in our foreign operations mayrestricted, and our business, operating resnts financial condition could be materially
and adversely affected.

In addition, there can be no assurance that web@ilible to maintain or increase international miadiemand for our products. Several of
our international sales are denominated in U.SadolAccordingly, any appreciation of the valuahe U.S. dollar relative to the currencies of
those countries in which we sell our products miagg@us at a competitive disadvantage by effegtigeking our products more expensive as
compared to those of our competitors. Additionsksiinherent in our international business actsitjenerally include unexpected changes in
regulatory requirements, increased tariffs andratitagle barriers, the costs of localizing proddetdocal markets and complying with local
business customs, longer accounts receivable patsrd difficulties in collecting foreign accounggeivable, difficulties in enforcing
contractual and intellectual property rights, héggied risks of political and economic instabilitye possibility of nationalization or
expropriation of industries or properties, diffite in managing international operations, potdgtedverse tax consequences (including
restrictions on repatriating earnings and the thoé&double taxation”), increased accounting amtgéinal control expenses, and the burden of
complying with a wide variety of foreign laws. Tleezan be no assurance that one or more of thetsedadll not have a material adverse
effect on our foreign operations, and, consequintiaur business, operating results, and finanoiaidition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchangées that could negatively impact our financiaésults and cash flowBecause a
significant portion of our business is conductetbme the U.S., we face exposure to adverse movsnreforeign currency exchange rates.
These exposures may change over time as busiregicps evolve, and they could have a material raévienpact on our financial results and
cash flows. Our international sales have incredgingcome denominated in foreign currencies. Therating expenses of our foreign
operations are primarily denominated in foreigrrencies, which partially offset our foreign currgrexposure. A decrease in the value of
foreign currencies, particularly the British powstdrling and the Euro relative to the U.S. doltanld adversely impact our financial results
cash flows.

Factors relating to our internal operations and poential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must be ablattract and retain qualified personnel in tHeture. The business is dependent
on a number of key, highly skilled technical, maexdal, consulting, sales, and marketing persorineluding our Chief Executive Officer. The
loss of key personnel could adversely affect fianmerformance. We do not have any significant-kean life insurance on any officers or
employees and do not plan to obtain any. Our ssogéksdepend in large part on the ability to héned retain qualified personnel. The number
of potential employees who have the extensive kadgé of computer hardware and operating systentedde develop, sell, and maintain
our products is limited, and competition for thedrvices is intense, and there can be no assuttaaicere will be able to attract and retain such
personnel. If we are unable to do so, our busirgssating results, and financial condition couddnhaterially adversely affected.

We may experience significant errors or securitgils in our product and services, and could facevagy, product liability and
warranty claims as a resulDespite testing prior to their release, softwaprcts frequently contain errors or security flaespecially when
first introduced or when new versions are releaeahrs in our software products could affect th#ity of our products to work with other
hardware or
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software products, or could delay the developmentlease of new products or new versions of prteddide detection and correction of any
security flaws can be time consuming and costlyoisror security flaws in our software could resalthe inadvertent disclosure of
confidential information or personal data relattogur customers, employees, or third parties vk product errors and security flaws in our
products or services could expose us to privacydyoet liability and warranty claims as well as hayar reputation, which could impact our
future sales of products and services. Our licagseements typically contain provisions intendelilnit the nature and extent of our risk of
product liability and warranty claims. There iggkrthat a court might interpret these terms imatéd way or could hold part or all of these
terms to be unenforceable. Also, there is a rigk tiilese contract terms might not bind a partyradtien the direct customer. Furthermore, s

of our licenses with our customers are governeddyyU.S. law, and there is a risk that foreign haight give us less or different protection.
Although we have not experienced any material pcotability claims to date, a product liability isor action claiming a breach of warranty,
whether or not meritorious, could result in subStrosts and a diversion of management’s attardizd our resources.

We face risks related to intellectual property af@s or appropriation of our intellectual property ghts.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark and trade ssdesvs, as well as confidentiality agreementsraiqet our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents from the U.S. Patent and Trade@#Hite relating to the architecture of our systelive cannot assure that such patents will
not be invalidated or circumvented or that rightsnged thereunder or the claims contained therdirpmvide us with competitive advantages.
Moreover, despite our efforts to protect our prefaniy rights, unauthorized parties may attempbfwy@spects of our products or to obtain the
use of information that we regard as proprietamyaddition, the laws of some foreign countries doprotect our proprietary rights to as great
an extent as do the laws of the U.S. There carolessurance that our means of protecting our mtayi rights will be adequate or that our
competitors will not independently develop similachnology.

We are not aware that any of our products infritigeproprietary rights of third parties. There t&mno assurance, however, that third
parties will not claim infringement by us with resp to current or future products. Although we m@ttéto limit the amount and type of our
contractual liability for infringement of the praetary rights of third parties, these limitatiorftem contain certain exclusions, and we cannc
assured that these limitations will be applicalrid anforceable in all cases. Even if these limatadiare found to be applicable and enforceable
our liability to our customers for these types lafirms could be material in amount given the sizeastain of our transactions. We expect that
software product developers will increasingly bbjeat to infringement claims as the number of paigl@and competitors in our industry
segment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps. Any suchnetgiwith or without merit, could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation, cause pretdghipment delays, or require us to enter int@algyor licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may not be abel on terms acceptable to us or at all, whichdchave a material adverse effect upon our
business, operating results, and financial condlitio

The acquisition of other businesses and technolagieay present new risk8Ve have undertaken an acquisition during the past t
years and may continue to evaluate and consider ptitential strategic transactions, including asitians of businesses, technologi
services, products and other assets in the fufimese acquisitions, if undertaken, may involve isicgnt new risks and uncertainties, including
distraction of management attention away from aurent business operations, insufficient new reeeiowffset expenses, inadequate return
on capital, integration challenges, new regulateguirements, and issues not discovered in ouddigence process. No assurance can be
given that such acquisitions will be successful aiitinot adversely affect our profitability or opsions.

Ongoing medical and dental claims expenses cou@ghfficantly affect our earnings and cash flow8eginning in 2010, we will self-
insure for U.S. employee medical and dental clgfitiaims”). We will accrue amounts for liabilitidgsased on our assessment of claims that
arise and we will evaluate and revise these acsrual
from time to time based on additional informatit¥e maintain insurance with licensed insurance eegt@bove the amounts for which we self-
insure. Our future claims expenses may exceed>@eatations, which could reduce our earnings amgtieely impact our cash flow.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing,man, and research and development operation®eateld at 101 Main Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts in an approximately 10560are foot leased facility. The lease for thility expires in 2013, subject to our
option to extend for two additional five-year pel$o We also lease space for our other officeseénll8., Australia, Canada, India, the United
Kingdom and in other European countries. Theseekasgpire at various dates through 2014. We betteateadditional or alternative space \
be available as needed in the future on commeyaiatisonable terms.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
None.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:
During the fourth quarter of 2009, there were ndtera submitted to a vote of our security holders.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Is&r Purchases of Equity Securitie:
Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “PEGA.” Thellowing table sets
forth the range of high and low sales prices of@mmon stock on NASDAQ for each quarter in theryemded December 31, 2009 and 2

Common Stock Price

2009 2008
High Low High Low
First Quartel $19.2( $11.7¢ $12.0¢ $ 8.7:
Second Quarte $27.9¢ $16.21 $13.81 $ 9.62
Third Quartel $35.2¢ $22.2: $15.1( $11.8
Fourth Quarte $36.0¢ $25.7¢ $13.42 $ 9.5¢

Holders

As of February 9, 2010, we had approximately 48ldtolders of record and approximately 33,800 berafowners of our common
stock.

Dividends

In July 2006, we began paying a quarterly castddivil of $0.03 per share of common stock. Quartadh dividends are expected to
continue at $0.03 per share to stockholders ofrceas of the first trading day of each quarter jectito change or elimination at any time by
our Board of Directors.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2009 regarding our Amended and Resi&@4di L ong-Term Incentive Plan
(the “1994 Plan”), the 1996 Non-Employee Directtwck Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), the 2004rigaTerm Incentive Plan (the “2004
Plan”) and the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Pten*2006 ESPP”). Our stockholders previously apptbgach of these plans and all
amendments that were subject to stockholder apprdi@have no equity compensation plans that hatéeen approved by stockholders.
Note 13“Stock-Based Compensation” included in the notethéoaccompanying consolidated financial statemfemtrther information and
description of our equity compensation plans.

(In thousands, except per share

amounts, (@ 0 9
Number of shares o
Number of shares of Common stock
common stock to be Weighted-average Remaining available
issued upon exercise exercise price of For future issuance
of outstanding outstanding (excluding those in
stock options and vesting of RSUs ( stock options (2) Column (a)) (3)

Equity Compensation Plans appro\
by Stockholder: 4,101 $ 9.9t 2,04(

(1) The number of shares of common stock issued epercise of vested stock options and vestingsificted stock units (“RSUs”) will be
less than 4,101,000 because of the “net settlenfeattire of most of these options and RSUs. Thisifeanables the employee to sat
the cost to exercise (in the case of options) Hrghplicable, taxes due (in the case of optior$ RBUs) by surrendering shares to
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()
3)

Company based on the fair value of the sharesatxhrcise date (in the case of options) or vestatg (in the case of RSUS), insteat
selling all of the shares on the open market tsfyahese obligations. The settlement of vestedlsbptions and vested RSUs on a net
share basis will result in fewer shares issuechbyGompany. During 2009, option and RSU holderseattted stock options and vested
RSUs representing the right to purchase a tota|451,000 shares, of which only 1,188,000 wereeidga the option and RSU holders
and the balance of the shares were surrenderée t0dmpany to pay for the exercise price and tipdicgble taxes

In addition to the issuance of stock options, th@41Plan allowed for the issuance of stock apptieciaights, restricted stock and long-
term performance awards. The Company does notdriteissue any additional options or make any odlweards under the 1994 Plan or
the Director Plan in the future. In addition to theuance of stock options, the 2004 Plan allowshfe issuance of stock purchase rights
and other stock-based awards, including RSUs.

The weighte-average exercise price does not take into accberghares issuable upon vesting of outstanding RBklsh have n«
exercise price

Includes approximately 443,000 shares remainingabla for issuance as of December 31, 2009 uriteP006 ESPF

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth information regamliour repurchases of our common stock during thetticquarter of 2009.

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as Pat

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares That
May Yet Be Purchasec
Under Publicly

of Publicly Announced Share
Total Number Average Price Announced Share Repurchased Program
of Shares Paid per Repurchase 1)

Period Purchased Share Program (1) (in thousands)
10/1/09- 10/31/09 19,53 $ 32.22 19,53 $ 2,34(
11/1/09- 11/30/09 41,23¢ 30.0¢ 41,23¢ 16,10(
12/1/09-12/31/09 9,961 32.24 9,961 15,77¢
Total 70,73 $ 30.917

(1)

On December 1, 2008, we publicly announceddbaBoard of Directors approved a $15.0 millioarghrepurchase program effective
December 1, 2008 and expiring on December 31, 20@9'Fourth Program”). On November 24, 2009, wbljaly announced that our
Board of Directors approved an additional $15.0iamlfor share repurchases under the Fourth Progadrextended this Program’s
expiration date to December 31, 2010. Under thetRdRrogram, purchases will be made from timerteeton the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions. Shares may fpercbased in such amounts as market conditionsamaisubject to regulatory and ot
considerations. The Company has established armaeged stock repurchase plan, intended to comjitytive requirements of Rule
10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1984 raended, and of Rule 10b-18 under the SecuEiebange Act of 1934, as
amended, (the “10b5-1 Plan”). All share repurchaseter the Fourth Program during closed tradingdaim periods were made pursuant
to the 10b-1 Plan.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Stockblder Return

The following performance graph represents a corsparf the cumulative total stockholder returrs(aming the reinvestment of
dividends) for a $100 investment on December 304460 each of our common stock, the Total Retudeinfor the NASDAQ Composite
(“NASDAQ Composite”), a broad market index, and 8tandard & Poors (“S&P”) North Software-Softwaneléx™ (“S&P NSSI”), a
published industry index that was formerly the S&Bldman Sachs Technology Software Index. We paiitieinds of $0.12 per share during
2009, 2008, and 2007 and $0.06 per share durin.20@ graph lines merely connect measurement datéslo not reflect fluctuations
between those dates.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected financial data presented below has tex@ved from our consolidated financial stateraemhis data may not be indicative
of our future financial condition or results of egtons and should be read in conjunction with “sig@ment’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, ¢tbasolidated financial statements and accompanyihes.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $264,010 $211,64°7 $161,94¢ $126,020 $100,20!
Income (loss) from operatiol 41,81¢ 14,47¢ 1,951 (7,119 1,21¢
Income before provision for income tay 47,41" 15,67: 9,94: 1,18 5,31¢
Net income 32,21 10,977 6,59¢ 1,84: 5,19:
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 08 ¢ 03C $ 01¢€ $ 00t $ 0.1¢

Diluted $ 08 $ 02 $ 018 $ 00t $ 0.14
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 012 $ 012 $ 01z $ 0.0 $ —
Weightec-average number of common shares outstan:

Basic 36,20¢ 36,14¢ 35,87¢ 35,22¢ 35,77

Diluted 38,11 37,60t 37,43 37,13« 36,46

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable $ies $202,65: $167,22¢ $149,98. $127,75¢ $114,73!
Working capital 188,55: 159,08( 159,54° 147,22¢ 133,44(
Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme 2,97¢ 5,41z 8,26 17,45¢ 31,37
Total asset 279,58!  245,85( 243,307 214,00t 209,65:
Capital lease obligation, including current port — — — 63 16€
Stockholder equity 205,21¢ 173,11¢ 172,94 166,15¢ 167,68:
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ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
Our products and services

We develop and license rules-based BPM softwargpamdde professional services, maintenance, aiditg related to our software.
We focus our sales efforts on target accounts, lwaie companies or divisions within companies, amdtypically large organizations that are
among the leaders in their industry. Our strategy isell initial licenses to these target accothms are focused on a specific purpose or ar
operations, rather than selling large enterprisenes. This strategy allows our customers to uielalize business value from our software
and limits their initial investment. Once a custoras realized this initial value, we work with ttiestomer to identify opportunities for follow-
on sales.

Our license revenue is primarily derived from salesur PRPC software and related solution framé&adPRPC is a comprehensive
platform for building and managing BPM applicatidhat unifies business rules and business proce@sesolution frameworks are built on
the capabilities of PRPC and are purpose- or imguspecific collections of best practice functibtyato allow organizations to quickly
implement new customer-facing practices and presessing new offerings to market, and provide @unsted or specialized processing to
meet the needs of different customers, departmgetgyraphies or regulatory requirements. Theseugtedften require less implementation
assistance than prior generations of our softwerdyzts. In many cases this has resulted in aahsates process and implementation period.
PRPC and related solution frameworks can be useddsgpad range of customers within financial s&sjénsurance and healthcare market
well as other markets, such as life sciences, camations, travel and entertainment, and government

We also offer SmartPaa$S, which is our platform-astaice offering that allows customers to cre&®®e€ applications using an internet-
based infrastructure. This offering enables Pegasys customers to immediately build their appli@as in a secure environment while
minimizing their infrastructure and hardware costs.

Our customers typically request professional ses/&nd training to assist them in implementingproducts. Almost all of our
customers also purchase maintenance on our proavttsh includes rights to upgrades and new rekedseident resolution and technical
assistance. Professional services are providedtljfitgy us and through our network of partners.uilizing these partners, we have increased
the supply of skilled service consultants that assist our customers.

Business overview

We achieved license revenue growth of 51% in 2@¥8pared to 2008, including a 54% increase in pagddicense revenue and a 43%
increase in term license revenue, despite theafgithg economic conditions. We generated approxiyn&49.6 million in cash from
operations in 2009, a 29% increase compared to,20@Bended the year with $202.7 million in castshcequivalents, and marketable
securities. We generated the majority of our 20€8nke revenue from follown sales to existing customers. We believe theadtsereflect ot
ability to quickly and successfully deliver our satile Build for Change technology to Fortitme 508tomers across industries and
international borders, allowing these customergdtiuce operating costs and increase revenues \aitizipid time-frame from implementation.
These operational efficiencies experienced by astamers are part of the strong value propositiort@chnology provides to our customers.

We believe our growth and success in 2009 werdatue

* Increased market acceptance of our industry leatgitignology
» Expansion of our solutions frameworks offerin
» Disciplined and focused strategy of selling to ¢&tegl customer:

» Expansion of our targeted customer |
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» Development and growth of our proficiency across malustries; an
* Product improvements as a result of the expandionoresearch and development effo
We believe that the ongoing challenges for ourress include continuing to drive revenue growttpdeghe continued challenging
economic conditions and increased competition,inairtg to expand our expertise in new and existimtyistries, and maintaining our
leadership position in the BPM market.
To support our growth and successfully addressthkallenges through 2010 we plan to:
» Continue to develop and increase our solutions éraanks offerings and expertise across targetedsinies;
» Hire significantly more sales and marketing proi@sals to expand our targeted customer list anceage partner utilizatiol
* Protect and extend our technology leadership pos
» Develop and expand our international operati
» Grow our professional services organization andhearmlliances; an
e Continue to invest in our research and developraeffatts in India and the U.¢

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2009 Compared to 2008

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2009 2008
Total revenu $ 264,017 $211.64° $52,36¢ 25%
Gross profil 173,07¢ 129,89( 43,18¢ 33%
Total operating expens 131,25 115,41: 15,84¢ 14%
Income before provision for income tay 47,41¢ 15,67 31,747 203%

The increase in our total revenue during 2009 coetpto 2008 was attributable to an increase irdémaand for our software products
due to growth in the BPM sector and our positioteasler in that sector. We believe the demand diosoftware solutions in the difficult
economic environment is primarily due to the streafue proposition and various licensing terms feraur customers.

The increase in gross profit was primarily dueht® increase in license revenue and to a lessantakie to the increase in maintenance
revenue, partially offset by a decrease in ourgssibnal services gross profit. The increase ianrebefore provision for income taxes during
2009 compared to 2008 was primarily due to ounisgeand maintenance revenue growing at a fastethamh our operating expenses. These
increases in revenue offset the higher expensesiassd with our continued investment in researwhdevelopment, expanding our sales and
marketing personnel, and our professional seniideastructure. During 2008, due to credit marketioil and adverse changes in the
economy, we changed the mix of our investment pliotto increase our holdings of tax-exempt prasngfed municipal bonds, which resulted
in $1.9 million of lower interest income in 2009nepared to 2008. Our income before provision fobine taxes in 2009 was positively
impacted by $2.1 million of foreign currency tracsan gains.

A change in the number or size of high value lieemsangements, or a change in the mix betweerepgrpand term licenses, can cause
our revenues to fluctuate materially from quartegquarter. The revenue growth rate achieved inhdstgrical period is not necessarily
indicative of the results expected for future pesio
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Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2009 2008

License revenut

Perpetual license $ 71,67¢ 62% $46,667 61% $25,01! 54%
Term license! 36,63t 32% 25,61 33% 11,027 43%
Subscriptior 7,618 6% 4,29 6% 3,32¢ T7%
Total license revenu $115,93« 10(% $76,57: 10(% $39,36: 51%

The mix between perpetual and term license arrargesiiluctuates based on customer circumstancesinthease in perpetual license
revenue during 2009 compared to 2008 was driveindrgases in the number of perpetual licenses. &ergted the majority of our license
revenue in 2009 from follow-on sales to existingtomers. Many of the perpetual license arrangenieciisde extended payment terms and/or
additional rights of use that delay the recognitidmevenue to future periods. The aggregate valymyments due under these perpetual and
certain subscription licenses was $57.1 milliomBBecember 31, 2009 compared to $30.3 millionfd3ezember 31, 2008. See the table of
future cash receipts by year from these perpeiteri$es and certain subscription licenses on page 3

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangésraver the term of the agreement as paymentsrieedoe or earlier if prepaid. The
increase in term license revenue during 2009 coetptar 2008 was primarily due to significant prepayts of certain term licenses. In
addition, the increase in term license revenudid®Zzompared to 2008 was due to the increase iagheegate value of payments for non-
cancellable term licenses signed during 2009, 2808,2007 for which a portion of the revenue wasgaized in 2009. The remainder of the
revenue under these agreements will be recognizfdure periods. The aggregate value of futurengyts due under these term licenses
decreased to $76.3 million as of December 31, 200%ared to $88.5 million as of December 31, 20084rily due to the higher proportion
of new perpetual licenses arrangements in 2009aedo significant prepayments in 2009. The agdesgalue of future payments due under
non-cancellable term licenses as of December 319 #@ludes $29.3 million of term license paymehts we expect to recognize as revenue
in 2010. However, our actual term license revemu20i10 could be higher than $29.3 million as we plete new term license agreements in
2010 or if we receive prepayments from existingntéicense agreements. See the table of futurereaslipts by year from these term licenses
on page 30.

Subscription revenue primarily relates to our ageanents that include a right to unspecified fupneducts and is recognized ratably ¢
the term of the arrangement. The increase in sighgar revenue during 2009 compared 2008 was piiyndue to a new customer
arrangement.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2009 2008

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 50,09¢ $ 40,11¢ $9,98/ 25%

The increase in maintenance revenue in 2009 compar2008 was primarily due to the continued inseciaa the installed base of our
software and to a lesser extent due to fees pa&dustomer to reinstate maintenance.

Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, (Decrease)

2009 2008
Professional services revent
Consulting service $93,91( 96% $89,84: 95% $ 4,06¢ 5%
Training 4,07C 4% 511¢ 5% (1,049 (20)%
Total Professional servict $97,98( 10(% $94,96( 10(% $ 3,02( 3%
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Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Whigecontinue to experience demand
for these services as the number of our new licansmgements increases, our professional semagesue was negatively impacted by
pricing pressures associated with a weaker glatzmi@my and the decline in the value of the Europearencies relative to the U.S. dollar
during 2009 compared to 2008. Our training revernoeginue to be negatively impacted by a weak dlebanomy.

Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 (Decrease)

2009 2008
Gross Profit
Software licens: $115,81: $ 76,477 $39,33¢ 51%
Maintenance 43,89¢ 34,72¢ 9,171 26%
Professional service 13,36 18,68¢ (5,32)) (28)%
Total gross profi $173,07¢ $129,89( $43,18¢ 33%
Maintenance gross marg 88% 87%
Professional services gross mar 14% 2%

Professional services gross profit during 2009 canag to 2008 was adversely impacted by lower ratidin rates globally due to the
challenging economic conditions. In addition, tlirect costs associated with the professional sesvimindled with a license arrangement
recognized on a subscription basis were recordéukithird quarter of 2009, but the related revenilibe recognized over the subscription
period. The bundled professional services for @niangement were completed during the third quaft&009.

In addition, during the second half of 2009, a gigant number of our professional services corailt completed our enhanced training
curriculum to achieve the master level of PRPCifaemtion, which resulted in lower billable hoursdaan increased use of contractors. We
intend to continue our investment in the profesai@ervices organization in 2010 to support owerige implementations.

Operating expenses

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2009 2008

Selling and marketincg

Selling and marketin $74,37¢ $63,79¢ $10,57¢ 17%
As a percent of total reveni 28% 30%
Selling and marketing headcot 258 19C 63 33%

Selling and marketing expenses include compensaiemefit, and other headcount-related expensesiassd with our selling and
marketing personnel as well as advertising, proomstitrade shows, seminars, and other programs.

The increase in selling and marketing expensegwasrily due to a $6.0 million increase in compegitn and benefit expenses
associated with higher headcount, as well as $4libmhigher sales commissions in 2009 compare®08, mainly due to an increase in the
value of our new license arrangements in 2009 coadp® 2008. Selling and marketing expenses alseased due to a $0.5 million increase
in contractor expenses and a $0.2 million incrélagearketing campaign expenses, partially offseal$0.5 million decrease in employment
agency fees.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2009 2008
Research and developme
Research and developm: $ 38,86 $31,47: $7,39( 23%
As a percent of total reveni 15% 15%
Research and development headct 222 162 60 37%
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Research and development expenses include comjpendmnefits, contracted services, and other hmaderelated expenses associated
with research and development.

During the first three quarters of 2008, our reska@and development center in India was not operatiand therefore associated start-up
expenses were classified as general and administetpenses. Subsequent to becoming operatiodtober 2008, all expenses associated
with our development center are classified as rebend development. The change in classificatfidhese expenses resulted in a $2.1 mil
increase in research and development expensegd009 compared to 2008.

The increase in research and development expensiag @009 compared to 2008 was also due to arfdlibn increase in compensati
and benefit expenses associated with higher heaticw$0.6 million increase in depreciation expeasel a $0.4 million increase in contractor
expenses.

Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 (Decrease)
2009 2008
General and administrativ
General and administratiy $18,01" $20,14( $(2,127) (11)%
As a percent of total reven! 7% 10%
General and administrative headco 144 12¢ 15 12%

General and administrative expenses include conagiens benefit, and other headcount-related expmeassociated with the finance,
legal, corporate governance, and other adminiggdteadcount, as well as accounting, legal, aner @ttiministrative fees.

During 2009 compared to 2008, the change in claasién of the expenses related to the researcldanelopment center in India
resulted in a $2.1 million decrease in generaladhinistrative. In addition, general and administeexpenses decreased by $1.0 million due
to a reduction in our reserves for non-income eeldaxes. These decreases in general and adntinstapenses were partially offset by a
$1.6 million increase in compensation and benefieases and a $1.5 million increase in contractpeeses.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatesbwith equity awards in our consolidated staets of income based on the fair
value of these awards at the date of grant. THewalg table summarizes stock-based compensatiparese included in our consolidated
statements of income in 2009 and 2008:

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2009 2008
Stoclk-based compensation exper
Cost of service $ 1,09¢ $ 99t $ 101 10%
Operating expenst 3,571 2,531 1,04( 41%
Total stocl-based compensation before 4,67% 3,532 $1,141 32%
Income tax benef (1,68¢) (1,090
Net stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,98 $ 2,44

The increase in stock-based compensation experZghcompared to 2008 was primarily due to ouioplér stock option grant in
December 2008 and new hire stock option grantsigfigroffset by a decrease in our stock-based amsption as a result of our refining our
forfeiture estimate in the second quarter of 2@G9of December 31, 2009, we had approximately $llfon of unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense related to the unvested partiall our stock options and RSUs that is expktdebe recognized over a
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weighted-average period of approximately 2.4 yeaeg Note 13 “Stock-Based Compensation” in thesimt¢he accompanying consolidated
financial statements for further information on stwck-based awards.

Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 (Decrease)
2009 2008

Interest income, Other income and Income tax

Interest income, ne $ 3,14« $ 5,02¢ $(1,885) (37)%
Foreign currency transaction gain (lo 2,08: (4,537) 6,62( 14€%
Installment receivable interest incot 347 597 (250 (42)%
Other income, ne 22 104 (82 (79)%
Interest income and oth $ 5,59¢ $ 1,19t $ 4,40: 36%

The decrease in interest income in 2009 compar@0@8 was primarily due to our investment in lowielding tax-exempt municipal
bonds. During 2008, due to credit market turmod adverse changes in the economy, we changed #hefraur investment portfolio to
increase our holdings of pre-refunded municipaldsoThese bonds are collateralized by the issuehpsing U.S. Treasury securities to fund
all the cash flows of the refunded municipal botiag will mature when the issuer’s bond matures.

The increase in foreign currency transaction gegsslted primarily from the increase in the val@idooeign currency denominated net
assets held in the U.S., consisting primarily aftgaeceivables, license installments and accquayable. As a result of the significant incre
in the value of the British pound sterling and Eretative to the U.S. dollar during 2009, we reeaté $2.1 million foreign currency exchange
transaction gain as compared to a $4.5 millionifprexchange transaction loss in 2008. See Iteni'@Aantitative and Qualitative Disclosure
about Market Risk” for further discussion of ourdign currency exchange risk.

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes represents curradtfature amounts owed for federal, state, anddartaxes. During 2009 and 2008,
recorded a $15.2 million and $4.7 million provisieespectively, which resulted in an effective tate of 32% and 30%, respectively.

Our effective income tax rate for 2009 was below shatutory federal income tax rate due to a $0l8&mbenefit related to the current
period domestic production activities, a $0.9 millibenefit from tax-exempt income, and a $0.8 onillieduction in the Company’s reserve for
uncertain tax positions related to the settlemétite® Company’s income tax audit with United Kingdgovernment and tax positions of prior
years for which the statute of limitations has eagj all of which reduced the Compi’s effective tax rate. These benefits were paytiaffset
by $0.4 million of permanent differences, primarglated to nondeductible meals and entertainmgereses.

Our effective income tax rate for 2008 was below dtatutory federal income tax rate due to a $0lombenefit related to the current
period domestic production activities, approximat®0.8 million of estimated federal income tax érgdand a $0.6 million benefit from tax-
exempt income. These benefits were partially ofisean increase in the Company’s reserve for uatetax positions of $1.3 million, the
majority of which is related to the state tax ctgedand permanent differences of $0.4 million prilgaelated to nondeductible meals and
entertainment expenses.

As of December 31, 2009, the amount of unrecogriaedenefits totaled approximately $4.4 millioh,cd which if recognized, would
decrease our effective tax rate. We expect thattlaages in the unrecognized benefits within the tveelve months will be approximately
$0.9 million related to tax positions for which thiéimate settlement is highly certain but for whitiere is uncertainty about the timing of such
recognition.
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2008 Compared to 2007

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2008 2007
Total revenu $211,64° $161,94¢ $49,69¢ 31%
Gross profil 129,89( 96,741 33,14: 34%
Total operating expens 115,41: 94,79¢ 20,61t 22%
Income before provision for income ta» 15,672 9,94 573 58%

The increase in our total revenue during 2008 coetpto 2007 was attributable to an increase irdémaand for our software products
and related services due to growth in the BPM sexid our position as leader in this market sp@febelieve the demand for our software
solutions in the current economic crisis is prirtyadiue to the strong value proposition and flexiidensing terms we offer our customers. The
increase in gross profit for 2008 compared to 208 due to the increase in both license and maintanrevenue despite a decrease in the
professional services gross profit.

The increase in income before provision for incdeess during 2008 compared to 2007 was primariy tduour license and maintenal
revenue growth. These increases in revenue offedtigher expenses associated with our continuegbiment in expanding our sales and
marketing personnel, professional services infoastire, and research and development. During 2088t0 credit market turmoil and adverse
changes in the economy, we changed the mix ofrugsiment portfolio to increase our holdings ofmfinded municipal bonds, which
resulted in $1.7 million of lower interest incon@ur income before provision for income taxes was alegatively impacted by $4.5 million of
foreign currency transaction losses included irebthcome (expense), net.

Revenue

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2008 2007

License revenut
Perpetual license $46,667 61% $37,91¢ 74% $ 8,75¢ 23%
Term license! 25,61 33% 13,17C 2€6% 12,447 94%
Subscriptior 4,29 6% - — 4,29¢ n/m
Total license revenu $76,57: 10(% $51,08¢ 10C% $25,48¢ 50%

n/m = not meaningful

The mix between perpetual and term license arrapgeiluctuates based on customer circumstanceg@ierated the majority of our
license revenue in 2008 from follow-on sales testng customers.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangér@ver the term of the agreement as paymentsiieedae or earlier if prepaid. The
term license revenue growth was driven by a 26%ems®e in the average value of term licenses addaiBcrease in the number of term
licenses for which we recognized revenue in 2008gared to 2007. The increase in term license rey@n@008 compared to 2007 was due to
the increase in the aggregate value of paymentsadiercancellable term licenses signed during 22087, and 2006 for which a portion of
these agreements was recognized as revenue ina2@d0Bie remainder will be recognized as revendeture periods. The aggregate value of
payments due under these term licenses increas88t6 million as of December 31, 2008 comparefi7tb.4 million as of December 31, 20
and compared to $14.2 million as of December 3062The aggregate value of future payments dueruratecancellable term licenses as of
December 31, 2008 includes $31.0 million of tercetise payments that we expect to recognize asuevrr2009. However, our actual term
license revenue in 2009 could be higher than $8illibn as we complete new term license agreemien2§09.
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The increase in perpetual license revenue in 208mimarily driven by an increase in the averagjaey of perpetual licenses.

Subscription revenue primarily relates to our agements that include a right to unspecified fupnaucts and is recognized ratably ¢
the term of the arrangement.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2008 2007

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 40,11¢ $ 31,19¢ $8,91¢ 29%

The increase in maintenance revenue in 2008 compar2007 was due to the continued increase im#iealled base of our software and
a larger number of new license arrangements is¢lcend half of 2007 for which a full year of maimace revenue was recognized in 2008 as
compared to a partial year in 2007. The increasedimtenance revenue was also due to inflationsajents recognized on a larger installed
base of software licenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2008 2007
Professional services revent
Consulting service $89,84: 95% $7541( 95% $14,43: 1%
Training 511¢ 5% 4,25¢ 5% 85¢ 20%
Total Professional servict $94,96( 10C% $79,66¢ 10C% $15,29! 1%

Professional services are primarily consulting e related to new license implementations. O&. Bustomers accounted for 57% of
the professional services revenue in 2008 as cadpar66% in 2007. Our European customers accotiote36% of the professional services
revenue in 2008 as compared to 24% in 2007. Thentex growth from our European customers in 2008duasto our investment in
expanding our infrastructure and sales and mar@tifcurope. The increase in professional servieesnue was partially offset by a decrease
of approximately $1.9 million as a result of a 2d@d&eline in the British pound sterling and an 11%lide in the European Euro relative to the
U.S. dollar during the last half of 2008. As a tesfithe demand for these services, we have ise@@mployee headcount in the professional
services organization by 23% to 287 employees &ecEmber 31, 2008 from 233 employees as of DeceBi)@007. In addition to our own
employees, we use contractors to provide thesécsstv

Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 (Decrease)

2008 2007
Gross Profit
Software licens: $ 76,47 $51,08¢ $25,39: 50%
Maintenance 34,72¢ 26,40¢ 8,32( 32%
Professional service 18,68¢ 19,25¢ (570 3%
Total gross profi $129,89( $96,74 $33,14: 34%
Maintenance gross marg 87% 85%
Professional services gross mar 20% 24%

The increase in software license gross profit wastd the increase in our license revenue, whichneasignificant incremental
associated direct costs.

In the third and fourth quarters of 2008, we exgreeed a decline in demand for our professionaliees\n the U.S. due to the current
economic crisis. However, we continued to hire pssfonal services employees and
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improve our capacity in anticipation of increaseanéind in the first half of 2009 associated withitteeeased new license arrangements in the
second half of 2008. The increased professionalEr expenses combined with the lower demandtessin lower utilization and lower gro
profit. We believe our investment in professioreivices will generate growth in license arrangement

Operating expenses

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2008 2007

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketin $63,79¢ $51,74: $12,05¢ 23%
As a percent of total reven 30% 32%
Selling and marketing headcot 19C 158 37 24%

The increase in selling and marketing expensegmasrily due to a $5.7 million increase in compegitn and benefit expenses
associated with higher headcount, as well as $2libmhigher sales commissions in 2008 compare#07, mainly due to an increase in our
new license arrangements in 2008 compared to ZB¢lliing and marketing expenses also increasedadaé1.6 million increase in travel
expenses associated with higher headcount andrhigbkts of travel, $0.8 million of higher recrugiand marketing agency fees associated
with hiring additional employees.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2008 2007
Research and developme
Research and developm $31,47: $26,19¢ $5,27¢ 20%
As a percent of total reven! 15% 16%
Research and development headct 162 11¢ 43 36%

The increase in research and development expensiag @008 was primarily due to a $4.0 million iease in compensation and benefit
expenses associated with higher headcount anchdilién of higher offshore contractor expenses. Ti@ease in contractor expenses related
to ongoing development and testing, support foldtest release of PRPC, and an increase in coatnates in 2008 compared to 2007. In
2008, we established a research and developmetatréerndia, for which we received favorable Spé&iconomic Zone (“SEZ”) tax status
approval from the Indian government. The centeabrexoperational in October 2008. Subsequent talttes, all expenses associated with the
facility are classified as research and developragpénses. Prior to becoming operational, the &ssolcstart-up expenses were classified as
general and administrative expenses. In conneutitinbuilding our operations in India, we incurr®@d.2 million of higher travel costs, $0.2
million of higher recruiting agency fees associatetth hiring additional employees and $0.1 milliohhigher equipment expenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2008 2007
General and administrativi
General and administrati\ $20,14( $16,85¢ $3,28¢ 19%
As a percent of total reveni 10% 10%
General and administrative headco 12¢ 10¢ 20 18%

The increase in general and administrative costisg@008 was primarily due to $3.0 million of highcompensation and benefit costs
related to increased headcount and $2.2 milliostart-up expenses for establishing our researcldemelopment center in India. In addition,
we incurred $0.5 million of higher legal fees in080primarily associated with the expansion of ourdpean operations and patent work and
$0.6
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million of higher tax planning and other tax-rethixpenses. We also incurred approximately $0.8omibf higher rent expense associated
with the additional leased space in Cambridge, Kesssetts, India, and Europe. These increasespaetially offset by $1.0 million of lower
professional fees.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseassbwith equity awards in our consolidated staets of income based on the fair
value of these awards at the date of grant. THewalg table summarizes stock-based compensatiparese included in our consolidated
statements of income in 2008 and 2007:

Year Ended December 31, Increase
(Dollars in thousands 2008 2007
Stock-based compensation exper
Cost of service $ 99t $ 49C $ 50¢ 103%
Selling and marketin 807 43€ 371 85%
Research and developmt 53¢ 13C 40¢ 315%
General and administrati\ 1,191 562 62¢ 112%
Total stocl-based compensation before 3,532 1,61¢ $1,91¢ 118%
Income tax benef (1,090 (430)
Net stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,44 $ 1,18¢

The increase in stock-based compensation exper&¥B compared to 2007 was due to stock-based awaadted in December 2007
and March 2008. As of December 31, 2008, we hadoappately $2.1 million of unrecognized stock-basednpensation expense related to
the unvested portion of all our stock options thaxpected to be recognized over a weighted-aeguagod of approximately 2.0 years. As of
December 31, 2008, we had approximately $1.9 millibunrecognized stodiased compensation expense related to the unvestiéan of all
our RSUs that is expected to be recognized ovezighted-average period of 2.1 years. See Note ig@kSBased Compensation” in the notes
to the accompanying consolidated financial stateésfm further information on our stock-based avgard

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 (Decrease’

2008 2007
Interest income, Other income and Income tax
Installment receivable interest incol $ 597 $ 1,24« $ (647) (52)%
Other interest income, n 5,02¢ 6,71¢ (1,689 (25)%
Other income (expense), r (4,437) 29 (4,467) n/m
Interest income and oth $ 1,19¢ $ 7,991  $(6,79¢) (85)%

n/m = not meaningful

The decrease in interest income in 2008 compar@0@3 was primarily due to our investment in lowilding tax-exempt municipal
bonds and the decrease in interest income froralimstnt receivables. We expect a continued redundtionterest income associated with the
installment receivables as a result of the dedjitialance of term licenses on which revenue has tEm®gnized in advance of payments.
During 2008, due to credit market turmoil and adeerhanges in the economy, we changed the mixraheestment portfolio to increase our
holdings of pre-refunded municipal bonds. Thesedsare collateralized by the issuer purchasing Ur&asury securities to fund all the cash
flows of the refunded municipal bonds that will on& when the issuer’'s bond matures.

Other income (expense), net, consists primariffoodign currency exchange gains and losses anidedalains and losses on the sale of
our investments. The decrease in other income (esg)enet, resulted primarily
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from the significant decrease in the value of fgmeturrency denominated net assets held in the th8sisting primarily of cash, license
installments, receivables, and accounts payable #sult of the significant decrease in the value British pound sterling and Euro relat
to the U.S. dollar during 2008, we recorded a $4ilbon foreign currency exchange transaction lascompared to a $0.3 million foreign
exchange transaction gain in 2007. See Iltem 7Aaftative and Qualitative Disclosure about MafResk” for further discussion of our
foreign currency exchange risk.

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes represents curradtfature amounts owed for federal, state, anddartaxes. During 2008 and 2007,
recorded a $4.7 million and $3.3 million provisioaespectively, which resulted in an effective taterof 30% and 34%, respectively.

The decrease in the effective tax rate during 2@08pared to 2007 was primarily due to the increasegstment in tax-exempt
municipal bonds and the benefit from the SEZ Indiaholiday. These decreases in the effectivedtexwere partially offset by an increase in
our reserve for uncertain tax positions.

During 2008, we recorded a charge related to posttaken on prior tax returns, which resultednnngrease of $0.9 million to our
unrecognized tax benefits, the majority of whictswelated to state income tax credits. As of Deearth, 2008, the amount of unrecognized
tax benefits totaled approximately $6.2 millionwdfich $5.2 million, if recognized would impact ceffective tax rate. We expect that the
changes in the unrecognized benefits within the tveslve months would be approximately $1.3 milli@bated to tax positions for which the
ultimate settlement is highly certain but for whibtlere is uncertainty about the timing of such gegtion.

Our effective income tax rate for 2008 was below statutory federal income tax rate due to appratety $0.5 million of benefits
related to the current period domestic producticiviies, approximately $0.8 million of estimatéetleral income tax credits, and
approximately $0.6 million of benefit from tax-exptincome. These benefits were partially offseghyincrease in the Company'’s reserve for
uncertain tax positions of $1.3 million, the mafpidf which is related to the state tax credits] permanent differences of $0.4 million
primarily related to nondeductible meals and eatenent expenses.

Our effective income tax rate for 2007 was below shatutory federal income tax rate due to appratety $0.3 million of benefits
related to the current period domestic producticiviies, approximately $0.5 million of estimatétieral income tax credits, and
approximately $0.2 million of state income tax dtedThese benefits were partially offset by $0iBiom of permanent differences primarily
related to nondeductible meals and entertainmeuereses and approximately $0.2 million of prior ygavision to tax return adjustments.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(in thousands Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie: $ 49,58 $ 38,39¢ $ 25,347
Investing activities (18,169 (13,769 (24,84")
Financing activitie: (5,049 (13,359 (251
Effect of exchange rate on ce 1,401 (1,904 453
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 27,77( $ 9,37i $ 70z
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $202,65! $167,22¢ $149,98:
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We have funded our operations primarily from casvigled by operations and we expect to continuéifughour operations in this
manner in 2010. The increase in cash, cash equigalend marketable securities in 2009 as compar2d08 was primarily due to $49.6
million of cash provided by operations offset byo&million in repurchases of our common stock & million in dividend payments to o
shareholders. The increase in cash, cash equisabamd marketable securities in 2008 as compar2dG@ was primarily due to $38.4 million
of cash provided by operations offset by $19.4iamlin repurchases of our common stock. Workingtehwas $188.6 million as of
December 31, 2009 compared to $159.1 million d3exfember 31, 2008.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalemsketable securities, and cash from operatiofidwisufficient to fund our operatio
and our share repurchase program for at leastetkiell2 months. We also evaluate acquisition oppdties from time to time, which if
pursued, could require use of our funds. Our fifrservices and insurance customers as a groupsent a significant amount of our
revenues and receivables, which we considered etgdndined did not have a material impact on owvedinces for doubtful accounts and si
credit memos as of December 31, 2009. There cawo lassurance that changes in our plans or otheteaéecting our operations will not
result in materially accelerated or unexpected edjteres.

Cash provided by operating activities

The $11.2 million increase in cash provided by afirg activities in 2009 compared to 2008 was prilpaue to the increase in our net
income partially offset by the increase in the escex benefits from stock option exercises antedeRSUs (collectively the “equity awards”).
Upon employee exercise of/vesting of the equityrdwathe Company receives a tax deduction for ifierdnce between the market value and
exercise price of the equity awards, which reduegscurrent income taxes payable. The differen¢eden this tax deduction and the
cumulative stock-based compensation expense ratardbe financial statements is the excess taefitehe increase in the excess tax
benefit in 2009 compared to 2008 is due to theifsggmt increase in the Company’s stock price dgi2009. The excess tax benefits are
reported as a decrease in cash in operating &es$idind as an increase in cash in financing aietsvit

The primary components of cash provided by opeamnatauring 2009 were $32.2 million of net incom&18.3 million increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses due tariing ©f payments, and a $5.1 million decreaseciense installments for term license
arrangements with extended payment terms, partifiibet by $15.4 million of excess tax benefitafretock option exercises.

Future Cash Receipts from License Arrangements
The following table summarizes the cash receiptsidiconnection with our existing license agreemeastof December 31, 2009.

Installment
payments for Installment Other license payments nc
licenses recorded o payments for term
licenses not recorded recorded on the balance
As of December 31(in thousands the balance sheet (. on the balance sheet (. sheet (3)
2010 $ 2,82¢ $ 29,31¢ $ 39,56¢
2011 2,23 23,53t 9,85¢
2012 1,292 16,10¢ 7,71¢
2013 — 5,76¢ —
2014 — 1,52¢ —
Thereaftel — 10 —
Total 6,35¢ $ 76,25¢ $ 57,14¢
Unearned installment interest incol (548
Total license installments receivable, $ 5,80¢
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(1) These license installment payments have already fem®gnized as license revenue and are includsldar- and lon-term license
installments in the accompanying consolidated luzatheet as of December 31, 2C

(2) These amounts will be recognized as revenue ifutinee over the term of the agreement as paymesusrbe due or earlier if prepa

(3) These amounts will be recognized as reventigtime periods and relate to perpetual and sulismnificenses with extended payment
terms and/or additional rights of u:

Cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities during 2018, and 2007 were primarily for purchases of retatile securities of $79.4 million,
$194.5 million and $109.3 million, respectivelyrialy offset by the proceeds received from thkesamaturities and called debt securities of
$67.3 million, $185.6 million and $87.2 million,sgectively.

In March 2008, we paid approximately $0.8 milliondash to acquire certain assets of privately Reltls Technology Group, Inc. and a
related entity (collectively, “Focus”), that proeisl anti-fraud and anti-money laundering softwaréhéobanking industry. In September 2009,
the parties to the original Focus asset purchasseatgent entered into an amendment of that agreesuehtthat $1.8 million of the original
potential contingent consideration was forfeited &0.3 million of the contingent consideration veasned and paid in January 2010.

Cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities during 2Q8®08, and 2007 were primarily for repurchases ofoommon stock and the payment of

our quarterly dividend. On November 24, 2009, ooaf8l of Directors approved an extension of the Bhfllion stock repurchase program

originally announced in December 2008, to includedditional $15.0 million in repurchases and tterd the end date to December 31, 2010.

Since 2004, our Board of Directors has approvediaistock repurchase programs that have authotfieetepurchase up to $75.0 million of
our common stock. Purchases under these programbenaade from time to time on the open markehqrivately negotiated transactions
market conditions warrant, subject to regulatorgt ather considerations.

Common stock repurchases

The following table is a summary of our repurchastvity under all of our stock repurchase progralmsng 2009, 2008, and 2007:

(Dollars in thousands 2009 2008 2007
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Prior year authorizations at Januarn $ 12,86: $ 1,21 $ 6,872
Authorizations 15,00( 30,00( 10,00(
Repurchases pa 673,06¢ (11,947  1,503,55! (17,969 799,34 (9,139
Repurchases unsettl 3,89¢ (13€) 32,37¢ (379 48,01t (569)
Expirations — — (5,95%)
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 15,77¢ $ 12,86 $ 1,21(

In addition to the share repurchases made undeepurchase programs, we net settled the majaridyioemployee stock option
exercises and RSU vesting, which resulted in theheiding of shares to cover the
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option exercise price and the minimum statutoryt&kholding obligations. During 2009 and 2008,ioptand RSU holders net settled stock
options and vested RSUs representing the rightitohase a total of 2,451,000 shares and 425,008sshaspectively, of which only 1,188,(
shares and 152,000 shares, respectively, weradissuke option and RSU holders and the balantleeoghares were surrendered to us to pay
for the exercise price and the applicable taxesingw2009 and 2008, instead of receiving cash fioenequity holders, we withheld shares v

a value of $8.6 million and $0.9 million, respeetiy, for withholding taxes and $22.3 million and $illion, respectively, for the exercise
price. The value of share repurchases and shatiesel for net settlement of our employee stockampexercises and vesting of RSUs offset
the proceeds received under our various share-lzasedensation plans during 2009, 2008, and 2007.

Dividends

On May 30, 2006, our Board of Directors approveaagoing quarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per sHaeginning with the second
guarter ended June 30, 2006. Accordingly, the Complaclared a cash dividend of $0.12 per sharedoh of the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007 and paid cash dividends of ddlidn, $4.4 million, and $4.3 million in 2009008, and 2007, respectively. It is our
current intention to pay a quarterly cash dividen80.03 per share to shareholders of record #sedfirst trading day of each quarter, howe
the Board of Directors may terminate or modify ttlisidend program at any time without notice.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2009, we had material purchlgations for customer support and consulting isesszand payments under
operating leases. Our principal administrativeesatarketing, support, and research and develdpopenations are located in approximately
105,000 square foot leased facility in Cambridgesbachusetts. The lease for this facility expimeil3, subject to our option to extend for
two additional five-year periods.

We also lease space for our other offices in tf& ,Australia, Canada, India, the United Kingdord amother European countries. These
leases expire at various dates through 2014. Rgeetnse under operating leases is recognized agaighgtline basis to account for scheduled
rent increases. The excess of expense over cyragnients is recorded as deferred rent and inclidadcrued expenses and other long-term
liabilities.

As of December 31, 2009, our known contractualgations, including future minimum rental paymermguired under operating leases
with non-cancelable terms in excess of one yeae asifollows:

Payment due by period

2015 anc
Contractual obligations: 2011 & 2013 &
(in thousands) Total 2010 2012 2014 after Other
Purchase obligations ( $ 1,367 $1,362 $ 5% — % — $§ —
Liability for uncertain tax positions (: 4,44; 881 — — — 3,561
Operating lease obligations ( 17,93 4,92¢ 10,627 2,47/ — —
Total $23,73¢ $7,17: $10,53: $2,47¢ $ — $3,56]

(1) Represents the fixed or minimum amounts due undexhase obligations for customer support and ctinguservices

(2) Total contractual obligations include our liabilfyr uncertain tax positions of approximately $ilion. We are unable to reasonal
estimate the timing in individual years beyond l@nths due to uncertainties in the timing of theetifve settlement of tax positions. The
Company expects that the changes in the unrecatjbzeefits within the next twelve months will bepegximately $0.9 million related
to tax positions for which the ultimate settlemisrttighly certain but for which there is uncertgiabout the timing of such recognitic
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(3) Includes deferred rent of approximately $0.4 milliacluded in accrued expenses and approximate8 iillion in other lon-term
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated batashbeet as of December 31, 2C

Fair Value Inputs

Fair value is a markdtased measurement that is determined based on @ssusrthat market participants would use in pdcam asset «
liability. The use of fair value to measure investits, with related unrealized gains or losses vastments, is a significant component to our
consolidated results of operations.

We value our investments by using quoted markeeprand broker or dealer quotations which are basedird party pricing sources
with reasonable levels of price transparency. Jpeg of instruments valued based on quoted marlasin active markets include some of
the government debt securities, some of the mualicipbt securities, money market securities and ofdte corporate debt securities. We do
not adjust the quoted price for such instrumente fiypes of instruments valued based on other wlisker inputs include most of the municipal
debt securities and some of the corporate debtitiesuThe price for each security at the measergrdate is sourced from an independent
pricing vendor. Periodically, management may asfesseasonableness of these sourced prices byacomgphem to the prices provided by
our portfolio managers to derive the fair valuarafse financial instruments. Management assesseasythts of the pricing in order to
categorize the financial instruments into the apgade hierarchy levels. See Note 5 “Fair Value Meaments” in the notes to the
accompanying consolidated financial statementéufidher discussion.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Management'’s discussion and analysis of the firmcindition and results of operations is basedqo consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordetttaccounting principles generally accepted mthS. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgitat affect the reported amounts of assetsitias, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Wiise our estimates and judgments on historicarexme, knowledge of current conditions
and beliefs of what could occur in the future giesmilable information. We consider the followinccaunting policies to be both those most
important to the portrayal of our financial conditiand those that require the most subjective judnif actual results differ significantly frc
management’s estimates and projections, there dmubdmaterial effect on our financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Our revenue is derived from software licenses, reagnce fees related to our software licensespasfdssional services. Our license
arrangements, whether involving a perpetual licemseterm license, generally contain multiple edets. In addition to the license, these
elements generally include professional consubienyices, training, and software maintenance sesvic

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@nue when the software is delivered, any accepteaquired by contract that is not
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligati@rscontingencies exist related to the softwarethan maintenance support, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable monthly basis under license agreements thatdilpihave a three to five-year term
and may be renewed for additional terms at theoowst’s option.

As a result of our focus on frequent sales to atgedted customers, our strategy to sell initiahtécensing agreements to those custor
with the goal to generate follow-on sales, and essalt of extended payment terms, we recognize lieense revenue over the term of the
agreement as payments become due or earlier ijghgprovided all other criteria for revenue rectign have been met.
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Historically, the majority of our term license argements were larger agreements with extended pdyterens that did not typically
result in follow-on license agreements. We havéstoly of successfully collecting payments under dhiginal payment terms, therefore for
these arrangements, we have recognized the presleertof the future term license payments uponoenst acceptance, provided that no
significant obligations or contingencies exist tethto the software, other than maintenance supaodt provided all other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met. A portion of the licefess payable under these agreements (equal thfteeence between the total license
payments and the discounted present value of {hegments) was initially deferred and recognizethssllment receivable interest income
(and is not part of total revenue) over the licetesm. For purposes of the present value calcuigtithe discount rates used were estimates of
customers’ borrowing rates at the time of recognittypically below prime rate. As of December 2209, the discount rates associated with
the remaining installment receivables ranged fro2%% to 6.50%. As of December 31, 2009, the remgibialance of these installment
receivables totaled approximately $5.8 million asimarized in the table on page 30.

For licensing arrangements that include a righirtspecified future products, fees are accounted$@ubscriptions and the revenue is
recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement

Maintenance revenues

Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognizeblyadaer the term of the support period. Perpeso#iivare maintenance revenue is
recognized over the term of the related maintenagceement, which is generally one year and ren@mezh annual basis thereafter. For term
licenses, we recognize the entire arrangementtably over the license term when the renewalogafgeriod is not substantive compared tc
term license. In general, maintenance and suptigadions are based on separately stated reneses in the arrangement that are deemed
substantive and therefore represent vendor spetifective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value.

Professional services revenues

Our services revenue is comprised of fees for dtingwservices, including software implementatitiajning, and reimbursable expens
Consulting services may be provided on a “standeldasis or bundled with a license and softwarentenance services.

Revenue from “stand-alone” training services anasotting services under time and materials cordrsctecognized as services are
performed. We have VSOE of fair value for our thagnservices and consulting services under timeraattrials contracts in all geographic
areas, except in Australia and a European country.

Services may be provided on a fixed-price basisd@/eot have VSOE of fair value for fixed-price\dees. When fixed-price services
are part of a multiple element arrangement, andééneices are not essential to the functionalitthefsoftware, and when services, including
maintenance, are the only undelivered elementewegnize the revenue from the total arrangemeablgbver the longer of the software
maintenance period or the service period. In tig, paa limited number of our arrangements, tRediprice services were essential to the
arrangement because we made significant alteratiootie functionality of the software or built colap interfaces necessary for the softwar
be functional in the customerenvironment. We have not been able to make raagodependable estimates for the purpose of datargoul
progress to completion, as we have limited expegemith these types of uniqgue and complex arrangemAccordingly, when the fixed-price
services are essential to the arrangement, alhtevand costs are deferred until the completichefixed-price services under the completed
contract method. Revenue from fixed-price servibas are not bundled with a software license isegalty recognized ratably during the
service period, which is typically less than fousnths.

We warrant to our customers that our software prtsdwill conform to documented specifications. W dr not experienced significant
claims related to software warranties beyond tlopsof maintenance support, which we are alreatigaibd to provide, and consequently we
have not established reserves for warranty obtigati
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Our agreements with customers generally requite usdemnify the customer against claims that aftvgare infringes third party pate
copyright, trademark or other proprietary rightsc indemnification obligations are generally lietitin a variety of industrgtandard respec
including our right to replace an infringing produés of December 31, 2009, we had not experieargdmaterial losses related to these
indemnification obligations and no claims with respthereto were outstanding. We do not expecifgignt claims related to these
indemnification obligations, and consequently, agédinot established any related reserves.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resintin customer specific acceptance provisions d@hdrarrangements for which all of
the criteria to recognize revenue have not been Deferred maintenance revenue represents softigarese updates and product support
contracts that are typically billed on an annuai®@n advance and are recognized ratably ovesupport periods. Deferred professional
services revenue represents advanced billingsofmsudting and training services that are recognaethe services are performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance foalgs credit memos

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. Our estimates are based on the compositibie accounts receivable aging, historical delots, changes in payment patterns,
customer creditworthiness and current economidseli we used different assumptions, or if thaficial condition of customers were to
deteriorate that resulted in their inability to reakequired payments, additional provisions for dhudlaccounts would be required and would
increase bad debt expense.

We record allowances for estimates of potenti@satedit memos. We base these estimates on b#dtarialyses of sales credit memos
and assumptions about future events and experieiticeustomer disputes. If we used different asgionp in calculating the allowance,
adjustments would be reflected as changes to revenu

Stock-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatesbwith equity awards in our consolidated staets of income based on the fair
value of these awards at the date of grant. Stasled compensation is recognized over the requisitéce period, which is generally the
vesting period of the equity award, and adjustexh geeriod for anticipated forfeitures. We recogrsieck-based compensation using the
ratable method, which treats each vesting transtigitwere an individual grant.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, our Board ofdgitors approved changes to our equity compensptagram, including the granting
RSUs in addition to stock options, for periodic igaompensation grants. RSUs deliver to the recipa right to receive a specified numbe
shares of our common stock upon vesting, net oivithholding. Unlike stock options, there is no ttwsthe employee at share issuance. We
value our RSUs at the fair value of our commonlstatthe grant date, which is the closing pricewf common stock on the grant date, less
the present value of expected dividends as theamaplis not entitled to dividends during the reij@iservice period. We periodically grant
stock options and RSUs for a fixed number of shiresmployees and non-employee Directors. The eseprice for stock options is greater
than or equal to the fair market value of the shatehe date of the grant.

We estimate the fair value of stock options usheyBlack-Scholes option valuation model, which ieggius to make estimates of key
assumptions including the expected term of theoopthe expected volatility of our stock price ottee option’s expected term, the risk-free
interest rate over the option’s expected term,@mdexpected annual dividend yield. The expectad & options granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercises and postagestnployment termination behavior. The expectaldtility is based on the
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historical volatility of our stock price. The exped annual dividend yield is based on the expeaitedial dividend of $0.12 per share divided
by the average stock price. The risk-free inter&tst is based on the yield of zero-coupon U.S. Simasecurities for a period that is
commensurate with the expected option term atithe of grant. If factors change and we employ défe assumptions in future periods, the
compensation expense that we record may diffeifgigntly from what we have recorded in the currpatiod.

The choice of a valuation model, and the underlgsgumptions used in applying that model, invokigaificant judgment. Our
judgment reflects our assessment of the most atecaoraethod of valuing the stock options we issuetam our historical experienc
knowledge of current conditions and beliefs of wbatld occur in the future given available inforioat Our judgment could change over time
as additional information becomes available tooushe facts underlying our assumptions change twer, and any change in our judgments
could have a material effect on our financial stetets.

See Note 13 “Stock-Based Compensation” in the notése accompanying consolidated financial statem#or further information.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitiésgusnacted tax rates for the effect of tempordiferdnces between the book and tax
bases of recorded assets and liabilities. We rezoauation allowance to reduce our deferred téxes amount we believe is more likely tl
not to be realized. We consider future taxablenme@nd prudent and feasible tax planning stratégiassessing the need for a valuation
allowance.

As a global company, we use significant judgmerdaigulate and provide for income taxes in eactheftax jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the ordinary course of our businegsethre transactions and calculations undertak@sevhltimate tax outcome cannot be certain.
Some of these uncertainties arise as a conseqoétremsfer pricing for transactions with our sutiaiies and potential challenges to nexus
credit estimates. We estimate our exposure to onédoke outcomes related to these uncertaintie®atithate the probability for such outcon
See Note 14 “Income Taxes” in the notes to the mpamying consolidated financial statements fothertinformation on the Company’s
liability for uncertain tax positions.

Although we believe our estimates are reasonablessurance can be given that the final tax outasith@ot be different from what is
reflected in our historical income tax provisioresturns, and accruals. Such differences, or chaingestimates relating to potential differences,
could have a material impact on our income tax isios and operating results in the period in whiakh a determination is made.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 “Accounting Standards Not Yet Effectiirethe notes to the accompanying consolidatedhfiied statements for further
discussion.
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ITEM 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Marke Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgatfus due to adverse changes in financial mamke¢s and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily related to fluctuations imefigh exchange rates and interest rates. To dateawe not entered into derivative or hedging
transactions to manage risk in connection with diittuations.

Foreign currency exposure

We derived approximately 34%, 38%, and 35% of otaltrevenue from sales to customers based outidie U.S. in 2009, 2008, and
2007, respectively. Our international license arafgssional services sales have increasingly bec@meminated in foreign currencies.
However, the operating expenses of our foreignatjmers are primarily denominated in foreign curieacwhich partially offset our foreign
currency exposure from sales. A decrease in theewa foreign currencies, particularly the Britisbund sterling and the Euro relative to the
U.S. dollar, could adversely impact our revenues @erating results.

Most of our transactions with customers are inviitem our offices in the U.S. For those transatithat are denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, we have receivablesliaedse installments that are valued in foreigmencies. Our U.S. operating company holds
cash in foreign currencies in order to supportfotgign operations. Our functional currency is ity the U.S. dollar, therefore, when there
are changes in the foreign currency exchange vatssis the U.S. dollar, we recognize a foreignengy transaction gain or (loss) in our
consolidated statements of income. In addition,forgign subsidiaries have intercompany accourasahe eliminated in consolidation, but 1
expose us to foreign currency exchange rate fltictmaForeign currency exchange rate fluctuatiom®or short-term intercompany accounts
are recorded as foreign currency transaction gaiiipsses) in our consolidated statements of ircohs of December 31, 2009, we had net
monetary assets valued in foreign currencies stilijdoreign currency transaction gains or (losseshsisting primarily of cash, receivables,
and license installments, partially offset by acusipayable and intercompany payables, with a teywalue of approximately $76.5 million.
A ten percent change in foreign currency exchaatgsrnwould have changed the carrying value of thesassets by approximately $7.6
million as of that date with a corresponding foreayrrency gain (loss) recognized in our consoéidatatement of income.

During 2009, we recorded a $2.1 million foreignremcy transaction gain due to the increase in #heevof foreign currencies, primarily
the Euro and British pound sterling, relative te th S. dollar.

Interest rate exposure

We invest primarily in tax-exempt municipal bongeyernment sponsored enterprise bonds and corgooatés that are fixed rate
marketable debt securities. A 200 basis point emean market interest rates would have reduceththealue of our marketable debt securi
by approximately $1.7 million as of December 31020Changes in market rates and the related ingrafeir value of the investments do not
generally affect net earnings as our investmergiaed rate securities and are classified as abigtfor-sale and as such, unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax effect, are recorded in accutedllather comprehensive income in our accompamyamgolidated balance sheets. However,
when the investments are sold, the unrealized gaiddosses are recorded as realized gains areklassl included in net income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

We analyze our investments for impairments on ajoomg basis. As of the date of this filing, we amt aware of any downgrades, los
or other significant deterioration in the fair valaf our marketable securities.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggtasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiariesqtmpany”)as of December 3.
2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statsméincome, stockholders’ equity and comprehangicome, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3B. Ahese financial statements are the respongibilithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteg@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinarficial position of Pegasystems Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008trenesults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2009, based on the criterébkstied innternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrtee Treadway Commission and our report datdsflgey 22, 2010
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Compamg&rmal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 22, 2010
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable s
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of $6#9$1,49(
Shor-term license installmen
Deferred income taxe
Income taxes receivah
Other current asse
Total current asse
Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme
Property and equipment, r
Long-term deferred income taxes and other as
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and related expe!
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Income taxes payab
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 share®er#u; no shares issued and outstan
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 70,000 shares améihr36,818 shares and 35,810 shares issue
outstanding
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Net unrealized gain on available -sale marketable securiti
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31,

2009 2008
$ 63,857 $ 36,08
138,79 131,14
202,65  167,22¢
39,39¢ 42,80:
2,82¢ 5,44¢
2,52: 4,351
5,04¢ 514
3,79¢ 3,63
256,24 223,97
2,97¢ 5,41
8,931 5,72:
8,71( 8,117
33€ 47¢
2,391 2,141
$279,58'  $245,85!(
$ 4791 $ 4,72
6,74¢ 9,92¢
23,28( 18,01
32,87( 32,23
67,68¢ 64,89
4,82¢ 5,66¢
1,84¢ 2,17t
74,36t 72,73
36¢ 35¢
121,38¢  117,92¢
81,77¢ 53,03
53¢ 1,062
1,147 (167)
20521¢ 173,11
$279,58"  $245,85!(
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Revenue
Software licens:
Maintenance
Professional service
Total revenug
Cost of revenue
Cost of software licens
Cost of maintenanc
Cost of professional servic
Total cost of revenu
Gross profi
Selling and marketin
Research and developmt
General and administrati\
Total operating expens
Income from operatior
Interest income, ne
Foreign currency transaction gain (lo
Installment receivable interest incoi
Other income (expense), r
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe

Net income
Earnings per shai
Basic
Diluted

Weighte-average number of common shares outstar
Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends declared per sh

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

41

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
$115,93:  $ 76,57 $ 51,08
50,00¢ 40,11 31,19¢
97,98( 94,96( 79,66¢
264,01 211,64 161,94¢
121 95 —
6,20% 5,39( 4,791
84,61 76,27- 60,41
90,93 81,75; 65,20:
173,07¢ 129,89( 96,74’
74,37¢ 63,79¢ 51,74:
38,86 31,47: 26,19¢
18,01 20,14( 16,85¢
131,25° 115,41 94,79¢
41,81 14,47¢ 1,957
3,14« 5,02¢ 6,71¢
2,08: (4,537) 264
347 597 1,24¢
22 104 (235)
47,41 15,67: 9,94:
15,20: 4,69t 3,347
$ 32,21:  $ 10,97 $ 6,59
$ 08 $ 0.3 $  0.1¢
$ 088 $ 0.2¢ $  0.1¢
36,20¢ 36,14¢ 35,87¢
38,11 37,60 37,43:
$ 01z $ 0.1c $  0.1c
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Retained Comprehensive Stock-
Paid-In holders’
Common Stock Capital Earnings Income Equity
Number
of Share: Amount
Balance at January 1, 20 35,30¢ $ 352 $ 118,12: $ 46,54¢ $ 1,13¢ $166,15¢
Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of agtng for income taxe — — — (1,490 — (1,490
Repurchase of common sta (847) (8) (9,696 — — (9,709
Exercise of stock optior 1,67¢ 17 10,71¢ — — 10,73¢
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase 18 — 17¢ — — 17¢
Issuance of stock awar 26 — 27t — — 27¢
Exercise of common stock warral 7 — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 1,342 — — 1,34:¢
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options net efiedred tax asset wr-off of $211 — — 2,12¢ — — 2,12¢
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,339 — (4,339
Realization of stock option tax benefit from neeogting losse — — 33z — — 332
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — e 37t
Net unrealized gain on investments avail-for-sale, net of tax $22 — — — — 35C 35C
Net income — — — 6,59¢ — 6,59¢
Total comprehensive incon 7,32(
Balance at December 31, 2C 36,19: 362 123,40: 47,32: 1,86( 172,94
Repurchase of common sta (1,53¢) (15) (18,337) — — (18,34%)
Issuance of common stock for st-based compensation pla 1,10¢ 11 5,80¢ — — 5,817
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase 24 — 26& — — 26E
Stocl-based compensation expel 22 — 3,563: — — 3,532
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity asgamet of deferred tax asset w-off of $216 — — 3,25¢ — — 3,25k
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,369) — (4,36%)
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — (2,020 (2,020
Net unrealized gain on investments avail-for-sale, net of tax of $ — — — — 1,05¢ 1,05¢
Net income — — — 10,977 — 10,977
Total comprehensive incon 10,01:
Balance at December 31, 2C 35,81( 35¢ 117,92t 53,93t 89t 173,11:
Repurchase of common sta (677) (@) (12,07¢) — — (12,089
Issuance of common stock for st-based compensation pla 1,64t 17 (4,140 — — (4,127)
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase 15 — 33t — — 33t
Exercise of common stock warrai 7 — — — — —
Issuance of stock awar 18 454 454
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 4,21¢ — — 4,21¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity asgamet of deferred tax asset w-off of $740 — — 14,67: — — 14,67
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,37)) — (4,37))
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — 1,31« 1,31«
Net unrealized loss on investments avail-for-sale, net of tax of $4 — — — — (523) (529)
Net income — — — 32,21 — 32,21:
Total comprehensive incon 33,00
Balance at December 31, 2C 36,81¢ $ 36€E $ 121,38¢ $ 81,77¢ $ 1,68¢ $205,21¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net income

Adjustment to reconcile net income to cash providgdperating activities
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftg@wards
Deferred income taxe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of investment
Stoclk-based compensation expel
(Gain) loss on sale of investmel
Loss on disposal of equipme
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat
License installment
Income taxes receivable and other current a:
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Deferred revenu
Other lon-term assets and liabilitie
Cash provided by operating activiti
Investing activities
Purchase of marketable securit
Matured and called marketable securi
Sale of marketable securiti
Payments for acquisitic
Investment in property and equipmi
Cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Payments under capital lease obliga
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Proceeds from sale of stock under Employee Stockhase Plal
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftg@wards
Dividend payments to sharehold:
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings fdrsettlement of equity awar
Common stock repurchases under share repurchageaprs
Cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equi%
Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of '
Cash and cash equivalents, end of

Supplemental disclosure
Interest paic

Income taxes pai
Non-cash investing and financing activi
Dividends payabli

Repurchases of common stock unset
Contingent consideration payal

Year ended December 31,

2009

$ 32,215

(15,41)
1,417
2,801
3,91(
4,67¢

1)
114

3,40t
5,055
(4,54¢)
16,31
63¢
(994)
49,58’

(79,447
67,32

ge,oZ)
(18,169

4,47:
33t
15,417
(4,346)
(8,596)
(12,326
(5,049)
1,401

®HBHBH B s
=
=
o
rm

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2008 2007
$ 10,97 $ 6,59
(3,47)) (2,339)
(3,806) (169)
2,15¢ 1,917
2,10¢ 28(
3,53: 1,61¢
(84) 242
08 4
3,121 (13,93
16,59: 11,79¢
44§ 1,05¢
7,39¢ 5,20¢
(947) 16,11¢
282 (3,046)
38,39¢ 25,34’
(194,47, (109,32
91,70¢ 78,01¢
93,85: 9,15¢
(79¢) —
(4,050) (2,699)
(13,769 (24,84
— (63)
6,72( 10,73¢
26E 17¢
3,471 2,33¢
(4,369) (4,307)
(904) —
(18,539 (9,13%)
(13,35/) (251)
(1,907 457
9,377 70z
26,71 26,00¢
$ 36,08: $ 26,71
$ 5 $ 6
$  4,95¢ $ 3,127
$ 1,08 $ 1,08t
$  37¢ $  56¢
$ — $ —
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) Business

The Company develops, markets, licenses, and sigppaftware to automate complex, changing busipessesses. The Company
provides implementation, consulting, training, aachnical support services to facilitate the usiso$oftware.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally accepteth@ United States of America
(“U.S.”) requires management to make estimategusiginents that affect the reported amounts of assd liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the periods
presented. Actual results could differ from thoseneates. Significant accounts with reported amebiaised on estimates and judgments
include revenue, trade and installment accountsivable, allowance for doubtful accounts, allowafwesales credit memos, deferred income
taxes, deferred revenue, and share-based compemsati

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Pegasystems Inc. and its wholly ownédigdiaries. All inter-company
accounts and transactions have been eliminateghisotidation.

(d) Presentation

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thFalgbary 22, 2010, the date the audited conselitifhancial statements were
issued. No subsequent events have taken place#witthe definition of a subsequent event thatiregdurther disclosure in this filing.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(&) Revenue recognitiol

The Company'’s revenue is derived from softwarenes, maintenance fees related to the Companyisareflicenses, and professional
services. The Company’s license arrangements, whetholving a perpetual license or a term licemggmerally contain multiple elements. In
addition to the license, these elements genenatlyde professional consulting services, trainarg] software maintenance services.

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@snue when the software is delivered, any accepteaquired by contract that is not
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligati@rscontingencies exist related to the softwareeithan maintenance support, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable mionthly basis under license agreements thatdilpihave a three to five-year term
and may be renewed for additional terms at theocust’s option.

As a result of the Company’s focus on frequentssadets targeted customers, the Company’s stratetgysell initial term licensing
agreements to those customers with the goal torgenfllow-on sales, and as a result of extendsanent terms, the Company recognizes
term license revenue over the term of the agreeasepaiyments become due or earlier if prepaid,igeavall other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Historically, the majority of the Company’s terménse arrangements were larger agreements withdedegpayment terms that did not
typically result in follow-on license agreementtelCompany has a history of successfully collegiagments under the original payment
terms, therefore for these arrangements, the Coyripasirecognized the present value of the future ieense payments upon customer
acceptance, provided that no significant obligationcontingencies exist related to the softwatteerathan maintenance support, and provided
all other criteria for revenue recognition haverbaeet. A portion of the license fees payable urtdese agreements (equal to the difference
between the total license payments and the disedpresent value of those payments) was initiagdfgided and recognized as installment
receivable interest income (and is not part ofltet@enue) over the license term. For purposeb@®ptesent value calculations, the discount
rates used were estimates of customers’ borrovétes rat the time of recognition, typically belovinge rate. As of December 31, 2009, the
discount rates associated with the remaining ilmséadt receivables ranged from 3.25% to 6.50%.

For licensing arrangements that include a righirtspecified future products, fees are accounted$@ubscriptions and the revenue is
recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement

Maintenance revenues

Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognizetlyada&er the term of the support period. Perpeto@iware maintenance revenue is
recognized over the term of the related maintenagceement, which is generally one year and ren@mezh annual basis thereafter. For term
licenses, we recognize the entire arrangementtadly over the license term when the renewalogafgeriod is not substantive compared tc
term license. In general, maintenance and supptigadions are based on separately stated renetes in the arrangement that are deemed
substantive and therefore represent vendor spetifective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value.

Professional services revenues

The Company’s services revenue is comprised offfgesaining, consulting services including soft@amplementation, and
reimbursable expenses. Consulting services maydseded on a “stand-alone” basis or bundled witit@ense and software maintenance
services.

Revenue from “stand-alone” training services anusodting services under time and materials corgrictecognized as services are
performed. The Company has VSOE of fair value farteaining services and consulting services utidez and materials contracts, in all
geographic areas, except in Australia and a Europeantry.

Services may be provided on a fixed-price basig. Company does not have VSOE of fair value fordipeice services. When fixed-
price services are part of a multiple element ayeament, and the services are not essential taitf@iénality of the software, and when
services including maintenance, are the only umdsdid element, the Company recognizes the revenaethe total arrangement ratably over
the longer of the software maintenance period erstirvice period. In the past, in a limited numifehe Company’s arrangements, the fixed-
price services were essential to the arrangemeatise the Company made significant alterationsadunctionality of the software or built
complex interfaces necessary for the software ttubetional in the customer’s environment. The Camphas not been able to make
reasonably dependable estimates for the purpodetefmining the Company’s progress to completisrtha Company has limited experience
with these types of unique and complex arrangeméwatordingly, when the fixed-price services argesdial to the arrangement, all revenue
and costs are deferred until the completion offittesd-price services under the completed contrasthiod. Revenue from fixed-price services
that are not bundled with a software license isegalty recognized ratably during the service perighich is typically less than four months.

45



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The Company warrants to its customers that itsxgo#t products will conform to documented specifarzd. The Company has not
experienced significant claims related to softwaegranties beyond the scope of maintenance supplbicth it is already obligated to provide,
and consequently it has not established reservesdioanty obligations.

The Company’s agreements with customers genedjyire it to indemnify the customer against clatheg the Company’s software
infringes third party patent, copyright, trademarlother proprietary rights. Such indemnificatidsligations are generally limited in a variety
of industry-standard respects, including the Comfzarght to replace an infringing product. As oé€ember 31, 2009, the Company had not
experienced any material losses related to thekrinification obligations and no claims with regpgbereto were outstanding. The Company
does not expect significant claims related to thiedemnification obligations, and consequently, @@mpany has not established any related
reserves.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resintin customer specific acceptance provisions d@hdrarrangements for which all of
the criteria to recognize revenue have not been Dreferred maintenance revenue represents softigarse updates and product support
contracts that are typically billed on a per anrhasis in advance and are recognized ratably oeesupport periods. Deferred professional
services revenue represents advanced billingsofesidting and training services that are recognaethe services are performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance for ales credit memos

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaaots for estimated losses resulting from the litgtif the Company’s customers
to make required payments. The Company’s estinsatebased on the composition of the accounts raloleivaging, historical bad debts,
changes in payment patterns, customer creditwa$isiand current economic trends. If the finan@abdion of the Company’s customers
were to deteriorate resulting in their inabilityrtake required payments, additional provisiongdfarbtful accounts would be required and
would increase bad debt expense.

The Company records allowances for estimates @ntiai sales credit memos. The Company bases #stigeates on historical analyses
of sales credit memos and assumptions about fetteets and experience with customer disputeselCthmpany used different assumption
calculating the allowance, adjustments would blecéfd as changes to revenue.

(b) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Diggi@t and amortization are computed using thagitdine method over the estimal
useful lives of the assets, which are three yaareduipment, including software, and five yearsféwniture and fixtures. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser ofith@t the lease or the useful life of the assetp&rs and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Company capitalizes and amortizes certain doests associated with computer software developgadirchased for internal use.
The Company amortizes capitalized software costeigdly over three years commencing on the datsdftevare is placed into service. Dur
2009, the Company capitalized $0.5 million of cotepsoftware costs related to the Company’s impleat®n of an enterprise resource
planning system for internal use. These costseararded as fixed assets in progress until placedrvice. During 2008 and 2007, the
Company did not capitalize any costs for compubétmsare developed for internal use.
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(c) Long-lived assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets foaimpent whenever events or changes in circumstandeaste that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. impat is generally assessed by comparison of ungiiged cash flows expected to be
generated by an asset to its carrying value, Wigheixception that goodwill impairment is assessedde of a fair value model at a reporting
unit level. If such assets are considered to baired, the impairment to be recognized is meashydtie amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Thepaomperformed its annual impairment test in thetfoquarters of 2009 and 2008 and
determined that goodwill was not impaired.

(d) Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs, other than ced#imare related costs, are expensed as incurggatallzation of computer software
costs for computer software developed for resadgniseupon the establishment of technical feasjhiienerally demonstrated by a working
model or an operative version of the computer safénproduct. Such costs have not been materiatwas technological feasibility is
established within a short timeframe from the safeis general availability and, as a result, nerimal costs were capitalized during 2009,
2008, and 2007.

(e) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsgmssociated with equity awards in its consglilatatements of income based
on the fair value of these awards at the date arfitgStock-based compensation is recognized oeartiuisite service period, which is
generally the vesting period of the equity award] adjusted each period for anticipated forfeitutdse Company recognizes stock-based
compensation using the ratable method, which tesath vesting tranche as if it were an individuahgg See Note 13 “Stock-based
Compensation” for discussion of the Company’s kesuaptions included in determining the fair vali@éequity awards at grant date.

(f) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held by the Qxamy consist of cash equivalents, marketable sézsjraccounts receivable, and
accounts payable. The carrying values of cash afgrits, marketable securities, accounts receivahl accounts payable approximate their
fair value. See Note 4 “Marketable Securities” &tate 5 “Fair Value Measurements” for further dissios of financial instruments that are
carried at fair value on a recurring basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities for thegomity of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries isdmat period-end exchange rates, while
revenue and expense accounts are translated awehage exchange rates during the period transaaticcurred. The resulting translation
adjustments are reflected in accumulated other cehngmsive income. Realized and unrealized exchgaiges or losses from transactions and
adjustments are reflected in foreign currency tatien gain (loss), in the accompanying consolidiatatements of income.

(h) Income taxes

The Company records deferred tax assets and tiabilising enacted tax rates for the effect of wnamy differences between the book
and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities.Jompany records a valuation
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allowance to reduce our deferred taxes to an amaeertelieve is more likely than not to be realiZEde Company considers future taxable
income and prudent and feasible tax planning giieéan assessing the need for a valuation alloaianc

As a global company, the Company uses signifiazsigient to calculate and provide for income taresaich of the tax jurisdictions in
which we operate. In the ordinary course of ouliless, there are transactions and calculationsrtaids whose ultimate tax outcome cannot
be certain. Some of these uncertainties arisecassequence of transactions and arrangements maxteaelated parties, transfer pricing for
transactions with our subsidiaries, and potentiallenges to nexus and credit estimates. The Coyngh@es not recognize a tax benefit unle:
is more-likely-than-not that the tax position Wik sustained upon examination, including resolubioany related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits of tHégrosThe tax benefit that is recorded for thessifions is measured at the largest amount of
benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely @fly realized upon ultimate settlement. See Notdricbme Taxes” for further information.

3. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

In September 2009, ASU 2009-13, Revenue Recogr(fiopic 605) — Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangents (“ASU 2009-13")
was issued and will change the accounting for ipleideliverable arrangements to enable vendorsdouat for products or services
(deliverables) separately rather than as a comhinédSpecifically, this guidance amends the datén Subtopic 605-2Revenue
Recognitio-Multiple-Element Arrangementfgr separating consideration in multiple-deliveeblrangements. This guidance establishes a
selling price hierarchy for determining the selliprice of a deliverable, which is based on: (a)darspecific objective evidence; (b) third-
party evidence; or (c) estimates. This guidance elisninates the residual method of allocation eeglires that arrangement consideration be
allocated at the inception of the arrangementltdediverables using the relative selling price hoet. In addition, this guidance significantly
expands required disclosures related to a venduwuliple-deliverable revenue arrangements. ASU 200% effective prospectively for
revenue arrangements entered into or materiallyifirddn fiscal years beginning on or after June 2810 with early adoption permitted. The
impact of ASU 2009-13 on the Company’s consoliddireancial statements will depend on the naturetenas of the Company’s revenue
arrangements entered into or materially modifigdrahe adoption date. However, based on the Coypanrrent customer arrangements, the
Company does not believe the adoption of this ASlUhave a material impact on the Company’s cortaikd financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, ¥alue Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820)prdning Disclosures about
Fair Value Measurements (“ASU 2010-06"), which adefopic 820 to add new requirements for disclasatmut transfers into and out of
Levels 1 and 2 and separate disclosures aboutgeasshsales, issuances, and settlements reldtegde¢b3 measurements. ASU 2010-06 also
clarifies existing fair value disclosures about lineel of disaggregation and about inputs and tednaechniques used to measure fair value.
The ASU is effective for the first reporting peribdginning after December 15, 2009, except fordggirements to provide the Level 3 acti
of purchases, sales, issuances, and settlemeatgmss basis, which will be effective for fiscabys beginning after December 15, 2010, and
for interim periods within those fiscal years. Faatloption is permitted.
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4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

(in thousands) December 31, 2009
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securities
Municipal bonds $112,12° 601 (5) $112,72:
Government sponsored enterprise bc 19,65( 17 (107) 19,56(
Corporate bond 6,51 — (4) 6,51:
Marketable securitie $138,29: 61¢€ (11¢€) $138,79¢
(in thousands) December 31, 2008
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securities
Municipal bonds $119,84: 1,05¢ (3) $120,89¢
Government sponsored enterprise bc 5,99¢ 19 — 6,01¢
Corporate bond 4,23( 18 (20 4,22¢
Marketable securitie $130,07: 1,092 (23 $131,14:

The Company considers debt securities with magasritf three months or less when purchased, tosteerfuivalents. Purchases and ¢
of securities are recorded on a settlement-datie.dagerest is recorded when earned. All of thenPany’s investments are classified as
available-for-sale and are carried at fair valuthwinrealized gains and losses recorded as a canpohaccumulated other comprehensive
income. The Company determines the appropriatsifilzeion of its investments in debt securitieshes time of purchase and esaluates suc
determination at each balance sheet date. The Gurigp@avestments in government sponsored enterprisdsbiaclude debt securities that r
not be backed by the full faith and credit of th&UGovernment. During 2008, due to credit mankehbil and adverse changes in the
economy, the Company changed the mix of its inveatrportfolio to increase its holdings of pre-refed municipal bonds. These bonds are
collateralized by the issuer purchasing U.S. Treasecurities to fund all the cash flows of theurefed municipal bonds that will mature when
the issuer’'s bond matures. As of December 31, 2@08aining maturities of marketable debt securitéggyed from January 2010 to July 2011.
Proceeds from available-for-sale securities thaevwseld, matured or called during 2009 were $67IBom with gross realized gains of $0.1
million and no gross realized losses. Proceeds freailable-for-sale securities that were sold, metwor called during 2008 were $185.6
million with gross realized gains of $0.3 millionagross realized losses of $0.2 million. Procdeata available-for-sale securities that
matured or were called during 2007 were $87.2 amillivith gross realized losses of $0.2 million andynoss realized gains. Specific
identification of the individual securities was dde determine the basis on which the gain or\eas calculated.
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The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesnd fair value of the Company’s investmentd) witrealized losses that are not
deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggpesd by investment category and length of timeittdividual securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position as of Decer8theR009. All of these investments have been inraealized loss position for less than 12
months.

(in thousands) Less than 12 months

Unrealized
Fair

Description of Securities Value Losses

Government sponsored enterprise bc $11,96 $ (107)

Municipal bonds 10,47: (5)

Corporate bond 2,95 4

Totals $25,38¢ $ (11¢)

The Company analyzes its investments for impairsmentan ongoing basis. Factors considered in detergnwhether a loss is
temporary include the length of time and extenwbich the securities have been in an unrealizes position and the Company’s ability and
intent to hold the investment for a period of timficient to allow for any anticipated market reeoy. The Company has the ability and intent
to hold the investments with unrealized lossed anticipated recovery of fair value, which mayrbeturity. Therefore, the Company does not
consider these investments to be other-than-temipoiapaired as of December 31, 2009.

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representing the anthet would be received from the sale of an agsphid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantsséch, fair value is a market-based measuremensitoalld be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would useiging an asset or liability. As a basis for corsidg such assumptions, a three-tier value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in meang fair value, was established as follows: @led) observable inputs such as quoted p
in active markets; (Level 2) inputs other thandleted prices in active markets that are obsenwiliter directly or indirectly; and (Level 3)
unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which requires the Company to devigdopwn assumptions. This hierarchy
requires the Company to use observable market dhtn) available, and to minimize the use of unolzgge inputs when determining fair
value. On a recurring basis, the Company measensit financial assets and liabilities at fairuglincluding the Company’s marketable
securities.

The Company’s investments are classified withindleévor Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy becatlsy are valued using quoted
market prices, or broker dealer quotations andirmpticing compiled by third party pricing vendorsspectively, which are based on third
party pricing sources with reasonable levels aigtransparency.
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The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s cash egjents and marketable securities at fair valussifollows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
December 31 Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Cash equivalent $ 9,88( $ 9,88( $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 112,72: $ 27,15 $ 85,57
Government sponsored enterprise bc 19,56( — 19,56(
Corporate bond 6,51 6,51 —
Total marketable securitie $ 138,79¢ $ 33,66¢ $ 105,13:
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
December 31 Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Cash equivalent $ 10,51: $ 10,512 $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 120,89t $ 36,77¢ $ 84,12(
Government sponsored enterprise bc 6,01¢ 3,007 3,011
Corporate bond 4,22¢ 4,22¢ —
Total marketable securitie $ 131,14: $ 44,011 $ 87,13:

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringi8as

Nonfinancial assets, such as property and equipraadtintangible assets are recognized at fairevatuen they are deemed to be other-
than-temporarily impaired. During 2009, the Compdit/not recognize any impairment on any assetsafgameasured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis.

6. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCES

Trade accounts receivable balances, which confsistied and unbilled amounts, were $39.4 milliardg$42.8 million as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Tradeusnts receivable includes $6.0 million and $6.4iarilas of December 31, 2009 and 2(
respectively, for services earned under time annaharrangements that had not been invoiceldeaehd of the respective period. The
Company'’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $6illion at December 31, 2009 and $0.4 million acBmber 31, 2008.
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The Company also records allowances for estimdtpstential sales credit memos when the relatedmeg is recorded and reviews

those allowances periodically. The following refethe activity of the allowance for sales credémos for each of three years ended
December 31:

(in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Balance at beginning of ye $1,12¢ $ 98¢ $ 1,23¢
Provision for credit memc 2,60( 1,77 1,16(
Credit memos issue 3,185 1,63¢) 1,412
$ 54C $1,12¢ $ 98¢

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31 December 31

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Computer equipmet $ 6,654 $ 6,392
Leasehold improvemen 5,71¢ 3,62(
Furniture and fixture 2,22 2,94¢
Computer software purchas 1,342 1,49t
Computer software developed for internal 721 721
Fixed assets in progre 694 —
17,35 15,17¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (8,42)) (9,459
Property and equipment, net of accumulated degreciand amortizatiol $ 8,931 $ 5,72

The majority of the fixed assets in progress afwswe development costs related the Company’semphtation of an enterprise
resource planning system for internal-use.

Depreciation expense was approximately $2.5 mill&i7 million, and $1.5 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2009, 2008, and
2007. Amortization expense was approximately $0IBom, $0.5 million, and $0.5 million for the yemended December 31, 2009, 2008, and
2007.

8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill represents the residual purchase pricd jmaa business combination after all identifiededs have been recorded. Goodwill is
not amortized, but is tested annually for impairttigncomparing estimated fair value to its carrysadue. The Company performed the annual
impairment test in the fourth quarters of 2009 2068 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.

On March 21, 2008, the Company acquired certaietass privately held Focus Technology Group, bntd a related entity (collectivel
“Focus”). Focus provides software products to taeking industry designed to detect and prevennfiia fraud and money laundering. The
Company believes that the acquisition extends tha@any’s software capabilities and frameworks wétbpect to its anti-fraud and antieney
laundering offerings to the Company’s customer® iHitial consideration for the acquisition was apgmately $0.8 million in cash, including
transaction costs. In addition to the initial puast consideration, up to approximately $2.1 milbéontingent consideration could have
become due to the former owners of Focus, basélebachievement of certain performance milestondssales targets during a period of 30
months from the
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acquisition date. As a result of the purchase mlkation, the Company recorded intangible asse$0.8 million, consisting of $0.5 million

of technology designs, $0.1 million of non-compageeements and $0.2 million of goodwill which isidetible for tax purposes. In September
2009, the parties to the original Focus asset mselagreement entered into an amendment of thegragnt such that $1.8 million of the
original potential contingent consideration waddded and $0.3 million of the contingent considiemawas earned and paid in January 2010.
The Company recorded the additional $0.3 millionsideration as an increase to goodwill in 2009. fEsellts of the operations of Focus were
included in the results of operations of the Conypflaom the date of acquisition and were nominal.

The following table presents the change in they@agramount of goodwill:

(in thousands) 2009 2008

Balance as of January $2,141  $1,93:
Goodwill acquired during the ye — 20¢
Adjustments to goodwill balanc 25C —
Balance as of December & $2,391  $2,141

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and prilhciggoresent technology acquired in business caatimns or from third parties.
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line bamsisr the assets’ estimated useful lives. The tlclygy designs and non-compete agreements
are being amortized over their estimated usefekliof four and five years, respectively.

Amortized intangible assets consist of the follogvin

Accumulated Net Book
(in thousands) Cost Amortization Value
As of December 31, 200
Technology design $ 49C $ (21¢) $ 27z
Non-compete agreemer 10C (36) 64
Intellectual propert 1,40( $ (1,400 —
Total $1,99( $ (1,659 $ 33€
As of December 31, 200
Technology design $ 49C $ (95 $ 39t
Non-compete agreemer 10C (16) 84
Intellectual property 1,40(C (1,400 —
Total $1,99( $ (1,51) $ 47¢

Amortization expense for acquired technology desigd non-compete agreements was $0.1 million, 8@libn, and $0 for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, resplgctiugure estimated amortization expense is $0lllom, $0.1 million, $47,000 and
$4,000 for the years ended December 31, 2010, ZWMP, and 2013, respectively.

9. RESTRICTED CASH

The Company has approximately $0.8 million of riegtd cash related to amounts deposited to sedetéea of credit for its Cambridge,
Massachusetts office operating lease and is indliéong-term other assets in the accompanyingalitated balance sheet.
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10. DEFERRED REVENUE

December 31 December 31
(in thousands) 2009 2008
Software licens: $ 4,41: $ 12,74(
Maintenance 22,03¢ 15,68¢
Professional services and otl 6,41¢ 3,80¢

$ 32,87( $ 32,23

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Companys principal administrative, sales, marketing, suppnd research and development operations aa¢eldén an approxims
105,000 square foot leased facility in Cambridgasbachusetts. The lease for this facility expine0il3, subject to the Company’s option to
extend for two additional five-year periods. Then@pany also leases space for its other officesantts., Australia, Canada, India, the United
Kingdom and in other European countries. Theseskeazpire at various dates through 2014.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s future mimimrental payments required under operating leagbson-cancelable terms in
excess of one year were as follows:

Operating
(in thousands)
For the calendar year Leases

2010 $ 4,92¢
2011 5,17¢
2012 5,351
2013 2,17
2014 297

$17,93(

Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadstraight-line basis to account for scheduled ircreases and a landlord tenant
allowance. The excess of expense over current paigneerecorded as deferred rent and includeddruad expenses and other long-term
liabilities. As of December 31, 2009, deferred rehapproximately $0.4 million was included in ased expenses and approximately $1.8
million was included in other long-term liabiliti&s the accompanying consolidated balance sheél Tent expense under operating leases
was approximately $5.3 million for each of the yeanded December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectivedywas $4.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company did not hayeuaconditional purchase obligations.

The Company is a party in various contractual dispuitigation and potential claims arising in tivelinary course of business. The
Company does not believe that the resolution afghmatters will have a material adverse effect®firiancial position or results of operatic
Accordingly, no material accruals have been madbgdCompany’s consolidated balance sheets refatsaglch contract disputes, litigation or
potential claims.
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12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares d&rpeefstock, which may be issued from time to imene or more series. The Bo:
of Directors has the authority to issue the shafgseferred stock in one or more series, to estalthe number of shares to be included in each
series, and to fix the designation, powers, prefege and rights of the shares of each series anguidifications, limitations or restrictions
thereof, without any further vote or action by #teckholders. The issuance of preferred stock cdetalease the amount of earnings and asset:
available for distribution to holders of commoncitpand may have the effect of delaying, deferandefeating a change in control of the
Company. The Company had not issued any shareefgfrped stock through December 31, 2009.

(b) Common stock

The Company has 70,000,000 authorized shares ahoonstock, $0.01 par value per share, of whichB3§365 shares were issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2009.

Since 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors hgsamed stock repurchase programs that have au#bti'e Company to repurchase
in the aggregate up to $75.0 million of its comnstock. Purchases under these programs may be readarket conditions warrant, subject to
regulatory and other considerations, from timdrteeton the open market or in privately negotiatadgactions.

The following table is a summary of the Companggurchase activity under all of the Company’s repase programs for the years
ended December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Prior year authorizations at Januan $ 12,86: $ 1,21C $ 6,87-
Authorizations 15,00( 30,00( 10,00(
Repurchases pa 673,06¢ (11,94°) 1,503,55. (17,969 799,34 (9,13
Repurchases unsettl 3,89¢ (13€) 32,37¢ (379 48,01 (569)
Expirations — — (5,959
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 15,77¢ $ 12,86 $ 1,21(C

(c) Dividends

On May 30, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directgygraved an ongoing quarterly cash dividend of $@&3share, beginning with the
second quarter ended June 30, 2006. AccordinglyCtimpany declared $0.12 per share, for the yealesdeDecember 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007, and paid cash dividends of $4.3 million, $#idion, and $4.3 million for the years ended Dedxer 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007,
respectively.

(d) Warrants summary

In November 2007, the Company issued 5,815 shdiies@mmmon stock in connection with the exer@§previously issued warrants to
International Business Machines Corporation (“IBMfY) accordance with the net exercise provisionthigfwarrant, the Company withheld
20,923 shares of the Company’s common stock torabeeexercise price, which shares were valueg@toximately $0.3 million, based on
the average closing price of the Company’s comntocksover the five consecutive trading days endinghe day prior to the exercise date.
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In November 2007 and August 2009, the Company ¢41&06 shares and 7,264 shares of its common,sespectively, in connection
with the exercise of warrants originally issuecag of the consideration for its acquisition ofithichin 2002. These warrants were exercise
former stockholders of 1mind. In accordance with let exercise provisions of these warrants, thagamy withheld 102 shares and 214
shares of the Company’s common stock to coverxbecese price of the warrant, which shares weraeglkat approximately $1,200 and
$6,400, respectively, based on the average clgsing of the Company’s common stock over the terseoutive trading days ending on the
third trading day prior to the exercise date. T8®iance of these shares was made in reliance exeamption from registration provided by
Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933.

As of December 31, 2009, there were outstandingams to purchase 3,567 shares of the Company’snconstock with an exercise
price of $0.85 per share. These warrants expig®ip.

13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The majority of the Company’s stock-based compémsarrangements vest over either a four or fivar yesting schedule and our stock
options have a ten-year term. The Company recogsirek-based compensation using the ratable metttach treats each vesting tranche as
if it were an individual grant.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company’sfbof Directors approved changes to its equity memsation program, including the
granting of restricted stock units (“RSUSs") in atitath to stock options, for periodic equity compeimagrants. RSUs deliver to the recipient a
right to receive a specified number of shares ef@ompany’s common stock upon vesting. Unlike stmafions, there is no cost to the
employee at share issuance. The Company valuBSliis at the fair value of our common stock on ttegdate, which is the closing price of
our common stock on the grant date, less the presére of expected dividends, as the employeet®ntitled to dividends during the
requisite service period. Upon vesting of the RSbls,Company withholds shares of common stock iaraaunt sufficient to cover its
minimum statutory tax withholding obligations amsgues shares of its common stock for the remagmimgunt.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company’saRbof Directors also approved the election by @ygés to receive 50% of their
target incentive compensation under the Compangtp@ate Incentive Compensation Plan (the “CICR’thie form of RSUs instead of cash,
beginning with the CICP for 2008. If elected byeanployee, the equity amount is equal in value enddte of grant to 50% of his or her target
incentive opportunity, based on the employee’s Isat&ry. The number of RSUs granted is determiyedivading 50% of the employee’s
target incentive opportunity by the fair value dR8U on the grant date. If elected, the equity goaours during the open trading period
following the release of the prior year's finandgiasults and vests 100% on the CICP payout dateedbllowing year for all participants.
Vesting is conditioned upon threshold funding & @ICP and on continued employment; if thresholtifng does not occur, the equity grant
will be cancelled. The Company recognizes the aasat stock-based compensation expense over thésitegservice period beginning on the
grant date and ending on the vest date.

Beginning in December 2007, the Company beganrgspptions that allow for the settlement of vestextk options on a net share basis
(“net settled stock options”), instead of settletgith a cash payment (“cash settled stock optipri&/ith net settled stock options, the
employee does not surrender any cash or sharesexgocise. Rather, the Company withholds the nurabshares to cover the option exerc
price and the minimum statutory tax withholdingightions from the shares that would otherwise bedd upon exercise. The employee
receives the number of shares equal to the nunflmgtions being exercised less the number of shaesssary to satisfy the cost to exercise
the options and, if applicable, taxes due on egerbased on the
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fair value of the shares at the exercise date.sétteement of vested stock options on a net shasis besults in fewer shares issued by the
Company. In 2009 and 2008, the Company began offexertain employees the opportunity to convertageioutstanding cash settled stock
options to net settled stock options. During 2068 2008, option and RSU holders net settled stptioins and vested RSUs representing the
right to purchase a total of 2,451,000 shares &ad000 shares, respectively, of which only 1,188,80d 152,000 shares, respectively, were
issued to the option and RSU holders and the balahthe shares were surrendered to the Compapgytéor the exercise price and the
applicable taxes.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, the Compamoard of Directors approved the granting of RSldsiddition to stock options, to
new employees.

Share-Based Compensation Plans:
(a) 1994 Long-term Incentive Plan

In 1994, the Company adopted a 1994 Long-Term hiceRlan (as amended in 2003, the “1994 Planfjrtvide employees, Directors
and consultants with opportunities to purchasekstioough incentive stock options and non-qualiféack options. In addition to options,
participants under the 1994 Plan were eligibleetive stock appreciation rights, restricted stutt long-term performance awards. The
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directosofhpensation Committee”) administers the 1994 Reamerally, the exercise price of
options granted under the plan was equal to tmerfarket value of the underlying common stock andhate of grant. Options granted unde
1994 Plan generally vest over four years and expirkater than ten years from the date of granofABecember 31, 2009, options to purchase
an aggregate of approximately 963,000 shares ofremmstock were outstanding under the 1994 Plan Cldrepany does not intend to issue
any additional options or make any other awardeutite 1994 Plan in the future.

(b) 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 1996 Non-Employeeckir Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), whiprovided for the grant to
non-employee Directors of the Company of optiongurchase shares of its common stock. All sharéwaded for issue under this plan have
been awarded. Beginning in July 2006, in lieu @frging fully vested options, the Company grantsehaf its common stock to is non-
employee directors under the 2004 Long-term ingerpiian, as described below. Originally, the Dioedlan provided for the grant to non-
employee Directors on the date he or she firstineca Director of an option to purchase 30,000 shafeommon stock at a price equal to the
fair market value thereof on the date of granthspygtions to vest in equal annual installments diveryears. In 1999, the Director Plan was
amended to provide for (i) the grant to non-empéolérectors on the date he or she first becameectoir of an option to purchase 30,000
shares of common stock at a price per share egulaétfair market value thereof on the date of grsunch options to vest in equal annual
installments over three years and (ii) the grargaoh non-employee Director at the time of the leegueeting of the Board of Directors
following the annual meeting of stockholders (comuieg in 2000), of a fully vested option to purchd®,000 shares of common stock at a
price per share equal to the fair market valueethfeon the date of grant. The Compensation Comenéthministers the Director Plan. As of
December 31, 2009, options to purchase an aggrefjafgroximately 160,000 shares of common stodlewetstanding under the Director
Plan.

(c) 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In 2004, the Company adopted a 2004 Long-Term linceiPlan (the “2004 Plan”) to provide employeesntemployee Directors and
consultants with opportunities to purchase stocugh incentive stock options and non-qualifieccktoptions. In addition to options, eligible
participants under the 2004 Plan may be grantezk sto

57



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

purchase rights and other stdoétsed awards. As of December 31, 2009, a total0f07000 shares of common stock had been authavizeet
the 2004 Plan and approximately 2,978,000 shares suthject to outstanding options and stock-basedds. Beginning in June 2006, each
member of the Company’s Board of Directors (ext¢kptCompany’s Chairman and Chief Executive Office@ntitled to receive on an annual
basis a number of shares of common stock, whidf &arch 2009 was equal to $70,000, divided byfdiemarket value of its common stock
on the grant date. The Compensation Committee dstimia the 2004 Plan. Generally, the exercise miamtions granted under the plan is
equal to the fair market value of the underlyingnooon stock on the date of grant.

(d) 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted a 2006 Employee Frackhase Plan (the “2006 ESPP”) pursuant to wiielCtompany’s employees are
entitled to purchase up to an aggregate of 50056@€es of common stock at a price equal to 85%eofdir market value of the Company’s
common stock on either the commencement date opletion date for offerings under the plan, whichegdess, or such higher price as the
Company’s Board of Directors may establish frometita time. Until the Compang'Board of Directors determines otherwise, the Bdeas se
the purchase price at 95% of the fair market valu¢he completion date of the offering period. Agsult, the 2006 Stock Purchase Plan is
non-compensatory and is tax qualified. TherefosegfaDecember 31, 2009, no compensation expensedeio shares issued under the plan
had been recognized. As of December 31, 2009, appately 57,000 shares had been issued thereunder.

Shares reserve

As of December 31, 2009, there were approximat€$@ 000 shares remaining for issuance for futgretg grants under the Compasy’
stock plans, consisting of approximately 1,597,868res under the 2004 Plan and approximately 4830@res under the 2006 ESPP. There
were no shares available for future equity grantien the 1994 Plan or the Director Plan.

Equity grants, Assumptions and Activity

The Company periodically grants stock options aBdR for a fixed number of shares to employees amdemployee Directors. The
exercise price for stock options is greater thaaqural to the fair market value of the shareseatthte of the grant. During 2009, the Company
issued approximately 1,660,000 shares to its enegloyinder the Company’s share-based compensatios ghd approximately 18,000 shares
to its non-employee Directors.

The following table presents the stock-based cosgéon expense included in the Company’s cons@ilatatements of income for
2009, 2008, and 2007.

Year ended Year ended Year ended

(in thousands, except per share amount: December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C
Stoclk-based compensation exper

Cost of service $ 1,09¢ $ 99t $ 49(

Operating expenst 3,571 2,530 1,12¢
Total stocl-based compensation before 4,67 3,53: 1,61¢
Income tax benefi (1,689 (1,090 (430
Net stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,98¢ $ 2,44 $ 1,18¢
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Stock Options

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes option valuation model Keuts used to estimate the fair
value of stock options include the exercise pricthe award, the expected term of the option, #peeted volatility of the Company’commor
stock over the option’s expected term, the risle-fregerest rate over the option’s expected terrd,tha Company’s expected annual dividend
yield. The amount of sto-based compensation recognized during a periodsedon the value of the portion of the awardsataultimately
expected to vest. Forfeitures are estimated dirtteeof grant and revised, if necessary, in subsegperiods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Based on the review of histoficéiture data for the Company’s employees, aruahforfeiture rate of 5-20% has been
applied and is re-evaluated and adjusted as negetiimately, the Company recognizes the actugksse over the vesting period only for
the shares that vest. The weighted-average graetfaia value for stock options granted in 2009020and 2007 was $10.15, $4.75, and $5.44
per share, respectively.

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Bbabloles option valuation model are as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C
Expected volatility (1 41% 46% 53%
Expected term in years ( 6.1 5.9 5.6
Risk-free interest rate (¢ 2.52% 2.3€% 4.02%
Expected annual dividend yield ( 0.81% 1.0 1.1%

(1) The expected volatility for each grant is detigred based on the average of historical weekigeprhanges of the Company’s common
stock over a period of time which approximatesedkpected option tern

(2) The expected option term for each grant isrd@teed based on the historical exercise behaviengfloyees and post-vesting
employment termination behavic

(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of -coupon U.S. Treasury securities for a period thabmmensurate with the expec
option term at the time of grar

(4) The expected annual dividend yield is based omikightec-average of the dividend yield assumptions useditions granted during t
applicable period. The expected annual dividermh&ed on the expected dividend of $0.12 per sparegjear ($0.03 per share, per
guarter times 4 quarters) divided by the averageksprice.

The Company elected to adopt the alternative tiiansinethod (“short cut method”) in calculating ithieistorical APIC pool of windfall
tax benefits in regards to its share-based comgiensa
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The following table summarizes the combined stqutkom activity under the Company’s stock optionngddor the years ended
December 31, 2009:

Net settlec Weighted-
Cash settlec Weighted- average Aggregate
options (in average remaining intrinsic value
options (in exercise contractual
thousands) thousands price term (in years) (in thousands
Options outstanding as of January 1, 2 1,202 5,04t $ 9.0¢
Granted — 32C 25.9:
Converted (cash settled to net settl (94) 94 9.5¢
Exercisec (457) (2,315 9.74
Cancellec (29 (97) 12.61
Options outstanding as of December 31, 2 622 3,047 $ 9.9t
Weightec-average exercise price of optic
outstanding as of December 31, 2( $ 88t $ 10.1¢
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31,
2009 57C 2,73¢ $ 9.4F 5.1¢€ 56,43(
Weighted-average exercise price of options vest
and expected to vest as of December 31, : $ 8.7¢ $ 9.5¢
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 492 2,107 $ 7.74 4.24 68,26
Weighted-average exercise price of options
exercisable as of December 31, 2! $ 8.6: $ 7.2

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options eised (i.e., the difference between the marketepaicexercise and the price paid by the
employee at exercise) in 2009, 2008, and 2007 wa83$million, $7.6 million, and $7.5 million, resgaely. The aggregate intrinsic value of
stock options outstanding and exercisable as oéDéer 31, 2009 is based on the difference betweenldsing price of the Company’s stock
of $34.00 on December 31, 2009 and the exercise pfithe applicable stock options.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had unrecedribmpensation expense related to the unvestédrpof stock options of
approximately $2.9 million that is expected to beagnized as expense over a weighted-average peragproximately 2.3 years.

RSUs

The weighted-average grant-date fair value for Rtdsted in 2009, 2008, and 2007 was $27.29, $1a®8$11.71, respectively. The
following table summarizes the combined RSU agtifar periodic grants and the CICP under the 204 For the year ended December 31,
20009.

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Grant-Date Contractual Value
(in thousands Fair Value Term (in years) (in thousands
Nonvested at January 1, 20 412 $ 11.41
Granted 17¢€ 27.2¢
Vested (13€) 10.9¢
Forfeited (20) 12.9¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2(C 432 $ 17.9¢ 1.9z $ 14,61¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 303 $ 18.2¢ 1.7: $ 10,29:
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The RSUs associated with periodic grants vest fiveryears with 20% vesting after one year andrémeaining 80% vesting in equal
guarterly installments over the remaining four gedihe RSUs granted in connection with the 2009FCMlI vest 100% on March 10, 2010,

the CICP payout date. The Company expenses itk-btsed compensation under the ratable method hvitéats each vesting tranche as if it
were an individual grant.

The fair value of RSUs vested in 2009 and 2008 $&8 million and $0.5 million, respectively. No RSMested in 2007. The aggregate
intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding and expectedkest as of December 31, 2009 is based on theelifte between the closing price of the
Company'’s stock of $34.00 on December 31, 2009zanal.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approeimn&B.8 million of unrecognized compensation cesdted to all unvested RSUs
that is expected to be recognized as expense aveighted-average period of 2.4 years.

14. INCOME TAXES
The components of income before provision for inedaxes are as follows for the years ended DeceBiber

(in thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Domestic $42,51:  $13,22.  $8,34:

Foreign 4,90z 2,451 1,59¢
Total $47,41¢ $15,67: $9,94:

The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Current:
Federal $10,78¢ $ 6,947 $2,281
State 1,44 647 35C
Foreign 1,56/ 907 87¢
Total current 13,79( 8,501 3,51(
Deferred:
Federal 89¢ (2,657 582
State 671 (1,063) (699)
Foreign (157) (92 (46)
Total deferrec 1,41 (3,80€6) (163)
Total provision $15,20: $ 4,69¢ $3,34

Total provision (benefit
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The effective income tax rate differed from thetgtiary federal income tax rate due to the following

2009 2008 2007
Statutory federal income tax re 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit andtedits 1.8 (1.4) (2.4)
Permanent difference 0.8 2.7 3.3
Extraterritorial income exclusion and domestic protgbn activities (1.9 (3.9 (3.2
Federal research and experimentation cr¢ (0.9 (4.9 (4.6)
Tax effects of foreign activitie (1.1 (1.6) (0.9
Tax-exempt incom:e (1.8 (3.9 —
Provision to return adjustmer 0.1 0.3 15
Tax exposure resen 2.7 8.3 1.9
Valuation allowanct 0.t (1.3 1.C
Other 07 02 _2.0
Effective income tax rat 32.1% 30.0% 33.71%

The difference in the Company’s effective fedeaal tate for 2009 as compared to the statutorywateprimarily the result of changes to
the following tax provision items: domestic prodoatactivities, tax-exempt income, and a reductiothe Companys reserve for uncertain t
positions, all of which reduced the Company’s dffectax rate. These decreases in the rate wesetdfly permanent differences for meals and
entertainment and a change in the Company’s effestiate tax rate.

The Company has recorded a liability for uncertainmatters, both domestic and foreign, which lidyes could result in additional tax
being due. Any additions or reductions to the ligbfor uncertain tax matters will be reflectedtire Company’s effective tax rate in the period
that additional facts become known.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeEtemporary differences between the carrying ammohassets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts useth€ome tax purposes. Significant componentsbfleferred tax assets and liabilities are
as follows:

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Software revenu $ 607 $ 1,99(
Depreciatior 521 487
Accruals and reserve 5,20z 5,25¢
Unrealized loss on investmet 35 @)
Intangibles 58 27
Tax credit carry forward 3,87: 3,70C
Net deferred tax asse 10,29¢ 11,45:
Less valuation allowance (257) —
Net deferred income tax: $10,03¢ $11,45:

Reported as
Current deferred tax ass $ 2,52¢ $ 4,351
Long-term deferred income tax ass 7,51t 7,101
Net deferred income tax $10,03¢ $11,45:

A valuation allowance has been provided for certiferred tax assets when it is more likely thantinat the Company will not realize
the entire benefit of the assets. The $0.3 mililamease in the valuation allowance
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during 2009 was a valuation allowance recordedragatate research credits generated during tmertyrear. The $0.2 million decrease in the
valuation allowance during 2008 was primarily daefte realization of benefits related to capitakles.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had avai&®I@ million of state tax research and experiméngt'R&E”) and investment tax
credits expiring in the years 2012 through 2024.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreignssdilaries amounted to approximately $14.8 millisrodDecember 31, 2009. The
Company has not provided any additional federatate income taxes or foreign withholding taxesr@nundistributed earnings as such
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in tigress.

The Company adopted the provisions of accountingificertain tax positions on January 1, 2007. Assalt, the Company recorded the
cumulative effect of applying the provisions of agnting for uncertain tax positions and record&d & million reduction to the January 1,
2007 retained earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending baksof the total amounts of gross unrecognized ¢evetits is as follows:

(in thousands) 2009 2008

Balance as of January $ 6,201 $9,82¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 12¢ 45(C
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 50 86C
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (1,939) (4,939
Balance as of December & $ 4,44: $ 6,201

Included in the total unrecognized tax benefitabeé as of December 31, 2009 were $0.9 milliomwofbsitions for which the ultimate
settlement is highly certain but for which thereireertainty about the timing of such deductibilibue to the impact of deferred tax
accounting, other than interest and penaltiesaagh in the income recognition period would no¢eifthe annual effective tax rate but would
accelerate the payment of cash to the tax authtarigy earlier period.

As of December 31, 2009, the total amount of urgatzed tax benefits totaled approximately $4.4imill all of which if recognized,
would decrease our effective tax rate in a futueqal. The Company expects that the changes innttexognized benefits within the next
twelve months will be approximately $0.9 milliorated to tax positions for which the ultimate sattbnt is highly certain but for which there
is uncertainty about the timing of such recognition

The Company reported in its reconciliation of groesertain tax benefits a $1.9 million reductiorunrecognized tax benefits for the y
ended December 31, 2009. The Company recordedBar$llion reduction related to tax positions foriafhthe ultimate settlement is highly
certain but for which there is uncertainty abowt timing of such recognition. This reduction does affect the annual effective tax rate. The
Company also recorded a $0.3 million reductionteeldo tax positions for which settlement was realchfter its income tax audit with United
Kingdom government and $0.2 million related to pasitions of prior years for which the statuteiofitations has expired.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiescktatuncertain tax positions in income tax expehsethe year ended December 31,
2009, the Company recognized a reduction of intergsense of approximately
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$0.5 million. For the years ended December 31, 20@82007, the Company recognized interest expafreggproximately $0.1 million and
$0.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2@0@l 2008, the Company had accrued approximate8/illion and $1.8 million,
respectively, for interest and penalties.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.%l iarforeign jurisdictions. Generally, the Compasyo longer subject to U.S. fedel
state, or local, or foreign income tax examinatibpdax authorities for the years before 2006. V&t exceptions, the statute of limitations
remains open in all other jurisdictions for the years 2006 to the present.

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed using thehterigaverage number of common shares outstandimggdihe period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed using the weightethge number of common shares outstanding dunmg@ériod, plus the dilutive effect of
outstanding options, warrants and RSUs, usingrdastiry stock method and the average market pficera&common stock during the
applicable period. Certain shares related to sdnoeooutstanding stock options, warrants, and R&Eie excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share because they were duitiive in the periods presented, but could betditiin the future.

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Basic
Net income $32,21:  $10,977 $ 6,59
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 36,20¢ 36,14¢ 35,87¢
Earnings per share, ba: $ 08 $ 03C $ 0.1¢
Diluted
Net income $32,21:  $10,97° $ 6,59¢
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 36,20¢ 36,14¢ 35,87¢
Weightec-average effect of dilutive securitie

Stock options 1,297 1,382 1,54¢

RSUs 601 67 —

Warrants 7 10 12
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options, wasrand RSU: 1,90¢ 1,45¢ 1,55¢
Weighte-average common shares outstanding, assuming i 38,11 37,60¢ 37,43:
Earnings per share, diluts $ 0.8t 0.2¢ 0.1¢
Outstanding options, warrants and RSUs excludeéahpact would be ar-dilutive 362 1,52z 1,121

16. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Company currently operates in one operatingneeg— rules based Business Process Managemen¥()Bsdftware. The Compal
derives substantially all of its operating revefroen the sale and support of one group of simitadpcts and services.
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The Company’s international revenue is from satemustomers based outside of the U.S. The Compariyed! its operating revenue
from the following geographic areas for the yeardezl December 31.:

(Dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007

U.S. $174,97¢ 66%  $131,25( 62%  $104,95: 65%
United Kingdom 46,41¢ 18% 40,06 19% 34,27¢ 21%
Europe, othe 27,127 10% 27,34¢ 13% 8,75¢ 5%
Other 15,49¢ 6% 12,98¢ __ 6% 13,96« _ 9%

$264,01: @% $211,64  100%  $161,94¢  100%

The majority of the Company’s assets are locatélimihe U.S. Long-lived assets (1) related toGoepany’s U.S. and international
operations as of December 31 were as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2009 2008

U.S. $6,60¢ 74% $4,451 78%

India 2,072 23% 91¢ 16%

International, othe 25C _ 3% 358 6%
$8,931 10C% $5,72: 10C%

(1) Long-lived assets exclude goodwill and intatg#ssets, which are not allocated to specific gigayc locations as it is impracticable to
do so.

No single customer accounted for more than 10%®fdompany’s revenue in 2009, 2008, and 2007. dllenfing table summarizes the
Company’s concentration of credit risk associatéti sustomers accounting for more than 10% of thenBanys outstanding trade receivat
and long and short-term license installments d3emfember 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Trade receivables $39,39¢ $42,80!
Customer A — 11.7%
Long and shorl-term license installments $ 5,80¢ $10,85¢
Customer E 42.1% 29.7%
Customer C 20.5% 16.1%
Customer C 16.8% 11.%
Customer E 12.7% 10.5%

The Company’s financial services and insuranceoousts as a group represent a significant amoutiieo€ompany’s revenues and
receivables, which the Company considered andméted it did not have a material impact on its\walaces for doubtful accounts and sales

credit memos as of December 31, 2009.

Marketable securities are another financial insentithat potentially subject the Company to a cotregion of credit risk. See Note 4
“Marketable Securities” and Note 5 “Fair Value Measments” for further discussion.
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17. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contributtinement plan for qualifying employees pursuantvhich the Company makes
discretionary matching profit sharing contributio@@mpany contributions under the plan totaled exiprately $1.6 million in 2009, $1.3
million in 2008, and $1.0 million in 2007. In addi, the Company has defined contribution plangjimlifying international employees and
contributions expensed under those plans totalptbapnately $1.0 million in 2009, approximately &0nillion in 2008, and approximately
$0.3 million in 2007.

18. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2009
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 62,367 $ 63,87¢ $ 64,82: $ 72,94
Gross profil 41,83¢ 42,28¢ 40,76 48,19:
Income from operation 12,33t 11,83( 7,46¢ 10,18¢
Income before provision for income tay 12,41( 15,71¢ 8,52¢ 10,76
Net income 8,64 11,241 6,001 6,32¢
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.24 $ 031 $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.17
Earnings per share, dilut: $ 0.2t $ 0.3C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢€
2008
(in thousands, except per share amount: 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 48,47¢ $ 51,11¢ $ 52,69¢ $ 59,35:
Gross profil 28,92¢ 30,34¢ 32,14 38,47¢
Income from operation 2,16¢ 2,58¢ 3,441 6,28¢
Income before provision for income tay 4,177 4,02¢ 2,717 4,74¢
Net income 2,94 2,852 2,351 2,83(
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.0¢
Earnings per share, dilut $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
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ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A.  Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedwwe

Our management, with the participation of our Clirécutive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial ioéf, or CFO, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{@¢nthe Securities Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2009. In designing and evaluatingd@malosure controls and procedures, our manageraeagnized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opsraga provide only reasonable assurance of actyedtaeir objectives, and our
management necessarily applied its judgment inuetialg the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatomls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that ouldassece controls and procedures were effective @&eskember 31, 2009.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over i@ncial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting, as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Seasitixchange Act. Under the supervision and wittprécipation of our management,
including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evanaif the effectiveness of our internal control ofreancial reporting based on the
framework ininternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission
(*COsO").

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to thaterénce of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactiansl dispositions of assets, provide reasonableasses that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stat@sin accordance with U.S. generally acceptedwating principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made in accordance witlodaétions of our management and Directors; andigeoreasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asifjons, use or disposition of our assets thatdcbave a material effect on our financial
statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det@mn31, 2009. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that we magdeaeffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2009, based on
criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framewds&ued by the COSO.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerabliz accounting firm which also audited our coimdated financial statements, has
issued an attestation report on our internal cootrer financial reporting, which is included below
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggtasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the internal control over finanoéplorting of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries“@ompany”) as of December 31,
2009, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission. The Company’s managemensoreible for maintaining effective internal cohtwger financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coatret financial reporting, included in the accomyiag Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilg to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting bas@
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightq&@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe©tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancesdlieve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supemnvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pars performing similar functions, and effected ly tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakassurance regarding the reliability of financegdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of theetssof the company; (2) provide reasonable asserduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statetin accordance with generally accepted acaogiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiosg, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlantial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatbtected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fic&al reporting as of December 31,
2009, based on the criteria establishethternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements as of and foydse ended December 31, 2009 of the Company ancepart dated February 22, 2010
expressed an unqualified opinion on those finarstetements.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachuse!
February 22, 201
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(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting.

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act) during the quarter endedeihber 31, 2009 that have materially affectedrereasonably likely to materially affe
our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance

Except as set forth below, the information requingdhis Item is contained in our proxy statememtdur 2010 annual stockholders
meeting (the “2010 proxy statement”) under the rgatElection of Directors,” and is incorporatedrbim by reference. Information relating to
certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is containedur 2010 proxy statement under the heading “S8edb(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by refeeeheformation required by this item pursuant enis 401(h), 401(i), and 401(j) of
Regulation S-K relating to an audit committee ficiahexpert, the identification of the audit comteé of our Board of Directors and
procedures of security holders to recommend norsiteeeur Board of Directors is contained in the@@foxy statement under the heading
“Corporate Governance” and is incorporated hergirelference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thatieppd all of our employees, including our prindipgecutive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer, persons performing similar functions.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of our executive officers and certaiarimftion about them are set forth below as of Fatyr, 2010:

Alan Trefler,age 53, a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Ctaetiive Officer and Chairman and has been a Qiresihce we
organized in 1983. Prior to 1983, he managed atreldc funds transfer product for TMI Systems Gugiion, a software and services
company. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in Econmsrand Computer Science from Dartmouth College.

Craig Dynes age 54, joined Pegasystems in September 2006iesKinancial Officer and Senior Vice President. Mynes also served
as the Company’s principal accounting officer frilmvember 2007 until May 2008. From 2004 to 2006, Bynes served as Chief Financial
Officer at Demandware, a venture-backed enterga$gvare firm. From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Dynes serasdPresident and CEO of Narad
Networks, a manufacturer of equipment for the caédllevision industry. From 1997 to 2002, Mr. Dysesved as Chief Financial Officer
SilverStream Software, Inc., an application develept software company. Prior to SilverStream, Myné&s held senior financial positions at
Sybase Inc. and Powersoft Corp. Mr. Dynes is auaslof the Richard Ivey School of Business Adntiat®n, the University of Western
Ontario and is a Canadian Chartered Accountant.

Efstathios Kouninis age 48 joined Pegasystems in April 2008 as Vice PresidéRinance. In May 2008, the Board of Directors
appointed Mr. Kouninis as the Company’s Chief Aaating Officer. From February 2006 to April 2008, NKouninis served as Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Tasker Prod@xsgporation, a publicly traded manufacturer of mntrobial chemicals. From November
2004 to February 2006, Mr. Kouninis served on ttef®f the Division of Corporation Finance of tbe S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. Mr. Kouninis holds a Post Baccalaur@ateccounting, a M.S. in taxation from Bentley &ge, and a B.S. from the University
of Massachusetts.
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Douglas Kra,age 47, joined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Pmasidéslobal Services. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaved as
Vice President at eLoyalty Corp., a consulting campspecializing in customer relationship managenteom 2000 to 2001, Mr. Kra served
as President of Zefer Corp., an internet consufiing. Prior to Zefer, Mr. Kra spent ten years anibridge Technology Partners Inc. in a
variety of senior roles. He holds a B.A. in Compu&eience from Brandeis University and an M.B.Afilrance from the New York University
Stern School of Business.

Max Mayer,age 60, joined Pegasystems in 2004 as Vice President gid@ate Development. In November 2008, Mr. Mayer was
promoted to Senior Vice President of Corporate praent. From 1999 to 2004, Mr. Mayer served asiBemit and CEO of The Mayer
Group, a management consulting firm. From 19959@61 Mr. Mayer was President of Norstan, a publicdgded communications company.
Prior to 1995, Mr. Mayer spent 15 years with DigEguipment Corporation. He holds a B.A. from thei\érsity of Pennsylvania, an M.B.A.
from Boston University, and completed executiveaadion at Insead in Fontainebleau, France.

Michael Pyle, age 55 joined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as Séo@President of Product Development since Augaso.
Including his positions with Pegasystems, Mr. Pylefofessional background encompasses almost itaetss of software development and
managerial experience throughout Europe and theMrSPyle completed his B.C.S. specializing in Quiter Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

Leon Treflerage 49, joined Pegasystems in April 1998 as an émcExecutive for Strategic Business Developmeimcéthen he has
held various senior sales management positionssithe Company and in Channel Sales. In 2002 umeleed the commercialization of PRI
From April 2007 to January 2010, Mr. Trefler sernasdVice President of Sales, North America andiitudry 2010, Mr. Trefler was promoted
to Senior Vice President of Sales. Mr. Trefler IscddB.A. degree from Dartmouth College.

Alan Trefler and Leon Trefler are brothers. Thae o other family relationships among any of oxwgcitive officers or Directors.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this item is contaiedhe 2010 proxy statement under the headingstbars Compensation”,
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, and “Exe@u€Compensation” and is incorporated herein bgnexice.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Information required by this item with respect éxgrities authorized for issuance under our equdtyipensation plans is included in
Item 5. Market For Registrant’'s Common Stock, RedaBtockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases dfyE§ecurities in Part Il of this report.
Information required by this item with respect tock ownership of certain beneficial owners and agement is contained in the 2010 proxy
statement under the heading “Security Ownershipestain Beneficial Owners and Management” anddsriporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this item is containedhe 2010 proxy statement under the heading ‘@@eRelationships and Related
Transactions” and is incorporated herein by refegen

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this item is contairedhe 2010 proxy statement under the heading ‘leddent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Services” and is incorfgat&erein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnnéReport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementsiacduded in Item 8:

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&200D9200¢ 40
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearseéiecember 31, 2009, 2008, and 2 41
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years eflgs@mber 31, 200!
2008, and 200 42
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaied December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2 43
(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtekeceding such exhibits are filed as part of &nsual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bsedbe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to require
submission of the schedule or because the infoomadireflected in the consolidated financial steats or notes thereto.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiaht has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beHaby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PEGASYSTEMS INC

B /s/ CRAIG DYNES
Y:

Craig Dynes
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer)
(duly authorized officer)

Date: February 22, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exa@nge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
February 22, 2010 by the following persons on belabf the Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Title
/s/ ALAN TREFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairm:
Alan Trefler (principal executive officer
/s/ CRAIG DYNES Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic
Craig Dynes (principal financial officer
/s/ EFSTATHIOS KOUNINIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting €xffi
Efstathios Kouninis (principal accounting officel
/s/ RICHARD JONES Vice Chairman and Director
Richard Jones
/s/ CRAIG CONWAY Director
Craig Conway
/s/ PETER GYENES Director
Peter Gyenes
/s/ STEVEN KAPLAN Director
Steven Kaplan
/sl JAMES O'HALLORAN Director
James O’Halloran
/s/ WILLIAM WYMAN Director
William Wyman
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description
3.3 Restated Articles of Organization, of the Regidtréfiled as exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’'s J2n2005 Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc
3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pegasystems Ined(&$ Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s April 1020Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc
4.1 Specimen Certificate Representing the Common S{édled as exhibit 4.1 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fc
S-1 (Registration No. 33-03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporategirhby reference.
10.1++ Amended and Restated 1994 L-Term Incentive Plan. (Filed in the Regist's Proxy Statement for its 2003 ann
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein greefce.’
10.2++ 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (@File the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2@@0ual stockholders
meeting and incorporated herein by referen
10.3 Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betwedRdbistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent(ifded as exhibit
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerffamm S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amesmrthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc
104 Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated Augyst994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©ffiark Join
Venture. (Filed as exhibit 10.14 to the Registraéegistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by meder}
10.5 Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2(B12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
exhibit 10.23 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.6 Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Jul2302 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L{E@ed as exhibi
10.24 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.7++ 2004 Lon¢-Term Incentive Plan, as amended on November 24.:
+10.8++ Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement, as amewnaedecember 15, 200
+10.9++ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amermteBecember 15, 200
10.10 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option AgreeméRiled as exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Sepier 30, 2004 Form
10-Q and incorporated herein by referen:
10.11++ Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&sd. dated October 19, 2004. (Filed as exhibit 1@c2the Registra’s 2004
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.12 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registr’s April 11, 2005 Form-K and
incorporated herein by referenc
10.13++ 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedbondrg 14, 2008. (Filed as exhibit 10.15 to the iRegnt's 2007 Form
10-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.14++ Compensation program for members of the Regissd@uard of Directors, effective May 30, 2006. (Dlethin Registrant’s
June 5, 2006 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.15++ Offer Letter between the Registrant and Craig An&ydated September 7, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit®lie Registrant’s

September 7, 2006 Forn-K and incorporateherein by reference
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10.16

10.17++

10.18++

10.19++

10.20++

10.21

10.22++
10.23++

10.24++

10.25++

10.26++

10.27++

10.28++

+21.1
+23.1
+31.1
+31.2
+32

Amendment Number 10 to Lease Agreement dated Jylg@06 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfrau@.L(Filed as
exhibit 10.1 to the Registre’s September 30, 2006 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referens

Amendment to Stock Option Agreement between thadiegt and Richard H. Jones dated December 2%.260ed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s January 4, 2007 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2008 Section 16 Officers Corporate Incentive Corspéion Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regig’'s February 21, 20C
Form &K and incorporated herein by referenc

2008 Section 16 Officers Base Salaries and TargatiB Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Regist February 21, 2008
Form &K and incorporated herein by referenc

Offer Letter between the Registrant and EfstathioKouninis dated April 25, 2008. (Filed as ExhiBf.1 to the Registrant’s
June 5, 2008 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 11 to Lease Agreement dated disn&f 11, 2008 between the Registrant and NOP RiverfLC. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr’s June 30, 2008 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Max Mayaed April 20, 2004

Director Indemnification Agreement dated as of Ma8¢ 2009 by and between Pegasystems Inc. and @geeres. (Filed &
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre's March 11, 2009 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2009 Section 16 Officer/[FLT Member Corporate IneenCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 eRegistrar's March
19, 2009 Form -K and incorporated herein by referenc

2009 Executive Officers Base Salaries and TargeuBd?ayments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Reayif's March 19, 200!
Form &K and incorporated herein by referenc

Director Indemnification Agreement dated as of Me26, 2009 by and between Pegasystems Inc. and Caaiway. (Filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s April 1, 2009 Form -K and incorporated herein by referenc

2010 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate Ineen€Compensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 e Registrant’s
February 17, 2010 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2010 Section Executive Officers Base Salaries aardgdt Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 tdRégistrar’s Februarn
17, 2010 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring—Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135thef Chief Executive Officer and the Chief FinahC#icer.

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgenaents required to be filed pursuant to Item 18{¢jorm 1(-K.
+  Filed herewitt
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Pega

Pegasystems Inc
Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Option Agreemeh ID: 04-2787865

101 Main Stree

Cambridge, MA 0214.

Pegasystems Inc.

FIRST_NAME_ MIDDLE_NAME _

LAST_NAME _ Option Number:

ADDRESS_LINE 1 Plan:

CITY _ STATE COUNTRY ZIPCODE ID:

Effective (“Grant Date”"), you (the “Optionee”) have been detha Nonstatutory Stock Option (the “Option”) tayb shares of

Pegasystems Inc. (the “Company”) common stock &xancise price of US
Pegasystems Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan“@kan”).

per share (the “Exercise Price”), pursuant to the

The total exercise price of the shares grantedSis U .

Shares subject to this Option will vest 20% onfitfet anniversary of the Grant Date and the balaf@&0% will vest in 16 equal quarterly
installments between the first and fifth anniveiesiof the Grant Date.

Expiration: Options expire in ten years from the@rDate.

The undersigned Optionee agrees to all of the tefrttee Plan and all those set forth on Exhibitanl B attached hereto and incorporated
herein by reference (the “Option Agreement”).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Optioneetexecuted this instrument as of the date sdt fdrbve.

Pegasystems In

-

Alan Trefler, Chairman an
Chief Executive Office

FIRST_NAME_ MIDDLE_NAME
LAST_NAME



Exhibit A
To Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Option Agreenent for Non-U.S. Employees

1. Exercise Price The Exercise Price is equal to Fair Market Valgedefined in Section 2(0) of the Plan, of a shéith@ Company’s
Common Stock on the date of the Notice of Grar§totk Option and Option Agreement for Non-U.S. Eogpks (of which this Exhibit As a
part) (the “Option Agreement”).

2. Option Exercise Once vested, the Option shall remain exercisablehiole or in part at any time through and including day immediately
preceding the date set forth under the headingif&tipn” on the Option Agreement (the “Expiratiom@”), after which the Option shall exp
and no longer be exercisable.

The Option shall be exercisable by notice to thenfBany or the Company’s designated stock option agtnator, which shall:

(a) state the election to exercise the Optionntimaber of shares of Common Stock with respect tichvit is being exercised, and, if
different than the Optionee, the person in whoseenthe stock certificate or certificates for sublres of Common Stock are to be
registered, and the address and Social Securitpeuonf such person;

(b) be signed by the person or persons entitlexkéocise the Option, and if the Option is beingreised by a person or persons other
the Optionee, be accompanied by proof satisfadtotiie Company’s legal counsel of the right of spehson or persons to exercise the
Option; and

(c) if to the Company, be in writing and deliveiacerson or by certified mail to the Chief Finaaldfficer of the Company or, if to the
Company’s designated stock option administratoiniibe manner and form specified by such stocloomdministrator.

Payment of the full purchase price of any shareSasimon Stock, with respect to which the Optiohagg exercised, shall accompany the
notice of exercise of the Option and such paymeayt be made in cash or check payable to the Compdteynatively, the Optionee may elect
to pay the full purchase price of any shares of @oam Stock, with respect to which the Option is gedercised, by having the Company
withhold, or by tendering to the Company througdtack swap, such number of shares of Common Swekeaequal in value to the full
purchase price. The certificate or certificatessfoares of Common Stock as to which the Optioxésased shall be registered in the name of
the person or persons exercising the Option.

3. Termination of Service If the Optionee terminates Service other than lagee of the Optionee’s death, Disability or Retieat) the
Optionee may exercise his or her Option for threatms following such termination to the extent ttiet Option is vested on the date of
termination (but in no event later than the exjprabf the term of the Option).

4. Retirement of Optioneelf the Optionee terminates Service as a resultafr@nment, the Optionee may exercise his or hero@gor 24
months following such termination to the extent i@ Option is vested on the date of terminatlmut (n no event later than the expiration of
the term of the Option).

5. Disability of Optionee If the Optionee terminates Service as a resulh@fQ@ptionee’s Disability, the Optionee may exerbiseor her
Option for 24 months following such terminationth@ extent that the Option is vested on the daterafination (but in no event later than the
expiration of the term of the Optior




6. Death of Optionee If the Optionee dies while a Service Provider,@ion may be exercised by the Optionee’s estaby @ person who
acquires the right to exercise the Option by beoemheritance for 12 months following the Op#ers termination of Service because of
death.

7. Optioneés Agreement The Optionee agrees to all the terms stated ilOteon Agreement (of which this Exhibit is a pa#$, well as to the
terms of the Plan (which shall control in caseafftict with the Option Agreement), a copy of whishattached and of which the Optionee
acknowledges receipt.

8. Withholding . Regardless of any action the Company and/or theofgt’'s employer (the “Employer”) take with resptcany or all income
tax (including U.S. federal, state and local tag/annon-U.S. tax), social insurance, payroll f@xyment on account or other tax-related
withholding (“Tax-Related Items”), the Optionee aokvledges that the ultimate liability for all TaxeRted Items legally due by the Optionee
is and remains the Optionee’s responsibility arad the Company and/or the Employer (i) make noesgmtations or undertakings regarding
the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connactidh any aspect of the Option, including the graesting or exercise of the Options, the
subsequent sale of any shares of Common Stockradcgli exercise and the receipt of any dividendd; (@) do not commit to structure the
terms of the grant or any aspect of the Optioretiuce or eliminate the Optionee’s liability for TRelated Items.

Prior to the relevant taxable event, the Optioriedl pay or make arrangements satisfactory to tagany and/or the Employer to
satisfy all withholding and payment on account gdfions of the Company and/or the Employer. Intégard, the Optionee authorizes the
Company and/or the Employer to withhold all apfieaTax-Related Items legally payable by the Op@from any wages or other cash
compensation paid to the Optionee by the Compadjoathe Employer. Alternatively, or in additiofipermissible under local law, the
Optionee authorizes the Company and/or the Empl@yéts discretion and pursuant to such procedasesmay specify from time to time, to
satisfy the obligations with regard to all Tax-Rethltems legally payable by the Optionee by ona combination of the following:

(i) withholding otherwise deliverable shares of Goan Stock, provided that the Company only withhdldsamount of shares of Common
Stock necessary to satisfy the minimum withholdangpunt; (ii) arranging for the sale of shares ofm@wn Stock otherwise deliverable to the
Optionee (on the Optionee’s behalf and at the @p#s direction pursuant to this authorization)(iidr withholding from the proceeds of the
sale of shares of Common Stock acquired upon eseecdithe Option. If the obligation for Tax-Relatéeins is satisfied by withholding a
number of shares of Common Stock as describedheha Optionee is deemed to have been issuedliheimber of shares of Common St
subject to the Option, notwithstanding that a nundfehe shares of Common Stock are held backys@idelthe purpose of paying the Tax-
Related Iltems due as a result of any aspect ddfitmn. The Optionee shall pay to the Company artté® Employer any amount of Tax-
Related Items that the Company and/or the Emploaar be required to withhold as a result of the @me’s participation in the Plan that
cannot be satisfied by the means previously desdribhe Company may refuse to deliver to the Opticeny shares of Common Stock
pursuant to the Option if the Optionee fails to phyrwith the Optionee’s obligations in connectioithwthe Tax-Related Items as described in
this section.

9. Rights as ShareholdersThe Optionee shall have no rights as a sharehofdtie Company with respect to any of the shareSasfimon
Stock covered by the Option until the issuance stbak certificate or certificates upon the exer@§the Option, and then only with respect to
the shares of Common Stock represented by sudfica# or certificates




10. Non-Transferability . The Option may not be transferred in any mannegratien by will or by the laws of descent and disttion. The
terms of the Option shall be binding upon the et@s administrators, heirs and successors of fiteoee.

11. Compliance with Securities, Tax and Other Lawhe Option may not be exercised if the issuanchafes of Common Stock upon such
exercise would constitute a violation of any apgihie federal or state securities law or any otlerdr valid regulation. As a condition to the
exercise of the Option, the Company may requiredpgonee, or any person acquiring the right tareigse the Option, to make any
representation or warranty that the Company deerbhe hecessary under any applicable securitiesptather law or regulation.

12. Adjustments upon Changes in Capitalizatiomn the event of any change in the shares subjabet®lan or to any Option granted under
the Plan by reason of a merger, consolidation geatization, recapitalization, stock dividend, stepkit, combination or exchange of shares of
Common Stock, or other change in the structuré®Qompany, the number of shares of Common Stdgjleaito each outstanding Option
and/or the Option price with respect to the shaféSommon Stock shall be appropriately adjustethieyCompany and such adjustment shall
be final, binding and conclusive.

13.No Right to Employment The granting of the Option does not confer uponQpé&onee the right to continue in the Servicehef t
Company, or affect in any way the right and powighe Company to terminate the Service of the O#@at any time with or without
assigning a reason therefor, to the same extegheasompany might have done if the Option had eenbgranted.

14.No Guarantee The Company offers no guarantee or assurancelth&@dampany’s stock has any value at the time efghant or will have
any value or liquidity at any future time.

15. Acknowledgment of Nature of Plan and Optiarin accepting the Option, the Optionee acknowledgat

(a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Camy it is discretionary in nature, and it may bedified, amended, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time, unless wilserprovided in the Plan and this Option Agreement

(b) the Option is voluntary and occasional and dugsreate any contractual or other right to neediture grants of Options, or benefits
in lieu of Options, even if Options have been gednepeatedly in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future Optiorigny, will be at the sole discretion of the Comypan
(d) the Optionee’s participation in the Plan isurdghry;

(e) the Option is an extraordinary item that doesconstitute compensation for services of any kentlered to the Company or any
Related Company, and which is outside the scopleeoémployment contract, if any;

(f) the Option is not part of normal or expectednp@nsation or salary for any purposes, including not limited to, calculation of any
severance, resignation, termination, redundanay péservice payments, bonuses, long-service awpedssion or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments and in no event shbeldonsidered as compensation for, or relatirapinway to, past services for the Company
or any Related Compan



(9) in the event that the Optionee is not an Emgxogf the Company or any Related Company, the ©pial the Optionee’s
participation in the Plan will not be interpretedform an employment or service contract or retetiop with the Company or any Related
Company;

(h) the future value of the underlying shares ofm@wn Stock is unknown and cannot be predicted arithcertainty;

(i) if you exercise your Option and obtain sharE€ommon Stock, the value of those shares of Com8tonk acquired upon exercise
may increase or decrease in value, even below phierOprice;

(j) in consideration of the Option, no claim oridatent to compensation or damages shall ariga fesmination of the Option or from
any diminution in value of the Option or share€oimmon Stock acquired upon exercise of the Optgnlting from termination of the
Optionee’s service by the Company or any Relatemzamy (for any reason whatsoever and whether oinrteach of local labor laws) and
the Optionee irrevocably releases the Company apdRelated Company from any such claim that mageaif, notwithstanding the foregoir
any such claim is found by a court of competerisgliction to have arisen, then, by signing the Qpt#greement, the Optionee shall be
deemed irrevocably to have waived the Optioneefitlement to pursue such claim;

(k) in the event of termination of the Optionee&r8ce (whether or not in breach of local labord@whe Optionee’s right to receive an
Option and vest in the Option under the Plan, ¥, avill terminate effective as of the date that @gtionee is no longer actively employed and
will not be extended by any notice period mandateder local law €.g., active employment would not include a period gdirden leave” or
similar period pursuant to local law); the Adminggor shall have the exclusive discretion to detremvhen the Optionee is no longer actively
employed for purposes of the Option;

() the Company is not providing any tax, legafioancial advice, nor is the Company making anynemendations regarding the
Optionee’s participation in the Plan or the Opt®seacquisition or sale of the underlying share€afnmon Stock; and

(m) the Optionee is hereby advised to consult withOptionee’s personal tax, legal and financiaisats regarding the Optionee’s
participation in the Plan before taking any actielated to the Plan.

16. Data Privacy Notice and ConseniThe Optionee hereby explicitly and unambiguousiynsents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of the Optionee’s persdrdata as described in this Option Agreement andyasther Option grant materials by and
among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company @&sdSubsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of iraplenting, administering and
managing the Optionee’s participation in the Plan.

The Optionee understands that the Company and tiedoyer may hold certain personal information abotite Optionee, including,
but not limited to, the Optionee’s name, home adsB@nd telephone number, date of birth, social irsnce number or other identification
number, salary, nationality, job title, any shareé stock or directorships held in the Company, détaf all Options or any other entitlement
to shares of stock granted, exercised, canceledted unvested or outstanding in the Optionee’sdgvor the exclusive purpose of
implementing, administering and managing the PlatData”).



The Optionee understands that Data will be transfed to a third party stock plan service providergs may be selected by the
Company, which is assisting the Company with theplementation, administration and management of tRé&an. The Optionee understands
the recipients of the Data may be located in theti@pee’s country, in the United States or elsewheaiad that the data recipients’ country
may have different data privacy laws and protectiaiihan the Optionee’s country. The Optionee undarsis that the Optionee may request
a list with the names and addresses of any potdngaipients of the Data by contacting the Optiorisdocal human resources representati
The Optionee authorizes the Company and any othesgible recipients which may assist the Companye§ently or in the future) with
implementing, administering and managing the Plao teceive, possess, use, retain and transfer théaDa electronic or other form, for th
sole purpose of implementing, administering and nzaing the Optione’s participation in the Plan. The Optionee understds that Data
will be held only as long as is necessary to impé) administer and manage the Optionee’s partidipa in the Plan. The Optionee
understands that the Optionee may, at any timew[Rata, request additional information about theosage and processing of Data, require
any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withadthe consents herein, in any case without cdst,contacting in writing the
Optionee’s local human resources representativeeTdptionee understands, however, that refusing dthdrawing the Optionee’s consent
may affect the Optionee’s ability to participate the Plan. For more information on the consequencafsthe Optionee’s refusal to consent
or withdrawal of consent, the Optionee understarttiat the Optionee may contact the Optionee’s lobaman resources representative.

17.Amendment and Termination of OptionThe Company may not, without the consent of thaddpt, alter or impair any Option granted
under the Plan. The Option shall be considereditett®d in whole or in part, to the extent thataatordance with the provisions of the Plan, it
can no longer be exercised for shares of CommockStaginally subject to the Option.

18.Language. If the Optionee has received this Option Agreenuerany other document related to the Plan trardliate a language other
than English and if the translated version is défe from the English version, the English versigh control.

19. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decidediver any documents related to the Option orrigrants made
under the Plan by electronic means or requesthieaDptionee consent to participate in the Plaelbgtronic means. The Optionee hereby
consents to receive such documents by electrotiiedg and agrees to participate in the Plan thhoag on-line or electronic system
established and maintained by the Company or d ffdirty designated by the Company.

20.Governing Law. The Option Agreement shall be governed by andpnéted in accordance with the laws of The Commottived
Massachusetts, without regard to any applicabldictsof law provisions thereof.

For purposes of litigating any dispute that aridiesctly or indirectly from the relationship of tiparties evidenced by this Option or this
Option Agreement, the parties hereby submit toambent to the exclusive jurisdiction of The Commealth of Massachusetts and agree that
such litigation shall be conducted only in the ¢swf Middlesex County, Massachusetts, or the fdmurts for the United States for the
district of Massachusetts, and no other courts revttés grant of Options is made and/or to be peréal.



21. Severability. In the event any one or more of the provisionhef®@ption Agreement shall for any reason be heletmvalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of the @pfgreement shall be unimpaired, and the invdligtal or unenforceable provision shall
be replaced by a mutually acceptable provisionctvbieing valid, legal and enforceable, comes ctdsethe intention of the parties underlying
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision.

22. Definitions . All capitalized terms used herein and not othernwisined shall have the meanings assigned to suntstin the Plan.

23.Exhibit B . Notwithstanding any provision herein, the Optiosggarticipation in the Plan shall be subject to sppgcial terms and
conditions as set forth in Exhibit B for the Optga’s country of residence, if any. The Exhibit B catages part of this Option Agreeme



Exhibit B
To Notice of Grant of Option and Option Agreement 6r Non-U.S. Employees

This Exhibit B includes additional terms and coiadis that govern the Options granted to the Op#dhthe Optionee resides in the countries
contained herein. Capitalized terms used but nimeld herein shall have the meanings ascribedamtim the Notice of Grant of Option and
Option Agreement for Non-U.S. Employees (_of whigis Exhibit B is a par} or the Plan.

This Exhibit B also includes information regardiegchange controls and certain other issues of whietDptionee should be aware with
respect to the Optionee’s participation in the Plre information is based on the securities, emghacontrol and other laws in effect in the
respective countries as of December 2009. Suchdagveften complex and change frequently. As atiebie Company strongly recommends
that the Optionee not rely on the information ndtedein as the only source of information relatmghe consequences of the Optionee’s
participation in the Plan because the informatiay e out of date at the time the Optionee acqsinases of Common Stock or sells shares of
Common Stock the Optionee acquires under the Plan.

In addition, the information is general in naturelanay not apply to the Optionee’s particular gitirg and the Company is not in a position to
assure the Optionee of any particular refdtordingly, the Optionee is strongly advised to &k appropriate professional advice as to
how the relevant laws in the Optionee’s country aply to the Optionee’s specific situation.

If the Optionee is a citizen or resident of anotbeuntry, or is considered a resident of anothesrtoy for local law purposes, the informati
contained in this Exhibit B may not be applicalighe Optionee.

Australia
Withholding
This provision supplements Section 8 (Withholding):

Prior to the relevant taxable event, the Optionéeprovide the Company with their Australian TatdeNumber (TFN) or Australian Business
Number (ABN). Failure to do so will result in thequirement for the Company to withhold Australiar &t the rate of 46.59

Reform to the taxation of employee share sche

With effect from 1 July 2009, Optionee share opishall be taxed upfront, unless there is a “rig&laf forfeiture”. Where there is a “real risk
of forfeiture,” options shall generally be taxedts earliest of:

» Vesting of the optiol
» Cessation of employme
e 7 years after grar



Canada
Option Exercise
The paragraphs below replace Section 2 (Optiondisey of Exhibit A to the Option Agreement:

Once vested, the Option shall remain exercisablehiole or in part at any time through and includihg day immediately preceding the date
set forth under the heading “Expiration” on the iGptAgreement (the “Expiration Date”), after whittte Option shall expire and no longer be
exercisable.

The Option shall be exercisable by notice to thenfBany or the Company’s designated stock option adtnator, which shall:
(a) state the election to exercise the Option and timeher of shares of Common Stock with respect tehvhiis being exercise:
(b) be signed by the Optionee; a

(c) if to the Company, be in writing and delivered ergon or by certified mail to the Chief Financidfi€er of the Company or, if to tF
Compan’s designated stock option administrator, be imtha@ner and form specified by such stock option adstrator.

Payment of the full purchase price of any shareSavhmon Stock, with respect to which the Optiohémg exercised, shall accompany the
notice of exercise of the Option and such paymeayt be made in cash or check payable to the Compdtgynatively, the Optionee may elect
to pay the full purchase price of any shares of @om Stock, with respect to which the Option is beeercised, by having the Company
withhold such number of shares of Common Stock@£qual in value to the full purchase price. Téeificate or certificates for shares of
Common Stock as to which the Option is exercisedl &le registered in the name of the Optionee.

For further clarity, any shares issued of the Comi&tock of the Company upon exercise of an Optial e issued solely in the name of the
Optionee and not in the name of any other persmhyding a person with whom the Optionee is deatihgon-arm’s length.

Upon exercise of the Option, the Optionee shakirershares of the Common Stock of the Companyuadér no circumstances shall the
Administrator elect to have the employee receivghdar any other security) in lieu of the CommoacRtof the Company. To this effect,
section 13(e) of the Plan (and any other similatise) do not apply in Canada.

Furthermore, at all times the Optionee should hedd than 10% of the shares of the Common Stottkeo€ompany or any Related Company.

Withholding
The paragraphs below replace Section 8 of Exhilitt the Option Agreement:

Generally, there are Canadian requirements to withfource deductions on stock options benefithadigh stock options benefits are
considered to be remuneration subject to sourcedtiecis, Canada recognizes that requiring additisitaholding from cash payments, such
as normal salary, as a result of a stock optiorefiieran create hardship for the employee. Thisi$taip will be created when either the benefit
is very large in proportion to the employee’s nors®ary or the option is exercised later in tharyés a result, employers may make
withholdings from employees’ cash remuneratiorhiéxtent possible, without imposing actual hagstihere the non-cash benefit is the
only form of income received from that employer ttmployer will not be required to withhold taxthie amount of such benefits.

Stock option benefits are also subject to socialisty taxes in Canada. These benefits are sutggCanada Pension Plan withholdings but not
Employment Insurance withholdings. The provinc®etario will also levy payroll taxes to fund ther@alian health servic



The employment benefit and, if applicable, relei@8lo deduction will be reported on the Optionee drtlie year in which the tradable options
are exercised or sold. The Optionee must reposethenounts on his or her individual income taxrrefar the same year.

If the Optionee qualifies and elects to defer a phathe employment benefit arising on exercisthevdate of sale, the employer (i.e. the Rel
Company) will report the deferred benefit on theslig in the year of exercise, however the bemnefitnot be included in income for that year.
The Optionee must complete and file Form T1212at&8hent of Deferred Security Option Benefits” whik or her federal tax return for each
year in which arises a balance of deferred bepafigtanding. In the year the Optionee sells theeshahe Optionee must report the defe
benefit on his or her tax return.

Acknowledgement of nature of pl
The paragraphs below replace Section 15 of ExAiltit the Option Agreement [new or amended paragrapé shown in italics at g and j]:
In accepting the Option, the Optionee acknowledigas

(&) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Compdtnig, discretionary in nature, and it may be mmif amended, suspended or termin
by the Company at any time, unless otherwise peaid the Plan and this Option Agreems

(b) the Option is voluntary and occasional and doe<reste any contractual or other right to receitare grants of Options, or benefits
lieu of Options, even if Options have been gramégabatedly in the pas

(c) all decisions with respect to future Options, ifawill be at the sole discretion of the Compa
(d) the Optione’s participation in the Plan is voluntal

(e) the Option is an extraordinary item that does oistitute compensation for services of any kindlezad to the Company or any Rela
Company, and which is outside the scope of the eynpént contract, if any

() the Option is not part of normal or expected conspéinn or salary for any purposes, including, haitlimited to, calculation of an
severance, resignation, termination, redundanay péservice payments, bonuses, long-service awpgdssion or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments and in no event shbeldonsidered as compensation for, or relatirapinway to, past services for the
Company or any Related Compa

(g) the Company has decided to grant Options undePthe to individuals who are employees of the Corgparany Related Compan
and under no circumstances, the Optionee shoultbhsidered a Consultant or a “non-employee Offi@enon-employee Director” of
the Company or any Related Compa

(h) the future value of the underlying shares of Comr&totk is unknown and cannot be predicted with@amjainty;

(i) if you exercise your Option and obtain share€ommon Stock, the value of those shares of Com8tonk acquired upon exercise may
increase or decrease in value, even below the @ptice;

() atall times the Optionee should hold less than H¥%he shares of the Common Stock of the CompaagyoRelated Compan



(k) in consideration of the Option, no claim oridetment to compensation or damages shall ariga fesmination of the Option or from any
diminution in value of the Option or shares of Coom&tock acquired upon exercise of the Option tiegufrom termination of the
Optionee’s service by the Company or any Relateth@zmy (for any reason whatsoever and whether oinfmieach of local labor laws)
and the Optionee irrevocable releases the Compashpay Related Company from any such claim that amise; if, notwithstanding the
foregoing, any such claim is found by a court ahpetent jurisdiction to have arisen, then, by sigrthe Option Agreement, the
Optionee shall be deemed irrevocably to have wailredptione’s entitlement to pursue such clai

() in the event of termination of the Optiol's Service (whether or not in breach of local ldbers), the Optione's right to receive a
Option and vest in the Option under the Plan, ¥f, avill terminate effective as of the date that @gtionee is no longer actively emplo
and will not be extended by any notice period m#lander local law (e.g., active employment wawdtlinclude a period of “garden
leave” or similar period pursuant to local law)e thdministrator shall have the exclusive discretmdetermine when the Optionee is no
longer actively employed for purposes of the Opt

(m) the Company is not providing any tax, legafioancial advice, nor is the Company making anymmendations regarding the
Optionef's participation in the Plan or the Optio’s acquisition or sale of the underlying shares@h@on Stock; an

(n) the Optionee is hereby advised to consult withQipdoned s personal tax, legal and financial advisors reggrthe Optione’s
participation in the Plan before taking any actielated to the Plat

Germany
Exchange Control Informatio

Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 muspdmted monthly to the German Federal Bank. IfGptionee uses a German bank to
transfer a cross-border payment in excess of €04rb6onnection with the sale of shares of CommimeiSacquired under the Plan, the bank
will make the report for the Optionee. In addititine Optionee must report any receivables or pagatn debts in foreign currency exceeding
€5,000,000 on a monthly basis.

Hong Kong
Obligation to report the share option gains to tag authority

The Optionee is obliged to declare the gains redllzy the exercise, assignment or release of e siptions to the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD”) in their Individual T&eturn for the year of assessment in which theesbptions are exercised, assigned or
released. If the Optionee is eligible to lodge affghore non-taxable claim on their share optiomgahe Optionee is required to lodge such
claim in their Individual Tax Return. Thereforejdtthe Optionee’s responsibility to prove to théisfaction of the IRD on their non-taxable
claim lodged with documentary evidence in support.

Reporting requiremer

Upon the commencement of Hong Kong employment/assggt of the Optionee, the Optionee’s employer ‘{Eraployer”) is obliged to file

the Commencement Notice (Form IR 56E) for reporthrggterm of employment and share options detailee IRD within 3 months from the
date of commencement of employment. Annual EmpleylReturn (Form IR 56B) is required to be filedhe tRD by end of April to report tt
remuneration paid/accrued to the Optionee, inclytlie share option gains, for each year ended 3thiv&urther to the filing of the said
Forms, the IRD will normally create a tax file fine Optionee and issue the annual Individual TaiReo the Optionee (usually in May) to
ascertain their tax position. If there is no Indival Tax Return issued by the IRD to the Optiomgedporting the share option gain in the year
of exercise, the Optionee is obliged to voluntairiliprm the IRD on this tax chargeability arisimgth the exercise as well as other Hong Kong
taxable employment income within four months after end of the basis period during which the yéassessment is concerned (i.e. the
informing deadline is 31 July given the fiscal yeads on 31 March



Leaving Hong Koni

If the share option is only exercised, assignectlzased aftethe Optionee permanently departs from Hong Kong Bmployer should report
the share option gains by filing the Departure B®{Form IR 56G) and provide a copy for the OptériEhe Optionee also needs to discharge
their voluntary informing chargeability obligati@s mentioned above not later than 4 months aféeertiol of the year of assessment in which
the share option gains are derived. Even if the IByep fails to submit the Departure Notice to rdfbe taxable share option gain, the
Optionee still needs to comply with their own reipay obligation.

In order to assist with finalizing the salamlated tax liabilities prior to permanent depagtuhe Optionee is allowed, as a concession, t &
have the tax liabilities finalized on the basisaafotional exercise of the share options. The natigain is calculated on the basis as if the
options had been exercised on a day within 7 defar® the date of submission of the Optionee’s¢dxrn for the final year of assessment in
which the Optionee departs. As a further concessimnIRD is prepared to accept an election madair8 months from the date of departure
from Hong Kong if no election has been made bedieqgarture. In this case, the date of departureb@ilaken as the date of notional exercise
for the purpose of calculating the gain.

An election once made cannot be withdrawn befogeatitual exercise, assignment or release, except:

(i)  within the objection period of the assessment iictvithe gain of the notional exercise is includec

(i) total forfeiture of the options with no replacementompensation before the actual exerc

If it transpires that the gain in respect of theuatexercise, assignment or release is less tlmarhount assessed in respect of the notional

exercise, the IRD has indicated in its Departmelntairpretation and Practice Note that they willdeably consider any application for
appropriate amendment and re-assessment.

Withholding
The paragraphs below supplement Section 8 (Withihg)dbf Exhibit A to the Option Agreement.

The Employer is not required to withhold the Opéets share option gains unless the Optionee pemtigrgeparts from Hong Kong. The
Employer is statutorily required to withhold morggyment from the Optionee for a period of one maftér the Departure Notification (Fot
IR 56G) was filed to the IRD, unless consent (b idsue of a Letter of Release to the employer avitbpy to the Optionee after they have
settled all their tax liabilities) is given by theD. Hence, if the Optionee derives share optiangand there is money paid to them by the
Employer, the Employer has the withholding obligat



India
Exchange Control Informatio

As per the foreign exchange laws (“regulations”)ridia, there are no restrictions on the amoumenfittances that the Optionee can make for
acquiring Options provided that the following catiwtis are fulfilled:

1. The Company issuing the shares effectivelyctliyeor indirectly, holds in the Indian company, ege employees / directors are being
offered shares, not less than 51% of its equitg,

2. The shares under the Plan are offered by the igsuimpany globally on a uniform basis (with the easrms and with the same rigF.

Ireland
Restriction on Types of Shares Issued to Direc

If the Optionee is a director or shadow directoanflirish Subsidiary, the Optionee’s Options wél aid in newly issued shares of Common
Stock only. In no event will the Options be settiedreasury shares.

Director Notification Requiremetr

If the Optionee is a director, shadow directorexrstary of an Irish Subsidiary, the Optionee nmasify the Irish Subsidiary in writing within
five business days of receiving or disposing ofre@rest in the Companye(g., Options, shares of Common Stock, etc.), or withie

business days of becoming aware of the event giisggto the notification requirement, or withimdibusiness days of becoming a director or
secretary if such an interest exists at the tininés Motification requirement also applies with respto the interests of a spouse or minor
children (whose interests will be attributed to tlrector, shadow director or secretary).

Netherlands

By participating in the Plan the Optionee acknowk=sithat the Optionee’s Options can cease to weErmination of employment under the
terms of the Plan. It is a condition of participatin the Plan that the Optionee agrees to theseste

Poland
Securities reporting

If the Optionee holds more than €10,000 of foreigourities (including following the grant of Opt&)rthe Optionee must declare details of the
shares and options (whether or not the options fiasted) to the National Bank of Poland. The form of dedia@amust be submitted within
30 days of the end of the year.

Singapore
Leaving Singapor
With effect from January 1, 2003, Optionees whofareign citizens or are Singapore Permanent ragsdeaving Singapore permanently are

taxed on a “deemed exercise” basis for any optiwnsits or shares granted or issued during Singapmployment. This would also include
any unvested or restricted options or units orehgranted whilst exercising employment in Singaf



As per the deemed exercise rule, all Options, paitstock which have been granted during Singaporgloyment are deemed to have been
exercised, irrespective whether the Options haggedeor not. The taxable value is the differendevben the fair market value (which would
be the fair market value one month prior to theeddtdeparture) and the exercise price.

Director withholding

Independent Directors who are Non Resident in Siogaand have received Options by virtue of theing on the Board of the Singapore
Company will be subject to tax in Singapore anblégor tax withholding.

Spain
This provision supplements Section 15 (Acknowledgioé Nature of Plan and Option) of Exhibit A tetption Agreement:

In accepting the Options, the Optionee consenpatticipation in the Plan and acknowledges thatQpdonee has received a copy of the Plan.

The Optionee understands that the Company hadenailly, gratuitously and discretionally decidedyrant Options under the Plan to
individuals who may be employees of the CompaniysdBubsidiaries throughout the world. The decis#oa limited decision that is entered
into upon the express assumption and conditionahgtgrant will not bind the Company or any ReldBinpany. Consequently, the Optionee
understands that the Options are granted on thengdé®n and condition that the Options and anyeshaf Common Stock acquired upon
exercise of the Options are not a part of any eympémnt contract (either with the Company or any RelaCompany) and shall not be
considered a mandatory benefit, salary for any geep (including severance compensation) or any atite whatsoever. Further, the Optio
understands that the Optionee will not be entittedontinue vesting in any Options once the Ops&ervice with the Company or any
Related Company ceases. In addition, the Optionderstands that this grant would not be made t@t@nee but for the assumptions and
conditions referred to above; thus, the Optiondmawledges and freely accepts that should anyl af #he assumptions be mistaken or shc
any of the conditions not be met for any reasoen thiny grant of or right to the Options shall b# and void.

Exchange Control Informatio
The Optionee must declare the acquisition of shaff€ommon Stock to the Direccion General de Ri€omercial e Inversiones Exteriores
(the DGPCIE) of the Ministerio de Economia for istétal purposes.

As the shares are listed on a stock exchange thesition will be filled in a form D-5B. The form Wbe declared to the Registro de
Inversiones of the Direccion General de Politican€cxial e Inversiones Exteriores of the Ministetelndustria, Turismo y Comercio.

The Optionee must also declare ownership of angeshaf Common Stock with the Directorate of Forélgansactions each January whilst the
shares of Common Stock are owned in the followiamges:

» The shares of the company are listed on the steckamge

» The shareholding in the company has to be at l&#gtor more

* The investment is more than 1,502,530.26 EL

Foreign currency payments (i.e., dividends or pateeeds) have to be declared when the amounte&%@&0.12 Euros on form B



The information provided to the financial institutiis the following:
* The Optione’s name, address, and fiscal identification nun
* Non resider's name, address and fiscal identification num
* The amount of the payment, payment method, currefoyigin and value in euro
» The reasons for the payme

A payment is made by bank transfer the followinigimation should be provided to the financial ington when the amount exceeds 50,000
euros:

» Resident name, address and fiscal identificationber.

* Non resident name, address and fiscal identificatiomber

* The amount, currency of origin and value of paymemuros
* The reason for the payme

Sweden
No country specific terms and conditions ap

United Kingdom
Withholding

The paragraphs below replace Section 8 (Withho)difidexhibit A to the Option Agreement:

Regardless of any action the Company or the Optisremployer (the “Employer”) takes with respecaty or all income tax, primary and
secondary Class 1 National Insurance contributipagtoll tax or other tax-related withholding ditrtable to or payable in connection with or
pursuant to the grant, vesting, exercise, releasssignment of any Option (“Tax-Related Itemdig Optionee acknowledges that the ultimate
liability for all Tax-Related Items legally due liye Optionee is and remains the Optionee’s respiibgi Furthermore, the Company and/or
the Employer (i) make no representations or unieg regarding the treatment of any Tax-Relateth# in connection with any aspect of the
Option, including the grant, vesting or exercisehaf Options, the subsequent sale of any sha@smimon Stock acquired at exercise and the
receipt of any dividends; and (ii) do not commistaucture the terms of the grant or any aspetit@Option to reduce or eliminate the
Optionee’s liability for Tax-Related Iltems.

As a condition of any Options becoming exercisaid the issuance of shares of Common Stock upacisgef the Options, the Company
and/or the Employer shall be entitled to withhatdl ahe Optionee agrees to pay, or make adequategements satisfactory to the Company
and/or the Employer to satisfy, all obligationgtod Company and/or the Employer to account to HMaReae & Customs (“HMRC”) for any
Tax-Related Items by the Due Date, which is 90 daysuch other period as required under U.K. kfter the event giving rise to the Tax-
Related Items (the “Chargeable Event”). In thisarelg except as provided in the next sentence, gagiment shall be made by means of the
Company withholding and/or reacquiring a numbestares of Common Stock issued upon exercise dtions having a Fair Market Value
equal to the amount of Tax-Related Items that tbe@any determines it or the Employer is requireddoount to HMRC under applicable tax
laws with respect to the Options (with such obligatetermined based on any applicable minimunugiat withholding rates). In the event
that the Company cannot (under applicable leggllegory, listing or other requirements, or othessyisatisfy such obligation in such method,
the Company may satisfy its entitlement to withhatdier this Option Agreement by either or a comtogmaof the following methods: (i) by
requiring the Optionee to pay such amount in castheck; and/or (ii) by deducting such amount dwdrgy other compensation otherwise
payable to the Optionee. For these purposes, thé/laaket Value of the shares of Common Stock tateheld or repurchased, as applicable,
shall be determined on the date that-Related Items are to be determin



The Optionee shall pay to the Company or the Engslayy amount of Tax-Related Items that the Compairiie Employer may be required

to account to HMRC with respect to the ChargeabenEthat cannot be satisfied by the means preljialescribed. If payment or withholding
is not made by the Due Date, the Optionee agreedith amount of any uncollected Tax-Related Itshal (assuming the Optionee is not a
director or executive officer of the Company (withhe meaning of Section 13(k) of the U.S. Seasitind Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended)), constitute a loan owed by the Optionglke Employer, effective on the Due Date. The @pte agrees that the loan will bear
interest at the then-current HMRC Official Rate @ndill be immediately due and repayable, and@wnpany and/or the Employer may
recover it at any time thereafter by any of the nse@ferred to above. If any of the foregoing mdthof collection are not allowed under
Applicable Laws or if the Optionee fails to complith the Optionee’s obligations in connection witle Tax-Related Items as described in this
section, the Company may refuse to deliver theeshaf Common Stock acquired under the Plan.

Joint Election

As a condition to exercising the Options, the Opti® agrees to accept any liability for secondaas€IlL National Insurance contributions (the
“Employer’s Liability”) which may be payable by the Company and/or the Byaplin connection with the Options and any evéwing rise tc
Tax-Related Items. To accomplish the foregoing Qiptionee agrees to execute a joint election wigh@ompany (the “Election”), the form of
such Election being formally approved by HMRC, amg other consent or elections required to accahphie transfer of the Employer’s
Liability to the Optionee. The Optionee further @gg to execute such other joint elections as magdidred between the Optionee and any
successor to the Company and/or the Employerelptionee does not enter into the Election wherQptionee accepts the Option
Agreement or when otherwise requested by the Coynaad/or Employer, or if the Election is revokedaay time by HMRC, the Optionee

will not be entitled to exercise the Option unléss Optionee agree to pay an amount equal to thedyer’s Liability to the Company, the
Employer and/or any Related Company. The Optiongldr agrees that the Company and/or the Emploggrcollect the Employer’'s

Liability by any of the means set forth in the Withding section of the Option Agreement.
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Pegasystems Inc

ID: 04-2787865

101 Main Stree
Cambridge, MA 0214.

Pegasystems Inc.

Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement

FIRST_NAME_MIDDLE_NAME_

LAST_NAME_ Award Number:

ADDRESS Plan:

CITY _ , STATE COUNTRY ZIPCODE ID:

Effective (“Grant Date"), you (the “Recipient”) have beenmged an award of restricted stock units pursuant to the Pegasys

Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).
The current total value of the award is .

The awards will vest 20% on the first anniversdrthe Grant Date and the balance of 80% will vesté equal quarterly installments between
the first and fifth anniversaries of the Grant Date

The undersigned Recipient agrees to all of thegerhthe Plan and all those set forth on Exhibitsn8l B attached hereto and incorporated
herein by reference (the “Award Agreement”).

By your signature and the Company’s signature beymwu and the Company agree that this award igggdaimder and governed by the terms
and conditions of the Plan as amended and the Agrdement, all of which are attached and maderiagpshis document.

Pegasystems In

A

Alan Trefler, Chairman an
Chief Executive Office

FIRST_NAME MIDDLE_NAME
LAST_NAME



Exhibit A
To Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement forNon-U.S. Employees

1. Conversion of Restricted Stock Units to Common &toEach restricted stock unit (“RSU”) granted in thetide of Grant of Award and
Award Agreement for Non-U.S. Employees (of whicts tBxhibit A is a part) (the “Award Agreement”) represents fgatrof the person
receiving such grant (the “Recipient”) to receiveeshare of the common stock (“Common Stock”) afd3gstems Inc. (the “Company”)
subject to the vesting requirements listed in thad Agreement and to the other terms and conditafrihis Award Agreement. On each
vesting date listed in the Award Agreement, the Gany will issue such number of shares of CommogkSas are equal to the applicable
number of RSUs vesting on such date, less such euaitshares of Common Stock as are required toithdield to satisfy Recipient’s tax
withholding obligations.

2. Vesting. RSUs will vest on the dates listed in the Award @gnent if the Recipient remains in the active emplent of the Company in
good standing from the date of grant through th@iegble vesting date. RSUs will cease to vest inliately upon the cessation of Recipient’s
active employment with the Company, for any reason.

3. Recipients Agreement The Recipient agrees to all the terms stated irithard Agreement (of which this Exhibit is a pad$, well as to tr
terms of the Plan (which shall control in caseaiftict with the Award Agreement), a copy of whiishattached and of which the Recipient
acknowledges receipt.

4. Withholding . Regardless of any action the Company and/or thépRRat's employer (the “Employer'take with respect to any or all incol
tax (including U.S. federal, state and local tad/annon-U.S. tax), social insurance, payroll f@xyment on account or other tax-related
withholding (“Tax-Related Items”), the Recipienkaowledges that the ultimate liability for all T&elated Items legally due by the Recipient
is and remains the Recipient’s responsibility drat the Company and/or the Employer (i) make noesgmtations or undertakings regarding
the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in conneatitth any aspect of the Award, including the grainthe RSUs, the vesting of the RSUs,
the delivery of shares of Common Stock, the subseigsale of any shares of Common Stock acquirgdsting and the receipt of any
dividends or dividend equivalents; and (ii) do nommit to structure the terms of the grant or aspeat of the Award to reduce or eliminate
Recipient’s liability for Tax-Related Items.

Prior to the relevant taxable event, the Recipstatl pay or make arrangements satisfactory t&Ctirapany and/or the Employer to
satisfy all withholding and payment on account gdnfions of the Company and/or the Employer. Intégard, the Recipient authorizes the
Company and/or the Employer to withhold all apfieaTax-Related Items legally payable by the Recipfrom any wages or other cash
compensation paid to the Recipient by the Compawaycat the Employer. Alternatively, or in additiaghpermissible under local law, the
Recipient authorizes the Company and/or the EmpJ@téts discretion and pursuant to such procedaseit may specify from time to time, to
satisfy the obligations with regard to all Tax-Rethltems legally payable by the Recipient by ona combination of the following:

(i) withholding otherwise deliverable shares of Goan Stock, provided that the Company only withhdldsamount of shares of Common
Stock necessary to satisfy the minimum withholdangpunt; (ii) arranging for the sale of shares ofm@wn Stock otherwise deliverable to the
Recipient (on the Recipient’s behalf and at theilent’s direction pursuant to this authorizatioo);(iii) withholding from the proceeds of the
sale of shares of Common Stock acquired upon \gsfithe Award. If the obligation for Tax-Relatddrs is satisfied by withholding a
number of shares of Common Stock as describedheha Recipient is deemed to have been issuefditheumber of shares of Common
Stock subject to the Award, notwithstanding thatienber of the shares of Common Stock are held balely for the purpose of paying the
Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspatiecAward. The Recipient shall pay to the Compamy/@r the Employer any amount of Tax-
Related Items that the Company and/or the Emploaar be required to withhold as a result of the Rieat’s participation in the Plan that
cannot be satisfied by the means previously desdribhe Company may refuse to deliver to the Rentpny shares of Common Stock
pursuant to the Award if the Recipient fails to gynwith the Recipient’s obligations in connectiaith the Tax-Related Items as described in
this section



5. Rights as ShareholdersThe Recipient shall have no rights as a shareholidére Company with respect to any of the RSU4 thre
issuance of shares of Common Stock at the timesting, and then only with respect to those shair€ommon Stock issued.

6. Non-Transferability . The Award may not be transferred in any mannerrdtien by will or by the laws of descent and digition. The
terms of the Award shall be binding upon the exaxtadministrators, heirs and successors of tiogpRat.

7. Compliance with Securities, Tax and Other Lawo shares of Common Stock may be issued if theaisseiof shares would constitute a
violation of any applicable federal or state se@silaw or any other law or valid regulation. Asandition to issuance of Common Stock, the
Company may require the Recipient, or any personigag the right to receive the Common Stock, takenany representation or warranty
the Company deems to be necessary under any dpplgecurities, tax, or other law or regulation.

8. Adjustments upon Changes in Capitalizatiorn the event of any change in the shares subjetiet®lan or to any Award granted under the
Plan by reason of a merger, consolidation, reomggioin, recapitalization, stock dividend, stockitsgbmbination or exchange of shares, or
other change in the structure of the Company, tlebrer of RSUs and the number of shares of CommackSthall be appropriately adjusted
by the Company and such adjustment shall be firiatling and conclusive.

9. No Right to Employment The granting of the Award does not confer uponRkeipient the right to continue in the servicetef Company,
or affect in any way the right and power of the @amy to terminate the service of the Recipienhgttane with or without assigning a reason
therefor, to the same extent as the Company mie done if the Award had not been granted.

10.No Guarantee The Company offers no guarantee or assurancel@&@dampany’s stock has any value at the time efghant or will have
any value or liquidity at any future time.

11. Acknowledgment of Nature of Plan and Awardn accepting the Award, the Recipient acknowledbeas:

(a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Camp it is discretionary in nature, and it may bedified, amended, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time, unless wilserprovided in the Plan and this Award Agreement;

(b) the Award is voluntary and occasional and dugscreate any contractual or other right to reediiture awards of RSUs, or benefits
in lieu of RSUs, even if RSUs have been awardedatgally in the pas



(c) all decisions with respect to future awardsny, will be at the sole discretion of the Company
(d) the Recipient’s participation in the Plan idurdgary;

(e) the Award is an extraordinary item that doescomistitute compensation for services of any kambered to the Company or any
Related Company, and which is outside the scopleeo$ervice contract, if any;

(f) the Award is not part of normal or expected pemsation or salary for any purposes, including,nodg limited to, calculation of any
severance, resignation, termination, redundanay péservice payments, bonuses, long-service awpedssion or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments and in no event shbeldonsidered as compensation for, or relatiraninway to, past services for the Company
or any Related Company;

(9) in the event that the Recipient is not an Emgdoof the Company or any Related Company, the Awad the Recipient’s
participation in the Plan will not be interpretedform an employment or service contract or retegiop with the Company or any Related
Company;

(h) the future value of the underlying shares ofm@wn Stock is unknown and cannot be predicted arthcertainty;

(i) in consideration of the Award, no claim or ¢letinent to compensation or damages shall arise feomination of the Award or from
any diminution in value of the Award or shares oh@non Stock acquired upon vesting of the AwardItesufrom termination of the
Recipient’s service by the Company or any Relatech@any (for any reason whatsoever and whethertinraeach of local labor laws) and
the Recipient irrevocably releases the CompanyaaydRelated Company from any such claim that meseaif, notwithstanding the
foregoing, any such claim is found by a court ahpetent jurisdiction to have arisen, then, by signthe Award Agreement, the Recipient
shall be deemed irrevocably to have waived the fiRei’'s entitliement to pursue such claim;

() in the event of termination of the Recipierg&rvice (whether or not in breach of local labevdy the Recipient’s right to receive an
Award and vest in the Award under the Plan, if amiyl,terminate effective as of the date that thecRient is no longer actively employed and
will not be extended by any notice period mandateder local law €.g., active employment would not include a period géirden leave” or
similar period pursuant to local law); the Admingdor shall have the exclusive discretion to deteemvhen the Recipient is no longer actively
employed for purposes of the Award,;

(k) the Company is not providing any tax, legafinancial advice, nor is the Company making anynemendations regarding the
Recipient’s participation in the Plan or the Reeiyiis acquisition or sale of the underlying share€ommon Stock; and

() the Recipient is hereby advised to consult i Recipient’s personal tax, legal and finanadlisors regarding the Recipient’s
participation in the Plan before taking any actielated to the Plat



12.Data Privacy Notice and ConseniThe Recipient hereby explicitly and unambiguouslgnsents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of the Recipient’s persaindata as described in this Award Agreement ang/ather RSU grant materials by and
among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company &sdsubsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of ireplenting, administering and
managing the Recipient’s participation in the Plan.

The Recipient understands that the Company and Braployer may hold certain personal information abbthe Recipient, including,
but not limited to, the Recipient’s name, home adds and telephone number, date of birth, socialurence number or other identification
number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares stock or directorships held in the Company, diétaf all RSUs or any other entitlement
shares of stock awarded, canceled, vested, unvesteditstanding in the Recipier's favor, for the exclusive purpose of implementing
administering and managing the Plan (“Data”).

The Recipient understands that Data will be transfed to a third party stock plan service provider@s may be selected by the
Company, which is assisting the Company with theplementation, administration and management of tRéan. The Recipient understanc
the recipients of the Data may be located in theclpéent’s country, in the United States or elsewkerand that the data recipients’ country
may have different data privacy laws and protectoiman the Recipient’s country. The Recipient und&ands that the Recipient may request
a list with the names and addresses of any potdmgaipients of the Data by contacting the Reciptanlocal human resources
representative. The Recipient authorizes the Comypand any other possible recipients which may asie Company (presently or in the
future) with implementing, administering and managg the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain aadgfer the Data, in electronic or othe
form, for the sole purpose of implementing, admitésing and managing the Recipie’s participation in the Plan. The Recipient
understands that Data will be held only as longiasecessary to implement, administer and manage Recipient’s participation in the
Plan. The Recipient understands that the Recipiemty, at any time, view Data, request additionalanmhation about the storage an
processing of Data, require any necessary amendragatData or refuse or withdraw the consents hergimany case without cost, k
contacting in writing the Recipient’s local humaresources representative. The Recipient understahasyever, that refusing or
withdrawing the Recipient’'s consent may affect tRecipient’s ability to participate in the Plan. Fanore information on the consequences
of the Recipient’s refusal to consent or withdrawal consent, the Recipient understands that the iR@mnt may contact the Recipient’s local
human resources representative.

13. Amendment and Termination of AwardThe Company may not, without the consent of thepgient, alter or impair any Award granted
under the Plan. The Award shall be considered teatad in whole or in part, to the extent that,dnadance with the provisions of the Plan,
the Recipient no longer has the right to receivaetiof Common Stock under the Plan.

14.Language. If the Recipient has received this Award Agreetmerany other document related to the Plan tréedlento a language other
than English and if the translated version is défe from the English version, the English versigh control.

15. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decidédiver any documents related to the Award or eitawards made
under the Plan by electronic means or requesthieaRecipient consent to participate in the Plaelbgtronic means. The Recipient hereby
consents to receive such documents by electrotiiedg and agrees to participate in the Plan thhoag on-line or electronic system
established and maintained by the Company or d ffarty designated by the Compa




16. Governing Law and VenueThe Award Agreement shall be governed by and inéegd in accordance with the laws of The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without regard yoegplicable conflicts of law provisions thereof.

For purposes of litigating any dispute that aridiesctly or indirectly from the relationship of tiparties evidenced by this Award or this
Award Agreement, the parties hereby submit to arent to the exclusive jurisdiction of The Commeaith of Massachusetts and agree that
such litigation shall be conducted only in the ¢swf Middlesex County, Massachusetts, or the fedmyurts for the United States for the
district of Massachusetts, and no other courts revttés Award of RSUs is made and/or to be perfarme

17. Severability. In the event any one or more of the provisionhefAward Agreement shall for any reason be helktmvalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of the Alvagreement shall be unimpaired, and the invalielgal or unenforceable provision shall
be replaced by a mutually acceptable provisionctviieing valid, legal and enforceable, comes ctdsetbe intention of the parties underlying
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision.

18. Definitions . All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwlistned shall have the meanings assigned to suntstin the Plan.

19. Exhibit B . Notwithstanding any provision herein, the Reaipie participation in the Plan shall be subjecaty special terms and
conditions as set forth in Exhibit B for the Reeip’s country of residence, if any. The Exhibit B catases part of this Award Agreemel



Exhibit B
To Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement forNon-U.S. Employees

This Exhibit B includes additional terms and coiatis that govern the RSUs granted to the Recifi¢hé Recipient resides in the countries
contained herein. Capitalized terms used but niimeld herein shall have the meanings ascribedeamtim the Notice of Grant of Award and
Award Agreement for Non-U.S. Employees ( of whiklstExhibit B is a par} or the Plan.

This Exhibit B also includes information regardiegchange controls and certain other issues of whietiRecipient should be aware with
respect to the Recipient’s participation in thenPlBhe information is based on the securities, arglk control and other laws in effect in the
respective countries as of December 2009. Suchdagveften complex and change frequently. As atiebie Company strongly recommends
that the Recipient not rely on the information rnbberein as the only source of information relatmghe consequences of the Recipient’s
participation in the Plan because the informatiayne out of date at the time the Recipient acqushares of Common Stock or sells shart
Common Stock the Recipient acquires under the Plan.

In addition, the information is general in naturelanay not apply to the Recipient’s particular aiion, and the Company is not in a position to
assure the Recipient of any particular resdicordingly, the Recipient is strongly advised toeek appropriate professional advice as to
how the relevant laws in the Recipient’s country aply to the Recipient’s specific situation.

If the Recipient is a citizen or resident of anotbeuntry, or is considered a resident of anotheurmtry for local law purposes, the informati
contained in this Exhibit B may not be applicatliethte Recipient.

Australia
Withholding
This provision supplements Section 8 (Withholding):

Prior to the relevant taxable event, the Recipightprovide the Company with their Australian T&e Number (TFN) or Australian Business
Number (ABN). Failure to do so will result in thequirement for the Company to withhold Australiar &t the rate of 46.59

Reform to the taxation of Employee share sche

With effect from 1 July 2009, RSUs shall be taxpdmont, unless there is a “real risk of forfeitur@/here there is a “real risk of forfeiture,”
RSUs shall generally be taxed at the earliest of:

» Vesting of the award (when it is no longer subjedorfeiture)
» Cessation of employme
e 7 years after grar

Canada
Vesting of RSUs
Income tax arises on the fair market value of theras on vesting. No deferral election is posdimdrRSUSs.



For further clarity, any shares issued of the Comi&tock of the Company under an RSU shall be issakdy in the name of the Recipient
and not in the name of any other person, includipgrson with whom the Recipient is dealing at aon*s length.

The Recipient shall receive shares of the CommonokStf the Company and under no circumstances stedministrator elect to have the
Recipient receive cash (or any other security)dn bf the Common Stock of the Company. To this@ffsection 13(e) of the Plan (and any
other similar section) do not apply in Canada.

Furthermore, at all times the Recipient should heds than 10% of the shares of the Common Stotkeo€ompany or any Related Company.

Withholding
The paragraphs below replace Section 4 of Exhilitt fhe Award Agreement:

Generally, there are Canadian requirements to withbource deductions on the vesting of RSUs. AighoRSU benefits are considered to be
remuneration subject to source deductions, Carem®nizes that requiring additional withholdingnfreéash payments, such as normal salary,
as a result of a stock benefit can create hardshifhe employee. This hardship will be created mvbigher the benefit is very large in
proportion to the employee’s normal salary or thar vests later in the year. As a result, employesty make withholdings from employees’
cash remuneration to the extent possible, withopbising actual hardship. Where the rmash benefit is the only form of income receivesir
that employer, the employer will not be requireavithhold tax on the amount of such benefits.

RSU benefits are also subject to social securitgdan Canada. These benefits are subject to CdPasion Plan withholdings but not
Employment Insurance withholdings. The provinc®otario will also levy payroll taxes to fund ther@alian health service.

The employment benefit will be reported on the Riegit T4 for the year in which the RSUs vest. TleeiRient must report these amounts on
his or her individual income tax return for the sayear.

Acknowledgement of nature of pl
The paragraphs below replace Section 11 of ExAiltit the Award Agreement [new or amended paragraphishown in italics at g and i:

In accepting the RSU Award, the Recipient acknogésdthat:

(&) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Compdtnig, discretionary in nature, and it may be mmif amended, suspended or termin
by the Company at any time, unless otherwise pealid the Plan and this Agreeme

(b) the Award is voluntary and occasional and dusscreate any contractual or other right to reedidure grants of RSU Awards, or
benefits in lieu of RSUs, even if RSUs have beemtgd repeatedly in the pa

(c) all decisions with respect to future RSUs, if amill be at the sole discretion of the Compa
(d) the Recipier’'s participation in the Plan is voluntal



()
(f)

(9)

(h)

0

(k)

()
(m)

the Award is an extraordinary item that doetsaomstitute compensation for services of any kemtlered to the Company or any Related
Company, and which is outside the scope of the eynpént contract, if any

the Award is not part of normal or expected pamsation or salary for any purposes, including,not limited to, calculation of any
severance, resignation, termination, redundanay péservice payments, bonuses, long-service awpgdssion or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments and in no event shbeldonsidered as compensation for, or relatirapinway to, past services for the
Company or any Related Compa

the Company has decided to grant Awards urtdePlan to individuals who are Employees of the @amy or any Related Company;
and under no circumstances, the Employee shoutbsidered a Consultant or a “non-employee Offi@enon-employee Director” of
the Company or any Related Compa

the future value of the underlying shares of Comitatk is unknown and cannot be predicted with@rjainty;
at all times the Recipient should hold less thato 18 the shares of the Common Stock of the Commaanyy Related Compan

in consideration of the Award, no claim or entiteamhto compensation or damages shall arise fromination of the Award or from ar
diminution in value of the Award or shares of Comm&iock acquired resulting from termination of Becipient’s service by the
Company or any Related Company (for any reasonsebaer and whether or not in breach of local ld&was) and the Recipient
irrevocable releases the Company and any Relatath&@ay from any such claim that may arise; if, nthatanding the foregoing, any
such claim is found by a court of competent juitidn to have arisen, then, by signing the Awarde&gnent, the Recipient shall be
deemed irrevocably to have waived the Reci|'s entitlement to pursue such clai

in the event of termination of the Recipi’s Service (whether or not in breach of local ldbers), the Recipie’s right to receive a
Award and vest in the Award under the Plan, if amiyl, terminate effective as of the date that theciRient is no longer actively employ
and will not be extended by any notice period méelander local law (e.g., active employment wawdtlinclude a period of “garden
leave” or similar period pursuant to local law)e thdministrator shall have the exclusive discretmdetermine when the Recipient is no
longer actively employed for purposes of the Awi

the Company is not providing any tax, legafioancial advice, nor is the Company making anynemendations regarding the
Recipien’s participation in the Plan or the Recip’s acquisition or sale of the underlying shares@h@on Stock; an

the Recipient is hereby advised to consult witkir personal tax, legal and financial advisegarding the employee’s participation in the
Plan before taking any action related to the F

Germany
Exchange Control Informatio

Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 mustdmeted monthly to the German Federal Bank. IfReeipient uses a German bank to
transfer a cross-border payment in excess of €04rb6onnection with the sale of shares of CommimeiSacquired under the Plan, the bank
will make the report for the Recipient. In additidhe Recipient must report any receivables or biggaor debts in foreign currency exceeding
€5,000,000 on a monthly bas



Hong Kong
Obligation to report the RSUs to the tax authority

The Recipient is obliged to declare the gains zedlin relation to RSUs to the Hong Kong Inland &®ie Department (“IRD”) in their
Individual Tax Return for the relevant year of @asseent. If the Recipient is eligible to lodge afffglmore non-taxable claim on RSU gains, the
Recipient is required to lodge such claim in thedividual Tax Return. Therefore, it is the Recigie responsibility to prove to the satisfaction
of the IRD on their non-taxable claim lodged withcdmentary evidence in support.

The IRD has issued the revised Departmental Indésipon and Practice Note (“DIPN”) No. 38 regardihg employee share-based benefits in
March 2008 which has expressed the IRD’s view ertitihhing and taxability of the share award benefitss sets a general guideline for
taxpayers in ascertaining the tax treatment of thigére award benefits. DIPN is not legally bindamgl not a rule of law and the revised DIPN
No. 38 may not cover every type of share award fitefarticipants should take individual tax advaretheir share award benefi

Reporting requiremer

Upon the commencement of Hong Kong employment/assggt of the Recipient, the employer (the “Empl8yer obliged to file the
Commencement Notice (Form IR 56E) for reportingtdren of employment and RSU details to the IRD with months from the date of
commencement of employment. Annual Employer’'s Ref(korm IR 56B) is required to be filed to the IR end of April to report the
remuneration paid/accrued to the Recipient, inclgdhe RSU gains, for each year ended 31 Marchhé&uto the filing of the said Forms, the
IRD will normally create a tax file for the Recipieand issue the annual Individual Tax Return ®Recipient (usually in May) to ascertain
their tax position. If there is no Individual Taxe®Rrn issued by the IRD to the Recipient for rejpgrthe RSU gain in the year of award or of
vesting, as appropriate, the Recipient is obligedaiuntarily inform the IRD on this tax chargedtyilarising from the exercise as well as other
Hong Kong taxable employment income within four risnafter the end of the basis period during whiighyear of assessment is concerned
(i.e. the informing deadline is 31 July given tiecél year ends on 31 March).

Leaving Hong Koni

If the RSU benefit is taxable in Hong Kong eveit i§ received aftethe Recipient permanently departs from Hong Kohg,Employer should
report the RSU gains by filing the Departure No(Eerm IR 56G) and provide a copy for the Recipidifite Recipient also needs to discharge
their voluntary informing chargeability obligati@s mentioned above not later than 4 months aféeertial of the year of assessment in which
the RSU gains are derived. Even if the Employds fai submit the Departure Notice to report theakde RSU gain, the Recipient still needs to
comply with his or her own reporting obligation.

Withholding
The paragraphs below supplement Section 4 (Withihg)cbf Exhibit A to the RSU Award Agreement.

The Employer is not required to withhold the Reeitis share gains unless the Recipient permandapgrts from Hong Kong. The Employer
is statutorily required to withhold money paymenainfi the Recipient for a period of one month afier Departure Notification (Form IR 56G)
was filed to the IRD, unless consent (by the igsfue Letter of Release to the employer with a capthe Recipient after they have settled all
their tax liabilities) is given by the IRD. If tHeecipient derives share gains and there is monieytpahem by the Employer, the Employer has
the withholding obligation



To facilitate finalizing the salaryelated tax liabilities prior to permanent depagtihe Recipient is allowed, as a concessiongat & have th
tax liabilities finalized on the basis of a deenvedting of the share awards. The Recipient may &ddoe assessed on either (i) the deemed
value on a day within 7 days before the submisefdhe Recipiens tax return for the final year of assessment iicivthe Recipient departs
(i) the deemed value on the date of departuresifalection is made within 3 months from the ddteesmanent departure from Hong Kong.

Once an election is accepted by the IRD and thesasgent is made accordingly, the election cannetitelrawn. A subsequent request to
revise the assessment will not be entertained sitfesassessment is objected to within the stattitoe allowed for objection.

If the actual share award gain is higher than theunt assessed under deemed vesting, the IRD tiaated in DIPN No. 38 that it will not
seek to increase the assessment for the sole rdaddhe value upon vesting has increased.

India

No country specific terms and conditions ap

Ireland
Restriction on Types of Shares Issued to Direc

If the Recipient is a director or shadow directbao Irish Subsidiary, the Recipient's RSUs williesd in newly issued shares of Common
Stock only. In no event will the RSUs be settledr@asury shares.

Director Notification Requiremetr

If the Recipient is a director, shadow directosecretary of an Irish Subsidiary, the Recipienttnmasify the Irish Subsidiary in writing within
five business days of receiving or disposing ofre@rest in the Companye(g., RSUs, shares of Common Stock, etc.), or withvia business
days of becoming aware of the event giving risth&onotification requirement, or within five bussésedays of becoming a director or secretary
if such an interest exists at the time. This negifion requirement also applies with respect tanterests of a spouse or minor children (whose
interests will be attributed to the director, shadbrector or secretary).

Netherlands

By participating in the Plan the Recipient acknaiges that his or her Award can cease to vest amirtation of employment under the term:
the Plan. It is a condition of participation in thkn that the Recipient agrees to these te



Poland
Securities reporting

If the Recipient holds more thad & 000 of foreign securities (including followiniget grant of Awards) the Recipient must declareildeté the
shares (whether or not the shares have vestelg tddtional Bank of Poland. The form of declaratioust be submitted within 30 days of the
end of the year.

Singapore
Leaving Singapor

With effect from January 1, 2003, Recipients whe fareign citizens or are Singapore Permanenteassdeaving Singapore permanently are
taxed on a “deemed exercise” basis for any optiwnsits or shares granted or issued during Singapmployment. This would also include
any unvested or restricted options or units orehgranted whilst exercising employment in Singapor

As per the deemed exercise rule, all Awards, uoitstock which have been granted during Singaporgloyment are deemed to have been
exercised, irrespective whether the Awards haveedasr not. The taxable value is the fair markda@gwhich would be the fair market value
one month prior to the date of departure).

Director withholding

Independent Directors who are Non Resident in fingaand have received Awards by virtue of theindgp@n the Board of the Singapore
Company will be subject to tax in Singapore anblégor tax withholding.

Spain
This provision supplements Section 11 (Acknowledginué Nature of Plan and Award) of Exhibit A to tAgvard Agreement:

In accepting the RSUs, the Recipient consents ticfgation in the Plan and acknowledges that teeifient has received a copy of the Plan.

The Recipient understands that the Company haatarally, gratuitously and discretionally decidedytant RSUs under the Plan to individt
who may be employees of the Company or its Sulrgdighroughout the world. The decision is a limitkecision that is entered into upon the
express assumption and condition that any grahthwilbind the Company or any Related Company. Egunently, the Recipient understands
that the RSUs are granted on the assumption arditmmthat the RSUs and any shares of Common Stogkired upon vesting of the RSUs
are not a part of any employment contract (eithién the Company or any Related Company) and stotlba considered a mandatory benefit,
salary for any purposes (including severance cosgt@n) or any other right whatsoever. Further,Reeipient understands that the Recipient
will not be entitled to continue vesting in any RSahce the Recipient's employment with the Compamgny Related Company ceases. In
addition, the Recipient understands that this gnamtld not be made to the Recipient but for theiagstions and conditions referred to above;
thus, the Recipient acknowledges and freely acdbptsshould any or all of the assumptions be rkétar should any of the conditions not be
met for any reason, then any grant of or righttoRSUs shall be null and void.

Exchange Control Informatio

The Recipient must declare the acquisition of shafeCommon Stock to the Direccion General de Rali€omercial e Inversiones Exteriores
(the DGPCIE) of the Ministerio de Economia for istétal purposes



As the shares are listed on a stock exchange thesition will be filled in a form D-5B. The form Wbe declared to the Registro de
Inversiones of the Direccion General de Politican€cxial e Inversiones Exteriores of the Ministetélndustria, Turismo y Comercio.

The Recipient must also declare ownership of amayeshof Common Stock with the Directorate of Faréigansactions each January whilst
shares of Common Stock are owned in the followimges:

. The shares of the company are listed on the stecamge

. The shareholding in the company has to be at lg#gtor more

. The investment is more than 1,502,530.26 EL

Foreign currency payments (i.e., dividends or pateeeds) have to be declared when the amountéx&@10.12 Euros on form B3.

The information provided to the financial institutiis the following:

. The Recipier's name, address, and fiscal identification nun

. Non resider’'s name, address and fiscal identification num

. The amount of the payment, payment method, currehoyigin and value in euro
. The reasons for the payme

A payment is made by bank transfer the followinigimation should be provided to the financial ington when the amount exceeds 50,000
Euros:

. Resident name, address and fiscal identificatianlyer.

. Non resident name, address and fiscal identifioatiomber

. The amount, currency of origin and value of payniemuros

. The reason for the payme

Sweden
No country specific terms and conditions apj

United Kingdom
RSUs Payable Only in Shares of Common £

Notwithstanding any discretion in the Plan or amghto the contrary in the Award Agreement, if fRecipient is resident and ordinar
resident in the United Kingdom, the grant of RSldeginot provide any right for the Recipient to reee cash payment and the RSUs are
payable in shares of Common Stock only.

Withholding
The paragraphs below replace Section 4 (Withho)difidexhibit A to the Award Agreement:

Regardless of any action the Company or the Retigiemployer (the “Employer”) takes with respextiny or all income tax, primary and
secondary Class 1 National Insurance contributipagroll tax or other tax-related withholding ditriable to or payable in connection with or
pursuant to the grant, vesting, release or assighofeny RSUs subject to the Award (“Tax-Relatieans”), the Recipient acknowledges that
the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Itemgl@ly due by the Recipient is and remains the Rewtfs responsibility. Furthermore, the
Company and/or the Employer (i) make no represiemsbr undertakings regarding the treatment of BewrRelated Items in connection with
any aspect of the RSUs, including the grant ofRB&Js, the vesting of the RSUs, the delivery of ebaf Common Stock, the subsequent sale
of any shares of Common Stock acquired under the &hd the receipt of any dividends or dividendegents; and (ii) do not commit to
structure the terms of the grant or any aspedi®RSUs to reduce or eliminate the Reciy's liability to Ta>-Related Items



As a condition of any RSUs subject to the Awardingsand the issuance of shares of Common Stopkyment of the RSUs, the Company
and/or the Employer shall be entitled to withh@ldd the Recipient agrees to pay, or make adequategements satisfactory to the Company
and/or the Employer to satisfy, all obligationgtod Company and/or the Employer to account to HMdRae & Customs (“HMRC”) for any
Tax-Related Items by the Due Date, which is 90 daysuch other period as required under U.K. kfter the event giving rise to the Tax-
Related Items (the “Chargeable Event”). In thisarelg except as provided in the next sentence, gagiment shall be made by means of the
Company withholding and/or reacquiring a numbestares of Common Stock issued in payment of (aratise issuable in payment of, as
case may be) the RSUs having a Fair Market Valualegg the amount of TaRelated Items that the Company determines it oEtheloyer is
required to account to HMRC under applicable tawslavith respect to the RSUs (with such withholditdigation determined based on any
applicable minimum statutory withholding rates)the event that the Company cannot (under appkdaiglal, regulatory, listing or other
requirements, or otherwise) satisfy such obligatiosuch method, the Company and/or the Companysatisfy its entitlement to withhold
under this Award Agreement by either or a comboratf the following methods: (i) by requiring the&tpient to pay such amount in cash or
check; and/or (ii) by deducting such amount owrof other compensation otherwise payable to thépRet. For these purposes, the Fair
Market Value of the shares of Common Stock to lahveld or repurchased, as applicable, shall beméted on the date that Tax-Related
Items are to be determined.

The Recipient shall pay to the Company or the Eggrlany amount of Tax-Related Items that the Compearthe Employer may be required
to account to HMRC with respect to the ChargeabienEthat cannot be satisfied by the means preljialescribed. If payment or withholding
is not made by the Due Date, the Recipient agtesigtie amount of any uncollected Tax-Related Itehadl (assuming the Recipient is not a
director or executive officer of the Company (witlthe meaning of Section 13(k) of the U.S. Seasitind Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended)), constitute a loan owed by the Recipgetite Employer, effective on the Due Date. Theiplent agrees that the loan will bear
interest at the then-current HMRC Official Rate #@ndill be immediately due and repayable, and@wenpany and/or the Employer may
recover it at any time thereafter by any of the nse@ferred to above. If any of the foregoing mdthof collection are not allowed under
Applicable Laws or if the Recipient fails to compijth the Recipient’s obligations in connectiontwihe Tax-Related Items as described in
this section, the Company may refuse to delivestilmes of Common Stock acquired under the Plan.

Joint Election

As a condition of the Recipient’s participationtire Plan and the vesting of the RSUs, the Recipigrees to accept any liability for secondary
Class 1 National Insurance contributions (the “Eogpt’s Liability”) which may be payable by the Company and/or the Byeplin connectio
with the RSUs and any event giving rise to Redated Items. To accomplish the foregoing, theifRet agrees to execute a joint election \
the Company (the “Election”), the form of such Hiex being formally approved by HMRC, and any otbensent or elections required to
accomplish the transfer of the Employer’s Liabilitythe Recipient. The Recipient further agreesxcute such other joint elections as may be
required between the Recipient and any successbetGompany and/or the Employer. If the Reciptods not enter into the Election when
the Recipient accepts the Award Agreement or whberwise requested by the Company and/or Emplayef the Election is revoked at any
time by HMRC, the RSUs will cease vesting and bezomll and void, and no shares of Common Stockheilacquired under the Plan, unless
the Recipient agrees to pay an amount equal t&itiggloyer’s Liability to the Company, the Employer#or any Related Company. The
Recipient further agrees that the Company and&®Etiployer may collect the Employer’s Liability byy of the means set forth in the
Withholding section of the Award Agreement.



Name of Subsidiary
Pegasystems Limite

Pegasystems Proprietary Limit
Pegasystems Worldwide Ir
Pegasystems Investment |i
Pegasystems Compa
Pegasystems Private Limit
Pegasystems Worldwide India Private Limi
Pegasystems Mauritit
Pegasystems Gmh
Pegasystems B.\
Pegasystems A.C
Pegasystems Sp.Zi
Pegasystems Spain, S

Pegasystems France, an S.A.F

SUBSIDIARIES OF PEGASYSTEMS INC.

State or Jurisdiction of Entity

England
Australia
Massachusett
Massachusett
Canad:
Singapore
India
Mauritius
Germany
Netherland:
Switzerlanc
Poland

Spain

France

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inifteggion Statement Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746, 83837, 333-104788, 33BL6660
and 333-135596 on Form S-8 of our reports dateduaep 22, 2010 relating to the financial statemefitBegasystems Inc. and the
effectiveness of Pegasystems Inc.’s internal cboirer financial reporting, appearing in this AnhRe&port on Form 10-K of Pegasystems Inc.
for the year ended December 31, 2009.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 22, 2010



Exhibit 31.1

[, Alan Trefler, certify that:
| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

1.
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

c)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’ s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 22, 2010

/s ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

I, Craig Dynes, certify that:
| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

1.
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

c)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’ s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 22, 2010

/s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), Alan Trefler, Chairmemd Chief Executive Officer of
Pegasystems Inc., and Craig Dynes, Chief Fina@ffader and Senior Vice President of Pegasysterns &ach certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@&dbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: February 22, 2010

/s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)

Dated: February 22, 20:



